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if you just sit stiH and never do anything bold or new

the world wiH pass you by 5eat by Chocb by Jim CoiFinc Morton Hansen

Certainly we are not just sitting still We know we have an elevated level of non-performing assets NPAs and we have been and still

are working on these As some are resolved others have moved in to take their place This process is slowing down and as the

economy improves we conclude the pace of resolution will pick-up At the same time we have to build new and different loan

portfolio one that is carefully underwritten consistent with the new economy in which we now operate We see the new portfolio as

well diversified with an emphasis of small business lending coming from the branch system significant increase in agricultural

lending and also an even more significant increase in our mortgage warehouse lending program and eventually other specialized

real estate lending as the economy improves

We have always had consumer loan

dimensionandthattoowillcontinue We do not believe that chaos uncertainty and instability
on This is the ongoing challenge and

wearewellpositionedtomeetit
are good companies leaders organizations and societies

was the diversity in our loan portfolio do not thrive on chaos But they can thrive in chaos
that enabled us to get through the

Great Recession these past years and Great by Choice by Jim Cotins Morton Hansen

its our intent to maintain that diversity

One aspect of our overall banking operation not often mentioned is that of the stability and diversity of our deposit base Our

deposits total over $1.1 billion and are domiciled in 25 brick and mortar branches and an Internet only branch Interestingly 52%

of deposits are in demand deposit accounts and interest-bearing transaction accounts 15% in savings and money market deposit

accounts 32% in customer CDs and 1% in wholesale funding Total deposit accounts are about 90000 accounts With this composi

tion of deposits our cost of funding is very low even with competitive rates and our numbers of accounts continue to grow We also

have growing market share in all four Counties where we are located In Tulare County where we are headquartered we are

virtually tied with Bank of America for market leader each of us having about 20% market share This would be one of the few

California Counties where an independent bank is in this position We expect to improve on this in the future

should comment on some historical events this past fiscal year In the First Quarter we opened our Selma Office in thriving

community south of Fresno We had perhaps the best opening ever in terms of new account openings and we continue to have

great expectations for this office Later in the year we completed the purchase of our Corporate Offices that we had been leasing for

20 years With this purchase the corporate office is well housed for now We are looking at nearby properties to build capacity for

expansion when needed Late in the year we launched Sierra Sentry new fee based product that helps streamline the identity theft

prevention and recovery process This product has had good initial reception and in time will provide good service for growing

number of customers and generate fee income also

We are well focused as we move into 2012 and we are bettered organized and staffed than ever before One unrecited benefit of the

economic collapse has been an astonishing availability of high quality and highly talented staff We have been able to add at all

levels of the bank many really good people and by doing so we have added real value to the Bank that does not show up directly in

the financial statements but in the longer run it will because the performance of the bank is driven so strongly by the Staff

Our financial performance for Year 2011 is all recited elsewhere in this Annual Report Going forward we are confident our overall

level of performance will improve and we believe we have taken and are taking on an almost daily basis the steps necessary to make

this happen Over 35 year time span now we have developed great history but as am fond of saying we have not yet realized

our full potential This next year of 2012 will be an important step towards that goal will look forward to reporting on quarterly

basis our progress

Victory awaits those who have everything in order

___________

luck people call it Defeat is certain for those who have

__________
neglected to take the necessary precautions in time

this is called bad luck
The South CoG by Road Amundsen

James Holly President CEO



Sierra Bancorp

Sierra Bancorp the Company headquartered in Porterville California is California

corporation registered as bank holding company Sierra Bancorps Common Stock

trades on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol BSRR The Company was

incorporated in November 2000 and acquired all of the outstanding shares of Bank of the

Sierra the Bank in August 2001 The Companys only consolidated subsidiary is the

Bank and the Company exists primarily for the purpose of holding the stock of the Bank

At December 312011 the Company had consolidated assets of $1 .335 billion gross loans

of $759 million deposits of $1 .086 billion and shareholders equity of $169 million The

Companys unconsolidated subsidiaries are Sierra Capital Trust Ill which was formed in

June 2006 solely to facilitate the issuance capital trust pass-through securities and Sierra

Statutory Trust II formed in March 2004 also for the purpose of issuing capital trust

pass-through securities References herein to the Company include Sierra Bancorp and

its consolidated subsidiary the Bank unless the context indicates otherwise

Bank of the Sierra

Bank of the Sierra is California state-chartered bank headquartered in Porterville

California The Bank was incorporated in September 1977 and opened for business in

January 1978 as one-branch bank with $1.5 million in capital and eleven employees

From this modest beginning we have grown to be the largest bank headquartered in the

South Valley Our growth has primarily been organic but includes the acquisition of Sierra

National Bank in 2000 We currently employ over 400 people and operate 25 full service

branch offices throughout our geographic footprint which is comprised primarily of

Tulare Kern Fresno and Kings Counties The Banks newestbrick and mortar branches

opened for business in Selma in February 2011 and Farmersville in March 2010 We

believe that we have ample organic growth opportunities within our current markets and

have generally adhered to the market density principle by opening new branches in

underserved areas within our current footprint

In addition to the full-service branch offices noted above the Bank has an agricultural

credit division and an SBA lending unit with staff located at our corporate headquarters

We also have ATMs at all branch locations and offsite ATMs at six different non-branch

locations Furthermore the Bank is member of the Alipoint network which provides our

customers with surcharge-free access to over 35000 AIMs across the nation and our

customers have access to electronic point-of-sale payment alternatives nationwide via the

Pulse EFT network To ensure that account access preferences are addressed for all of our

customers we operate an internet branch which provides the ability to open deposit

accounts and submit certain loan applications online offer an online banking option with

bill-pay and mobile banking capabilities maintain customer service center that is

accessible by toll-free telephone during business hours and provide an automated

telephone banking system with 24-7 access





From the Banks beginning we have attempted to maintain broad line of loan and deposit products and services that

appeal to wide variety of consumers and businesses The Banks lending activities include real estate commercial

including small business agricultural and consumer loans The bulk of our real estate loans are secured by commercial

or professional office properties which are predominantly owner-occupied

Our deposit products include checking accounts savings accounts money market demand accounts time deposits

retirement accounts and sweep accounts The Banks deposit accounts are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance

Corporation FDIC up to maximum insurable amounts We have also been in the CDARS network since its inception and

through CDARS are able to offer full FDIC insurance coverage to depositors with balances of up to $50 million We attract

deposits from throughout our market area with direct-mail campaigns customer-oriented product mix competitive

pricing convenient locations drive-through banking and multitude of alternative delivery channels and we strive to

retain our deposit customers by providing consistently high level of service At December31 2011 we had 90400

deposit accounts Based on June 30 2011 FDIC market share data for the combined counties within which we operate

namely Tulare Kern Fresno and Kings counties Bank of the Sierra has 5.2% of total deposits In Tulare County where the

Bank was originally formed we have the largest number of branch locations for any individual financial institution 12

including our online branch and rank second for deposit market share with 19.9% of total deposits

We offer multitude of other banking products and services to complement and support our lending and deposit

products including remote deposit capture and automated payroll services for business customers For customers with

non-deposit investment and wealth management needs we have strategic alliance with Investment Centers of

America Inc of Bismarck North Dakota ICA Through this arrangement registered and licensed representatives of ICA

provide our customers with convenient access to annuities insurance products mutual funds and full range of

investment products These representatives conduct business from offices located in our Porterville Visalia Tulare

Fresno Bakersfield and Tehachapi branches

In summary we are build-to-own rather than build-to-sell community bank that offers investors customers and

staff the confidence of continuity and long-term stability Low turnover among the Banks directors and officers has

contributed to depth of experience and solid foundation which serve as the underpinning for financial results that are

typically high-ranking relative to our California peers The Company has consistently appeared in U.S Banker magazines

periodic lists of the top-performing publicly-traded banks based on three-year average return on equity We were

number eight in California on theTop 200 Community BanksIist published in June 2011 and number three in California

and 20th in the Nation in 2010

Results of Operations

There are signs of improvement in the national economy and in certain regions of California but the economy in our

market areas remains under considerable stress In fact recessionary conditions have led to higher credit costs declining

loan balances and associated earnings pressures at the Company for the past four years Industry-wide regulatory

pressures on certain components of non-interest income have exacerbated the negative impact of economic conditions

on our financial performance The Company recognized net income of $7.780 million in 2011 relative to $7.363 million in

2010 representing the first year-over-year increase in net income since 2007 but still well below levels achieved in

pre-recession years Net income per diluted share was $0.55 for 2011 as compared to $0.60 in 2010 The Companys

return on average assets was 0.59% and return on average equity was 4.73% in 2011 as compared to 0.56% and 5.16%

respectively in 2010

The Company earns income from two primary sources The first is net interest income which is interest income gener

ated by earning assets less interest expense on interest-bearing liabilities The second is non-interest income which

primarily consists of customer service charges and fees but also comes from non-customer sources such as bank-owned

life insurance The majority of the Companys non-interest expense consists of operating costs that relate to providing

full range of banking services to our customers
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Financial Condition

The Companys assets totaled 1.335 billion at December 31 2011 relative to total assets of $1 .287 billion at December 31

2010 Total liabilities were $1167 billion at the end of 2011 compared to $1127 billion at the end of 2010 and we had

shareholdersequity totaling $169 million at December 31 2011 relative to $160 million at December 31 2010

Total assets increased by $49 million or 4% during 2011 Investment securities fed funds sold cash and balances due from

banks were up by combined $95 million or 25% but that growth was partly offset by drop of $42 million or 5% in net

loan balances Foreclosed assets were also reduced by net $5 million or 26% Runoff in the normal course of business

prepaymerits transfers to OREO and charge-offs have reduced loan balances in recent periods and weak loan demand from

quality borrowers and aggressive competition have hindered the Companys ability to counteract that contraction

Our allowance for loan and lease losses was $17.3 million as of December31 2011 which represents drop of $3.9 million

relative to the balance at December 31 2010 This contra-asset account is increased by the amount of the loan loss

provision and decreased by the amount of net loan charge-offs We experienced net charge-offs totaling 15.855 million in

2011 but sizeable portion of those charge-offs were against reserves that had been established in prior periods for

specifically-identified losses on certain impaired loans and did not necessarily lead to the need for reserve replenishment

via the loan loss provision Thus net charge-offs exceeded the $12.000 million provision for loan losses in 2011 and the

allowance declined Our allowance also fell to 2.28% of total loans at December31 2011 from 2.62% at December31 2010

Nonperforming assets ended 2011 with balance of $71 millionan increase of $5 million or 7% for the year but still well

below the peak balance of $80 million reported at September 30 2009 The balance of non-performing assets had been

trending down for most of 2011 but ultimately increased due to some large additions to non-accruing loans in the fourth

quarter The net increase for the year is comprised of $10 million increase in loans on non-accrual status partially offset by

$5 million reduction in foreclosed assets Nonperforming assets also increased as percentage of total loans plus OREO to

9.23% at December31 2011 from 8.07% at December31 2010

Total deposits increased by $34 million or 3% during 2011 and non-maturity deposits were up $57 million or 8% for the

year Non-maturity deposits increased due in part to aggressive deposit acquisition programs and an intensified focus on

business relationships Total deposits did not increase to the same extent as non-maturity deposits primarily because we

have not aggressively pursued the renewal of certain time deposits managed by ourTreasury Department

Total shareholders equity increased by $9 million or 6% during the year Our capital ratios continued their upward trend

during 2011 as well and as of December31 2011 our consolidated total risk-based capital ratio was 21.72% our Tier

risk-based capital ratio was 20.46% and ourTier leverage ratio was 14.11%

Member EDIC Equal Housing Lender

Complete Enancial informatron is contained in the Conrpanys Form to-K included herewith
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PART

ITEM BUSINESS

General

The Company

Sierra Bancorp the Company headquartered in Porterville California is California corporation registered as

bank holding company under the Bank Holding Company Act of 1956 as amended The Company was incorporated

in November 2000 and acquired all of the outstanding shares of Bank of the Sierra the Bank in August 2001 The

Companys principal subsidiary is the Bank and the Company exists primarily for the purpose of holding the stock

of the Bank and of such other subsidiaries it may acquire or establish The Companys main source of revenue is

dividends paid by the Bank The expenditures of the Company including but not limited to the cost of servicing

debt audit costs shareholder expenses and the payment of dividends to shareholders if and when declared by our

Board of Directors are paid from cash on hand at the holding company as might be supplemented from time to time

with dividends remitted to the Company by the Bank

At the present time the Companys only other direct subsidiaries are Sierra Statutory Trust 11 and Sierra Capital Trust

Ill which were formed in March 2004 and June 2006 respectively solely to facilitate the issuance of capital trust

pass-through securities TRUPS Pursuant to the Financial Accounting Standards Boards FASBs standard on

the consolidation of variable interest entities these trusts are not reflected on consolidated basis in the financial

statements of the Company References herein to the Company include Sierra Bancorp and its consolidated

subsidiary the Bank unless the context indicates otherwise

At December 31 2011 the Company had consolidated assets of $1 .335 billion gross loans of $759 million deposits

of $1 .086 billion and shareholders equity of $169 million The Companys liabilities include $31 million in debt

obligations due to Sierra Statutory Trust II and Sierra Capital Trust III related to TRUPS issued by those entities

The Bank

The Bank is California state-chartered bank headquartered in Porterville California that offers full range of retail

and commercial banking services to communities in the central and southern sections of the San Joaquin Valley Our

branch footprint stretches from Fresno on the north to Bakersfield on the south and on the sOuthern end extends east

through the Tehachapi plateau and into the northwestern tip of the Mojave Desert The Bank was incorporated in

September 1977 and opened for business in January 1978 and in the ensuing years has grown to be the largest inde

pendent bank headquartered in the South San Joaquin Valley Our growth has primarily been organic but includes

the acquisition of Sierra National Bank in 2000

Our primary products and services are related to the business of lending money and accepting deposits The Banks

lending activities include real estate commercial including small business agricultural and consumer loans The

bulk of our real estate loans are secured by commercial or professional office properties which are predominantly

owner-occupied We also employ real estate lending specialists who are responsible for complete line of construc

tion loans for residential and commercial development permanent mortgage loans land acquisition and development

loans and multifamily credit facilities Secondary market services are provided through the Banks affiliations with

Freddie Mac Fannie Mae and various non-governmental programs As of December 31 2011 the percentage of our

total loan and lease portfolio for each of the principal areas in which we directed our lending activities was as

follows loans secured by real estate 76.2% ii commercial and industrial loans including SBA loans 15.8%

iii consumer loans 4.8% iv direct finance leases 0.9% and agricultural production loans 2.3% Real

estate loans and related activities generated total revenue of $36.1 million in 2011 and $40.8 million in 2010

Interest fees and loan sale income on real-estate secured loans totaled approximately 49% of our total interest and

other income for 2011 and 50% in 2010

In addition to loans we offer wide range of deposit products for individuals and businesses including checking

accounts savings accounts money market demand accounts time deposits retirement accounts and sweep accounts



The Banks deposit accounts are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation FDIC up to maximum in

surable amounts We have also been in the Certificate of Deposit Account Registry Service CDARS network since

its inception and through CDARS are able to offer full FDIC insurance coverage to depositors with balances of up to

$50 million We attract deposits from throughout our market area with direct-mail campaigns customer-oriented

product mix competitive pricing convenient locations drive-through banking and multitude of alternative deli

very channels and we strive to retain our deposit customers by providing consistently high level of service At

December 31 2011 we had 90400 deposit accounts totaling $1 .086 billion compared to 85400 deposit accounts

totaling $l.052 billion at December 31 2010

To provide non-deposit investment options we have strategic alliance with Investment Centers of America Inc of

Bismarck North Dakota ICA Through this arrangement registered and licensed representatives of ICA provide

our customers with convenient access to annuities insurance products mutual funds and full range of investment

products They conduct business from offices located in our Porterville Visalia Tulare Fresno Bakersfield and

Tehachapi branches

We currently operate 25 full service branch offices throughout our geographic footprint The Banks newest

branches opened for business in Selma in February 2011 and Farmersville in March 2010. In January 2011 we

closed our first branch ever in Bakersfield on California Avenue due to lease issues The locations of the Banks

current offices are

Porterville Administrative Headquarters Main Office West Olive Branch

86 North Main Street 90 North Main Street 1498 West Olive Avenue

Bakersfield Bakersfield Ming Office Bakersfield Riverlakes Office Bakersfield East Hills Office

8500 Ming Avenue 4060 Coffee Road 2501 Mt Vernon Avenue

California City California City Office

8031 California City Blvd

Clovis Clovis Office

1710 Clovis Avenue

Delano Delano Office

1126 Main Street

Dinuba Dinuba Office

401 East Tulare Street

xeter Exeter Office

1103 West Visalia Road

Farmersville Farmersville Office

400 West Visalia Road

Fresno Fresno Shaw Office Fresno Herndon Office Fresno Sunnyside Office

636 East Shaw Avenue 7029 Ingram Avenue 5775 Kings Canyon Rd

Hanford Hanford Office

427 West Lacey Boulevard

Lindsay Lindsay Office

142 South Mirage Avenue

Reedley Reedley Office

1095 Manning Street

Selma Selma Office

2446 McCall Avenue

Tehachapi Tehachapi Downtown Office Tehachapi Old Town Office

224 West Street 21000 Mission Street

Three Rivers Three Rivers Office

40884 SierraDrive



Tulare Tulare Office Tulare Prosperity Office

246 East Tulare Avenue 1430 Prosperity Avenue

Visalia Visalia Mooney Office Visalia Downtown Office

2515 South Mooney Blvd 128 East Main Street

In addition to the full-service branch offices listed above the Bank has an agricultural credit division and an SBA

lending unit with staff located at our corporate headquarters We also have ATMs at all branch locations and offsite

ATMs at six different non-branch locations Furthermore the Bank is member of the Alipoint network which

provides our customers with surcharge-free access to over 35000 ATMs across the nation and our customers have

access to electronic point-of-sale payment alternatives nationwide via the Pulse EFT network To ensure that account

access preferences are addressed for all of our customers we operate an internet branch which provides the ability to

open deposit accounts and submit certain loan applications online offer an online banldng option with bill-pay and

mobile banking capabilities maintain customer service center that is accessible by toll-free telephone during busi

ness hours and provide an automated telephone banking system that is accessible 24 hours day seven days week

We offer multitude of other banking products and services to complement and support our lending and deposit

products including remote deposit capture and automated payroll services for business customers

We have not engaged in any material research activities related to the development of new products or services dur

ing the last two fiscal years However our officers and employees are continually searching for ways to increase

public convenience enhance public access to the electronic payments system and enable us to improve our competi

tive position The cost to the Bank for these development operations and marketing activities cannot be calculated

with any degree of certainty

We hold no patents or licenses other than licenses required by appropriate bank regulatory agencies franchises or

concessions Our business has modest seasonal component due to the heavy agricultural orientation of the Central

Valley As our branches in more metropolitan areas such as Fresno and Bakersfield have expanded however we

have become less reliant on the agriculture-related base We are not dependent on single customer or group of re

lated customers for material portion of our core deposits nor is material portion of our loans concentrated within

single industry or group of related industries Our efforts to comply with government and regulatory mandates on

consumer protection and privacy anti-terrorism and other initiatives have resulted in significant ongoing expense to

the Bank including staffing additions and costs associated with compliance-related software However as far as can

be determined there has been no material effect upon our capital expenditures earnings or competitive position as

result of environmental regulation at the Federal state or local level

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Information on recent accounting pronouncements is contained in Note to the consolidated financial statements

Competition

The banking business in California in general and specifically in many of our market areas is highly competitive

with respect to virtually all products and services The industry continues to consolidate particularly with the rela

tively large number of FDIC-assisted takeovers of failed banks and other acquisitions of troubled banks in recent

years There are also many unregulated companies competing for business in our markets with fmancial products

targeted at highly profitable customer segments Many of these competitors are able to compete across geographic

boundaries and provide customers with meaningful alternatives to nearly all significant banking services and

products These competitive trends are likely to continue

With respect to commercial bank competitors the business is dominated by relatively small number of major banks

that operate large number of offices within our geographic footprint Based on June 30 2011 FDIC market share

data for the combined four counties within which the Company operates namely Tulare Kern Fresno and Kings

counties the largest portion of deposits belongs to Bank of America 21.8% followed closely by Wells Fargo

19.7% The next highest deposit market share drops down to 6.24% for Union Bank and the four institutions after

that including Bank of the Sierra all have market share percentages tightly grouped between 5% and 6% Bank of

the Sierra ranks seventh on the 2011 market share list with 5.2% of total deposits in the referenced four-county area



In Tulare County however where the Bank was originally formed we rank first for total number of branch locations

12 including our online branch and second for deposit market share with 19.9% of total deposits just slightly

below Bank of Americas 20.2% The larger banks noted above have among other advantages the ability to finance

wide-ranging advertising campaigns and to allocate their resources to regions of highest yield and demand They can

also offer certain services that we do not offer directly but may offer indirectly through correspondent institutions

By virtue of their greater total capitalization these banks also have substantially higher lending limits than we do

For customers whose needs exceed our legal lending limit we typically arrange for the sale or participation of

some of the balances to financial institutions that are not within our geographic footprint

In addition to other banks our competitors include savings institutions credit unions and numerous non-banking

institutions such as finance companies leasing companies insurance companies brokerage finns asset management

groups mortgage banking firms and internet-based companies Technological innovations have lowered traditional

barriers of entry and enabled many of these companies to offer services that previously were considered traditional

banking products and we have witnessed increased competition from specialized companies including those that

circumvent the banking system by facilitating payments via the internet wireless devices prepaid cards or other

means

Strong competition for deposits and loans among financial institutions and non-banks alike affects interest rates and

other terms on which financial products are offered to customers Mergers between financial institutions have placed

additional pressure on other banks within the industry to remain competitive by streamlining operations reducing

expenses and increasing revenues Competition is also impacted by federal and state interstate banking laws enacted

in the rnid-1990s which permit banking organizations to expand into other states The relatively large California

market has been particularly attractive to out-of-state institutions The Financial Modernization Act enacted in 2000

made it possible for full affiliations to occur between banks and securities firms insurance companies and other

financial companies whiCh further intensified competitive conditions

For years we have countered rising competition by offering broad array of products with accommodative policies

that allow flexibility in structure and term that cannot always be matched by our competitors We also offer our cus

tomers community-oriented personalized service and rely on local promotional activity and personal contacts by our

officers directors employees and shareholders This approach appears to be well-received by the populace of the

San Joaquin Valley whO appreciate high-touch customer-oriented environment in which to conduct their financial

transactions As noted above layered onto our traditional personal-contact banking philosophy are technology-

driven initiatives that improve customer access and convenience

Employees

As of December 31 2011 the Company had 309 full-time and 93 part-time employees On full time equivalent

basis staffing stood at 383 at December 31 2011 down from 390 at December 31 2010

Regulation and Supervision

Banks and bank holding companies are heavily regulated by federal and state laws and regulations Most banking

regulations are intended primarily for the protection of depositors and the deposit insurance fund and not for the ben

efit of shareholders The following is Summary of certain statutes regulations and regulatory guidance affecting

the Company and the Bank This summary is not intended to be complete explanation of such statutes regulations

and guidance and their effects on the Company and the Bank and is qualified in its entirety by such tatutes regula

tions and guidance all of which are subject to change in the future

Regulation of the Company Generally

The Companys stock is traded on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol BSRR and as such the

Company is subject to NASDAQ rules and regulations including those related to corporate governance The Com

pany is also sObject to the periodic reporting requirements of Section 13 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the

Exchange Act which requires the Company to file annual quarterly and other current reports with the Securities

and Exchange Commission the SEC The Company is subject to additional regulations including but notlimited



to the proxy and tender offer rules promulgated by the SEC under Sections 13 and 14 of the Exchange Act the re

porting requirements of directors executive officers and principal shareholders regarding transactions in the Com

pany common stock and short swing profits rules promulgated by the SEC under Section 16 of the Exchange Act

and certain additional reporting requirements for principal shareholders of the Company promulgated by the SEC

under Section 13 of the Exchange Act As publicly traded company which had more than $75 milbon in public

float as of June 30 2011 the Company is classified as an accelerated filer for purposes of its Exchange Act filing

requirements In addition to accelerated time frames for filing SEC periodic reports this also means that the Com

pany is subject to the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 with regard to documenting

testing and attesting to internal controls over financial reporting

The Company is bank holding company within the meaning of the Bank Holding Company Act of 1956 and is reg

istered as such with the Federal Reserve Board bank holding company is required to file with the Federal Reserve

annual reports and other information regarding its business operations and those of its subsidiaries It is also subject

to periodic examination by the Federal Reserve and is required to obtain Federal Reserve approval before acquiring

directly or indirectly ownership of the voting shares of any bank if after such acquisition it would directly or indi

rectly own or control more than 5% of the voting stock of that bank unless it already owns majority of the voting

stock of that bank

The Federal Reserve Board has determined by regulation certain activities in which bank holding company may or

may not conduct business bank holding company must engage with certain exceptions in the business of bank

ing or managing or controlling banks or furnishing services to or performing services for its subsidiary banks The

principal exceptions to these prohibitions involve non-bank activities identified by statute by Federal Reserve regu

lation or by Federal Reserve order as activities so closely related to the business of banking or of managing or con

trolling banks as to be proper incident thereto including securities brokerage services investment advisory

services fiduciary services and management advisory and data processing services among others bank holding

company that also qualifies as and elects to become financial holding company may engage in broader range of

activities that are financial in nature and complementary to such activities specifically non-bank activities identi

fied by the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act of 1999 or by Federal Reserve and Treasury regulation as financial in nature or

incidental to financial activity Activities that are defined as financial in nature include securities underwriting

dealing and market making sponsoring mutual funds and investment companies engaging in insurance underwriting

and agency activities and making merchant banking investments in non-financial companies To become and remain

financial holding company bank holding company and its subsidiary banks must be well capitalized well

managed and except in limited circumstances have at least satisfactory rating under the Community Reinvestment

Act The Company has no current intention of becoming financial holding company but may do so at some point

in the future if deemed appropriate in view of opportunities or circumstances at the time

The Company and the Bank are deemed to be affiliates of each other within the meaning set forth in the Federal

Reserve Act and are subject to Sections 23A and 23B of the Federal Reserve Act The Federal Reserve Board has

also issued Regulation which codifies prior regulations under Sections 23A and .23B of the Federal Reserve Act

and related interpretative guidance with respect to affiliate transactions This means for example that there are

limitations on loans by the Bank to affiliates and that all affiliate transactions must satisf certain limitations and

otherwise be on terms and conditions at least as favorable to the Bank as would be available for non-affiliates In

addition we must comply with the Federal Reserve Act and Regulation issued by the Federal Reserve Board

which require that loans and extensions of credit to our executive officers directors and principal shareholders or

any company controlled by any such persons shall among other conditions be made on substantially the same terms

and follow credit-underwriting procedures no less stringent than those prevailing at the time for comparable transac

tions with non-insiders

Regulations and policies of the Federal Reserve Board require bank holding company to serve as source of finan

cial and managerial strength to its subsidiary banks It is the Federal Reserve Boards policy that bank holdrng

company should stand ready to use available resources to provide adequate capital funds to subsidiary bank durmg

periods of financial stress or adversity and should maintain the financial flexibility and capital-raising capacity to

obtain additional resources for assisting subsidiary bank Under certain conditions the Federal Reserve Board may

conclude that certain actions of bank holding company such as payment of cash dividend would constitute an

unsafe and unsound banking practice The Federal Reserve Board also has the authority to regulate the debt of bank



holding companies including the authority to impose interest rate ceilings and reserve requirements on such debt

Under certain circumstances the Federal Reserve Board may require bank holding company to file written notice

and obtain its approval prior to purchasing or redeeming its equity securities unless certain conditions are met

Regulation of the Bank Generally

As California state-chartered bank whose accounts are insured by the FDIC up to the maximum limits allowable by

law the Bank is subject to regulation supervision and regular examination by the California Department of Financial

Institutions the DFI and the FDIC In addition while the Bank is not member of the Federal Reserve System
the Bank is subject to certain regulations of the Federal Reserve Board The regulations of these agencies govern

most aspects of the Banks business including the making of periodic reports by the Bank and the Banks activities

relating to dividends investments loans borrowings capital requirements certain check-clearing activities branch

ing mergers and acquisitions reserves against deposits and numerous other areas Supervision legal action and

examination by the FDIC are generally intended to protect depositors and are not intended for the protection of

shareholders

The earnings and growth of the Bank are largely dependent on our ability to maintain favorable differential or

spread between our yield on interest-earning assets and the average rate paid on our deposits and other interest-

bearing liabilities As result the Banks performance is influenced by general economic conditions both domestic

and foreign the monetary and fiscal policies of the federal government and the policies of the regulatory agencies

particularly the Federal Reserve Board The Federal Reserve Board implements national monetary policies such as
for example seeking to curb inflation and combat recession by its open-market operations in United States govern
ment securities by adjusting the required level of reserves for financial institutions subject to its reserve require

ments and by varying the discount rate applicable to borrowings by banks that participate in the Federal Reserve

System The actions of the Federal Reserve Board inthese areas influence the growth of bank loans investments and

deposits and also affect interest rates on loans and deposits The nature and impact of any future changes in mone

tary policies cannot be predicted with any degree of certainty

Capital Adequacy Requirements

The Company and the Bank are subject to the regulations of the Federal Reserve Board and the FDIC respectively

governing capital adequacy Each of the federal regulators has established risk-based and leverage capital guidelines

for the banks and/or bank holding companies it regulates which set total capital requirements and define capital in

terms of core capital elements or Tier capital and supplemental capital elements or Tier capital Tier

capital is generally defined as the sum of the core capital elements less goodwill and certain other deductions

including the unrealized net gains or losses after tax adjustments on available-for-sale investment securities and

disallowed deferred tax assets The following items are defined as core capital elements common shareholders

equity ii qualifying non-cumulative perpetual preferred stock and related surplus and in the case of holding com
panies senior perpetual preferred stock issued to the U.S Treasury Department pursuant to the Troubled Asset Relief

Program iii minority interests in the equity accounts of consolidated subsidiaries and iv qualifying trust pre
ferred securities up to specified limit as discussed below Supplementary capital elements include allowance for

loan and lease losses but not more than 1.25% of an institutions risk-weighted assets ii perpetual preferred stock

and related surplus not qualifying as core capital iii hybrid capital instruments perpetual debt and mandatory con
vertible debt instruments and iv term subordinated debt and intermediate-term preferred stock and related surplus

The maximum amount of supplemental capital elements which qualify as Tier capital is limited to 100% of Tier

capital

In March 2005 the Federal Reserve Board adopted final rule allowing bank holding companies to continue to in

clude trust preferred securities in their Tier capital The amount that can be included is limited to 25% of core cap
ital elements net of goodwill less any associated deferred tax liability As of December 31 2011 TRUPS made up

approximately 16% of the Companys Tier capital In addition since the Company had less than $15 billion in

assets when its TRUPS were issued under the Dodd-Frank Act the Company can continue to include those TRUIPS

in Tier capital to the extent permitted by FRB guidelines See Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer

Protection Act below



The minimum required ratio of qualifying total capital to total risk-weighted assets is 8% Total Risk-Based Capital

Ratio at least one-half of which must be in the form of Tier capital and the minimum required ratio of Tier

capital to total risk-weighted assets is 4% Tier Risk-Based Capital Ratio Risk-based capital ratios are calcu

lated to provide measure of capital relative to the degree of risk associated with financial institutions operations

for transactions reported on the balance sheet as assets and transactions such as letters of credit and recourse

arrangements which are recorded as off-balance sheet items Under risk-based capital guidelines the nominal dollar

amounts of assets and credit-equivalent amounts of off-balance sheet items are multiplied by one of several risk

adjustment percentages which range from 0% for assets with low credit risk such as cash on hand and certain U.S

Treasury securities to 100% for assets with relatively high credit risk such as unsecured loans As of December 31

2011 and 2010 Bank-only Total Risk-Based Capital Ratios were 20.89% and 19.31% respectively and the Banks

Tier Risk-Based Capital Ratios were 19.63% and 18.04% respectively As of December 31 2011 and 2010 the

consolidated Companys Total Risk-Based Capital Ratios were 21.72% and 20.33% respectively and its Tier

Risk-Based Capital Ratios were 20.46% and 19.06% respectively

The FDIC and the Federal Reserve Board have also established guidelines for financial institutions leverage ratio

defined as Tier capital to adjusted total assets Banks and bank holding companies that have received the highest

rating of the five categories used by regulators to rate banks and are not anticipating or experiencing any significant

growth must maintain leverage ratio of at least 3% All other institutions are typically required to maintain leve

rage ratio of at least 4% to 5% however federal regulations also provide that financial institutions must maintain

capital levels commensurate with the level of risk to which they are exposed including the volume and severity of

problem loans and federal regulators may set higher capital requirements when an institutions particular circums

tances warrant Bank-only leverage ratios were 13.53% and 13.07% on December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively

As of December 31 2011 and 2010 the consolidated Companys leverage ratios were 14.11% and 13.84%

respectively

Risk-based capital requirements also take into account concentrations of credit involving collateral or loan type and

the risks of non-traditional activities those that have not customarily been part of the banking business The reg

ulations require institutions with high or inordinate levels of risk to operate with higher minimum capital standards

and authorize the regulators to review an institutions management of such risks in assessing an institutions capital

adequacy Additionally the regulatory Statements of Policy on risk-based capital include exposure to interest rate

risk as factor that the regulators will consider in evaluating .a financial institutions capital adequacy although

interest rate risk does not impact the calculation of an institutions risk-based capital ratios Interest rate risk is the

exposure of banks current and future earnings and equity capital to adverse movement in interest rates While

interest rate risk is inherent in financial institutions role as financial intermediary it introduces volatility to the

institutions earnings and economic value

For more information on the Companys capital see Part II Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of

Financial Condition and Results of Operation Capital Resources Risk-based capital ratio requirements are dis

cussed in greater
detail in the following section

Prompt Corrective Action Provisions

Federal law requires each federal banking agency to take prompt corrective action to resolve the problems of insured

financial institutions including but not limited to those that fall below one or more prescnbed minimum capital

ratios The federal banking agencies have by rgulation define4 the following five capital categories well capita

lized Total Risk-Based Capital Ratio of 10% Tier Risk-Based Capital Ratio of 6% and Leverage Ratio of 5%
adequately capitalized Total Risk-Based Capital Ratio of 8% Tier Risk-Based Capital Ratio of 4% and Lever

age Ratio of 4% or 3% if the institution receives the highest rating from its primary regulator undercapitalized

Total Risk-Based Capital Ratio of less than 8% Tier Risk7Based Capital Ratio of less than 4% or Leverage Ratio

of less than 4% or 3% if the institution receives the highest rating from its primary regulator significantly under

capitalized Total Risk-Based Capital Ratio of less than 6% Tier Risk-Based Capital Ratio of less than 3% or

Leverage Ratio less than 3% and critically undercapitalized tangible equity to total assets less than 2% As of

December 31 2011 and 2010 both the Company and the Bank were deemed to be well capitalized for regulatory

capital purposes bank may be treated as though it wçre in the next lower capital category if after notice and the

opportunity for hearing the appropriate federal agency finds an unsafe or unsound condition or practice so



warrants but no bank may be treated as critically undercapitalized unless its actual capital ratio warrants such

treatment

At each successively lower capital category an insured bank is subject to increased restrictions on its operations For

example bank is generally prohibited from paying management fees to any controlling persons or from making

capital distributions if to do so would make the bank undercapitalized Asset growth and branching restrictions

apply to undercapitalized banks which are required to submit written capital restoration plans meeting specified re

quirements including guarantee by the parent holding company if any Significantly undercapitalized banks

are subject to broad regulatory authority including among other things capital directives forced mergers restrictions

on the rates of interest they may pay on deposits restrictions On asset growth and activities and prohibitions on pay
ing bonuses or increasing compensation to senior executive officers without FDIC approval Even more severe

restrictions apply to critically undercapitalized banks Most importantly except under limited circumstances not

later than 90 days after an insured bank becomes critically undercapitalized the appropriate federal banking agency is

required to appoint conservator or receiver for the bank

In addition to measures taken under the prompt corrective action provisions insured banks may be subject to poten
tial actions by the federal regulators for unsafe or unsound practices in conducting their businesses or for violations

of any law rule regulation or any condition imposed in writing by the agency or any written agreement with the

agency Enforcement actions may include the issuance of cease and desist orders termination of insurance of depo
sits in the case of bank the imposition of civil money penalties the issuance of directives to increase capital

formal and informal agreements or removal and prohibition orders against institution-affiliated parties

Safety and Soundness Standards

The federal banking agencies have also adopted guidelines establishing safety and soundness standards for all in

sured depository institutions Those guidelines relate to internal controls information systems internal audit sy
tems loan underwriting and documentation compensation and interest rate exposure In general the standards are

designed to assist the federal banking agencies in identifiing and addressing proilems at insured depository institu

tions before capital becomes impaired If an institution fails to meet the requisite standards the appropriate federal

banking agency may require the institution to submit compliance plan and could institute enforcement proceedings

if an acceptable compliance plan is not submitted or adhered to

The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act

The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act financial reform legislation Dodd-Frank
significantly revised and expanded the rulemaking supervisory and enforcement authority of the federal bank regu
latory agencies Dodd-Frank impacts many aspects of the financial industry and in many cases will impact larger

and smaller financial institutions and community banks differently over time Many of the following key provisions

of Dodd-Frank affecting the financial industry are now either effective or are in the proposed rule or implementation

stage

permanent increase of the previously implemented temporary increase of FDIC deptsit insurance to

$250000 and an extension of federal deposit insurance coverage until January 2013 for the full net

amount held by depositors in non-interesting bearing transaction accounts

authorization for finania1 institutiots topy interest on business checking accounts asa result of which the

Companybagan to pay interested on limited numbar of business checking accounts in Augtist 2011

changes in the calculation of FDIC deposit insurance assessments such that theassessrnent bÆe is no longer

the institutions deposit base but instead is its average consolidated total assets less its average tangible

equity as result of which smaller banks are now paying proportionately less and larger banks prôpdrtio

nately more of the aggregate insurance assessments

the requirement that interchange fees by debit card issuers be reasonable and proportional to the cost

incurred which does not apply directly to banks with less than $10 billion in aSsets but may nonetheless

affect smaller banks due to competitive factors

the creation of bureau of Consumer Financial Protection within the Federal Reserve discussed below
with centralized responsibility for cOhsumer protection



provisions that affect corporate governance and executive compensation at most publicly-traded companies

in the United States including proxy access requirements for shareholders non-binding shareholder votes on

executive compensation the establishment of an independent compensation committee and executive com
pensation disclosures and compensation claw-backs

the application of the same leverage and risk-based capital requirements that apply to insured depository

institutions to most bank holding companies and the elimination and phase out of trust preferred securities

from Tier capital with certain exceptions which exceptions enable the Companys trust preferred securi

ties to remain eligible as Tier capital

codification of the requirement that bank holding companies serve as source of financial strength for their

depository institution subsidiaries

expansion of restrictions on transactions with affiliates and insiders under Section 23A and 23B of the Fed

eral Reserve Act and lending limits for derivative transactions repurchase agreements and securities Lending

and borrowing transactions

the elimination of remaining barriers to de novo interstate branching by banks and

enhanced regulation of financial markets including the derivative and securitization markets and the

elimination of certain proprietary trading activities by banks the Volcker Rule

Dodd-Frank also contains number of additional provisions which should not directly impact the Company such as

the prohibition against charter conversions for troubled institutions the elimination of the Office of Thrift Supervi

sion and the transfer of oversight of thrift institutions and their holding companies to the Office of the Comptroller of

the Currency or the FDIC and the Federal Reserve the termination of investments by the Treasury under the

Troubled Asset Relief Program the creation of Financial Services Oversight Counsel to identif emerging systemic

risks and improve interagency cooperation and the establishment of enhanced prudential standards for risk-based

capital leverage limits stress testing liquidity risk management and concentration/credit expOsure limits for insti

tutions with total consolidated assets of $50 billion or more However some of these provisions could have an indi

rect impact due to their influence on the industry generally

Because many of the regulations related to Dodd-Frank have not yet been issued or fully implemented the statutes

effect on the financial services industry in general and on the Company in particular Is uncertain at this time

However it
is expected that certain provisions of Dodd-Frank may significantly impact our operations and com

pliance costs sUch as changes in FDIC assessments the permitted payment of interest on demand deposits and pro

jected enhanced consumer compliance requirements Our management is actively reviewing the provisions of Dodd-

Frank and assessing its probable impact on our business financial condition and results of operations Some of the

rules and regulations promulgated or yet to be promulgated under DOdd-Frank will apply directly only to institutions

much larger than ours but could indirectly impact smaller banks either due to competitive influences or because

certain required practices for larger institutions may subsequently become expected best practices for smaller

institutions We generally anticipate that changes required by Dodd-Frank will impact our profitability and business

practices to some extent and that we may be required tO devote even more management attention and rsources to

evaluate and make any changes necessary to comply with new statutory and regulatory requirements

Deposit Insurance

The Banks deposits are insured under the Federal Deposit Insurance Act up to the maximum applicable limits by the

Deposit Insurance Fund DIF of the FDIC and are subject to deposit insurance assessments to maintain the DIF

In October 2010 the FDIC adopted revised restOration plan to ensure that the DIFs designated reserve ratio

reaches 1.35% of insured deposits by September 30 2020 the deadline mandated by the Dodd-Frank Act However

financial institutions like Bank of the Sierra with assets of less than $10 billion are exempted from the cost Of this

increase In adaition because of lower expected losses over the next five years
and the additional time provided by

Dodd-Frank to meet the minimum DRR the FDIC eliminated the uniform basis point increase in assessment rates

that was previously scheduled to go into effect on January 2011 Furthermore the restoration plan proposed an

increase in the DRR to 2% of estimated insured deposits as long-term goal for the fund The FDIC also proposed

future assessment rate reductions in lieu of dividends when the DRR reaches 1.5% or greater

As noted above the Dodd-Frank Act provided for permanent increase in FDIC deposit insurance per depositor from

$100000 to $250000 retroactive to January 2008 and extended unlimited deposit insurance coverage for non-



interest bearing transaction accounts through December 31 2012 Furthermore the FDIC redefined its deposit insur

ance premium assessmeht base from an institutions total domestic deposits to its total assets less tangible equity

effective in the second quarter of 2011 The changes to the assessment base necessitated changes to assessment rates

which also became effective April 2011 The revised assessment rates are lower than prior rates but the assess

ment base is larger and approximately the same amount of assessment revenue will be collected by the FDIC as under

the previous structure

To help address liquidity issues created by potential timing differences between the collection of premiums and

charges against the DIF in November 2009 the FDIC adopted tinal rule to require insured institutions to prepay on

December 31 2009 their estimated quarterly risk-based deposit insurance assessments for the fourth quarter of 2009
and for all of 2010 2011 and 2012 Our prepaid assessment non-earning asset was $2.7 million as of December

31 2011 Until such time as our prepaid FDIC assessment is fully utilized our accounting offset for FDIC assess

ment expense is the prepaid account rather than cash

We are generally unable to control the amount of premiums that we are required to pay for FDIC insurance If there

are additional bank or financial mstitution failures or if the FDIC otherwise determines we may be required to pay

even higher FDIC premiums than the recent levels Any future increases in FDIC insurance premiums may have

material and adverse effect on our earnings and could have material adverse effect on the value of or market for

our common stock

In addition to DIF assessments banks must pay quarterly assessments that are applied to the retirement of Financing

Corporation bonds issued in the 1980s to assist in the recovery of the savmgs and loan mdustry The assessment

amount fluctuates but is currently 0.66 basis points of insured deposits These assessments will continue until the

Financing Corporation bonds mature in 2019

Community Reinvestment Act

The Bank is subject to certain requirements and reporting obligations involving Community Reinvestment Act

CRA activities The CRA generally requires federal banking agencies to evaluate the record ofa financial insti

tution in meeting the credit needs of its local commumties mcludmg low and mqderate income neighborhoods The
CRA further requires the agencies to consider financial mstitutions efforts meeting its community credit needs

wen evaluating applications for among other things domestic branches mergers or acquisitions or the formation of

holding companies In measuring banks compliance with its CRA obligations the regulators utilize perfor

mance-based evaluation system under which CRA ratings are determined by the banks actual lending service and

investmert perforrnice rather than on the extent to which the institution conducts needs assessments documents

community outreach activities or complies with other procedural requirements In connection with its assessment pf

CRA performance the FDIC assigns ratmg of outstandmg satisfactory needs to improve or substantial

noncompliance The Bank was last examined for CRA çornpliance in late 2010 and received satisfactory CRA
Assessment Rating as result of that exam

Privacy and Data Security

The Graium-Leach-Bliley Act also known as the Financial Modernization Act of 1999 the Financial Moderniza
tion Act imposed reqwrements on fmancial institutions with respect to consumer pnvacy Fmancial mstitutions

however are required to comply with state law if it is more protective of consumer pnvacy than the Fmancial Mod
ernizatiqn Act The Fmancial Modernization Act generally prohibits disclosure of consumer mformation to non-

affiliated third parties unless the consumer has been given the opportunity to object and has not objected to such

disclosure The statute also directed federal regulators including the Federal Reserve and the FDIC to precribe
standards for the security of consumer information and requires financial institutions to disclose their pnvacy poli
cies toconsumers annually

Overdrafts

The Electronic Funds Transfer Act as implemented by the Federal Reserves Regulation which was updated
effective January 2010 with an mandatory compliance date of July 2010 governs transfers initiated through
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automated teller machines ATMs point-of-sale terminals and other electronic banking services Regulation

prohibits financial institutions from assessing an overdraft fee for paying ATM and onetime point-of-sale debit

card transactions unless the customer affirmatively opts in to the overdraft service for those types of transactions

The opt-in provision establishes requirements for clear disclosure of fees and terms of overdraft services for ATM
and one-time debit card transactions The rule does not apply to other types of transactions such as check

automated clearinghouse ACH and recurring debit card transactions

Additionally in November 2010 the FDIC issued its Overdraft Guidance on automated overdraft service programs to

ensure that bank mitigates the risks associated with offering automated overdraft payment programs and complies

with all consumer protection laws and regulations The procedural changes and fee adjustments necessitatedby these

regulatory changes resulted in decreased overdraft income in 2011 and could have further adverse impact on the

Companys non-interest income in the future

Predatory Lending

The term predatory lending much like the terms safety and soundness and unfair and deceptive practices is

far-reaching and covers potentially broad range of behavior As such it does not lend itself to concise or com

prehensive definition But typically predatory lending involves at least one and perhaps all three of the following

elements making unaffordable loans based on the assets of the borrower rather than on the borrowers ability to re

pay an obligation or asset-based lending inducing borrower to refinance loan repeatedly in order to charge high

points and fees each time the loan is refinanced or loan flipping and engaging in fraud or deception to conceal the

true nature of the loan obligation from an unsuspecting or unsophisticated borrower

Federal Reserve Board regulations aimed at curbing such lending significantly widened the pool of high-cost home-

secured loans covered by the Home Ownership and Equity Protection Act of 1994 federal law that requires extra

disclosures and consumer protections to borrowers In addition the regulation bars loan
flipping by the same lender

or loan servicer within year Lenders also will be presumed to have violated the law which says loans shouldnt be

made to people unable to repay them unless they document that the borrower has the ability to repay Lenders that

violate the rules face cancellation of loans and penalties equal to the finance charges paid The Company does not

engage in predatory lending and thus does not expect these rules and potential state action in this area to have any

impact on its financial condition or results of operations

Consumer Financial Protection and Other Consumer Laws and Regulations

Dodd-Frank created the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau CFPB as new and independent unit within the

Federal Reserve System With certain exceptions the CFPB has authonty to regulate any person or entity that en

gages in offering or providing consumer financial product or service and has rulemaking examination and en

forcement powers over financial institutions With respect to primary examination and enforcement authority of

financial entities however the CFPBs authority is limited to institutions with assets of $10 billion or more Existing

regulators retain this authority over institutions with assets of $10 billion or less such as the Banlç

The powers of the CFPB currently include

The ability to prescribe consumer financial laws and rules that regulate all institutions that engage in offering

or providing consumer financial product or service

Primary enforcement and exclusive supervision authority with respect to federal consumer fmancial laws

over very large insured institutions with assets of $10 billion or more This includes the right to obtain in

formation about an institutions activities and compliance systems and procedures and to detect and assess

risks to consumers and markets

The ability to require reports from institutions with assets under $10 billion such as First Midwest to sup.-

port the CFPB in implementing federal consumer financial laws supporting examination activities and

assessing and detecting risks to consumers and financial markets

Examination authority limited to assessing compliance with federal consumer financial law with respect to

institutions with assets under $10 billion such as the Bank Specifically FPB examiner may be included

on sampling basis in the examinations performed by the institutions primary regulator
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The CFPB officially commenced operations on July 21 2011 and engaged in several activities throughout the

remainder of the year including investigating consumer complaints about credit cards and mortgagesii 1auitch

ing supervision program iii conducting research for and developing.maridatory fmancial product disclosures and

iv engaging in consumer financial protection rulemaking

Some uncertainty has arisen related to confidential treatment and privilege and the CFPBs ability to require reports

from financial institutions Banks currently have express legal protection that gives them the confidence and legal

certainty to.provide confidential privileged documents at the request of the federal banking agencies and the cur

rent law provides that hank .dos not waive confidentiality and risk disclosure of the information to an outside

party potentially involved in litigation with the bank by providing the information to is regulator The CFPB does

not have the same express statutory protections relating to privilege that the other banking agencies are given The

full extent of the CFPBs authority and potential impact on the Bank is unclear at thistime but the Bank continues to

monitor the CFPBs activities on an ongoing basis

The Bank is already subject to variety of statutes and regulations designed to protect consumers including the Fair

Credit Reporting Act Equal Credit Opportunity Act and Truth-in-Lending Act Interest and other charges collected

or contracted for by the Bank are also subject to state usury laws and certain other federal laws concerning interest

rates The Banks loan operations are also subject to federal laws and regulations applicable to credit transactions

Together these laws and regulations include provisions that

govern disclosures of credit terms to borrowers who are consumers

require financial institutions to provide information to enable the public and public officials to determine

whether financial institution is fulfilling its obligations in meeting the housing needs of the communities it

serves

prohibit discrimination on the basis of race creed or other prohibited factors in extending credit

govern the use thidprovision of Infonnation to credit reporting agencies and

govern tlie manner in which consumer debts may be collected by collection agencies

The Banks deposit operations are also subject to laws and regulations that

impose duty to maintain the confideniiality of consumer finanàial records and prescribe procedures for

complying with administrative subpoenas of financial records and

govern automatic deposits to and withdrawals from deposit accounts and customers rights and liabilities

arising from the use of automated teller machines and other electronic banking services

In November 2009 the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System promulgated rule entitled Electronic

Fund Transfers with mandatQry compliance date of July 2010 The rule which applies to all FDIC-regulated

institutions prohibits financial institutions from assessing an overdraft fee for paying automated teller machine

ATM and one-time point-of-sale debit card transactions unless the customer affirmatively opts in to the overdraft

service for those types of transactions The opt-rn provision
establishes requirements for clear disclosure of fees and

terms of overdraft services for ATM and one-time debit card transactions The rule does not apply to other types of

transactions such as check automated clearinghouse ACH and recurring debit card transactions

The Emergency Economic Stabilization Act of 2008 and the Troubled Asset Relief Program

In response to the market turmoil and financial crises affecting the overall banking system and financial markets in

the United States the Emergency Economic Stabilization Act of 2008 EESA was enacted in October 2008 In

February 2009 the Amencan Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 the Stimulus Bill was enacted which

among other things augmented certain provisions of the EESA Uiider the EESA the Treasury Department has

authority to purchase up to $700 billion in mortgage loans mortgage-related securities and certain Other financial

instruments including debt and quity securitieslssüed by financial institutions in the Troubled Asset Relief Program

the TARP The purpose of the TARP was to restore cOnfidence and stability to tha U.S banking system and to

encourage financial institutions to increase lendlng to customers and to each other

The Treasury Department allocated $25CY billion in TARP-authorized flmds to the TARP Capital Purchase Program
which was developed to purchase senior prefeied stock from qualifying financial institutions in order to strengthen

their capital and liquidity positions and encourage them to increase lending to creditworthy borrowers Qualifying
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financial institutions could be approved to issue preferred stock to the Treasury Department in amounts not less than

1% of their risk-weighted assets and not more than the lesser of $25 billion or 3% of risk-weighted assets After

evaluating the strategic advantages and operating restrictions inherent in issuing preferred shares to the U.S

government Sierra Bancorp elected not to participate in the capital purchase element of TARP

The EESA also established Temporary Liquidity Guarantee Program TLGP that gave the FDIC the ability to

provide guarantee for newly-issued senior unsecured debt and non-interest bearing transaction deposit accounts at

eligible insured institutions The Company is currently participating in the transaction account guarantee program
This program was initially scheduled to continue through December 31 2010 but the Dodd-Frank Act extended full

deposit insurance coverage for non-interest..bearing transaction accounts through December 31 2012 and all finan

cial institutions are required to participate in this extended guarantee program For non-interest bearing transaction

deposit accounts 10 basis point annual FDIC insurance premium surcharge was applied to deposit amounts in

excess of $250000 through December 31 2009 and risk-based surcharge of between 15 and 25 basis points was

applied beginning January 2010

Interstate Banking and Branching

The Riegle Neal Interstate Banking and Branching Efficiency Act of 1994 the Interstate Banking Act regulates

the interstate activities of banks and bank holding companies and establishes framework for nationwide interstate

banking and branching Since 1995 adequately capitalized and managed bank holding companies have been per

mitted to acquire banks located in any state subject to two exceptions first any state may still prohibit bank holding

companies from acquiring bank which is less than five years old and second no interstate acquisition can be con

summated by bank holding company if the acquirer would control more than 10% of the deposits held by insured

depository institutions nationwide or 30% or more of the deposits held by insured depository institutions in any state

in which the target bank has branches In 1995 California enacted legislation to implement important provisions of

the Interstate Banldng Act and to repeal Californias previous interstate banking laws which were largely preempted

by the Interstate Banking Act bank may establish and operate de novo branphes in any state in which the bank

does not maintain branch if that state has enacted legislation to expressly permit all out-of-state banks to establish

branches in that state However California law expressly prohibits an out-of-state bank which does not already have

California branch office from purchasing branch office of California bank as opposed to purchasing the

entire bank and thereby establishmg California branch office or ii estabhshmg de novo branch in California It

appears that the Interstate Banking Act and related California laws have contributed to the accelerated consolidation

of the banking industry and increased competition with many large out-of-state banks having entered the California

market as result of this legislation

USA Patriot Act of 2001

The impact of the USA Patriot Act of 2001 the Patriot Act on financial institutions of all kinds has been signifi

cant and wide ranging The Patriot Act substantially enhanced existing anti-money laundering and financial transpa

rency laws and required appropriate regulatory authorities to adopt rules that promote cooperation among financial

institutions regulators and law enforcement entities in identifying parties that may be involved in terrorism or

money laundering Under the Patriot Act financial institutions are subject to prohibitions regarding specified finan

cial transactions and account relationships as well as enhanced due diligence and know your customer standards in

their dealings with foreign financial institutions and foreign customers The Patriot Act also requires all financial

institutions to establish anti-money laundering programs The Bank expanded its Bank Secrecy Act Compliance

Departpwnt and intensified due diligence procedures concerning the opening of new accounts to fulfill the anti

money laundering requirements of the Patriot Act and also implemented systems and procedures to identify suspi

cious banking activity and report any such activity to the Financial Cnmes Enforcement Network

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

The Company is subject to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 Sarbanes-Oxley which addresses among other

issues corporate governance auditing and accounting executive compensation and enhanced and timely disclosure

of corporate
information Among other things Sarbanes-Oxley mandates chief executive and chief financial officer

certifications of periodic financial reports
additional financial disclosures concerning off-balance sheet items and
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accelerated share transaction reporting for executive officers directors and 10% shareholders In addition Sarbanes

Oxley increased penalties for non-compliance with the Exchange Act SEC rules promulgated pursuant to Sarbanes

Oxley impose obligations and restrictions on auditors and audit committees intended to enhance their independence

from management and include extensive additional disclosure corporate governance and other related rules

Commercial Real Estate Lending Concentrations

In December 2006 the federal bank regulatory agencies released Guidance on Concentrations in Commercial Real

Estate CRE Lending Sound Risk Management Practices the Guidance The Guidance which was issued in

response to the agencies concern that rising CRE concentrations might expose institutions to unanticipated earnings

and capital volatility in the event of adverse changes in the commercial real estate market reinforced existing regula

tions and guidelines for real estate lending and loan portfolio management Highlights of the Guidance include the

following

The Guidance reminds institutions that strong risk management practices and appropriate levels of capital

are important elements of sound CRE lending program
The Guidance applies to national banks and state chartered banks and is also broadly applicable to bank

holding companies For purposes of the Guidance CRE loans include loans for land development and

construction other land loans and loans secured by multifamily and notifann residential properties The

definition also extends to loans to real estate investment trusts and unsecured loans to developers if their per
fonnance is closely linked to the perfonnance of the general CRE market

The agencies recognize that banks serve vitai role in their communities by supplying credit for business

and real estate davelopment therefore the Guidance is not intended to limit banks CRE lending Instead

the Guidance encourages institutiOns to idtitify and monitor credit concentrations establish internal con

centration limits and report concentrations to management and the board of directOrs on periodic basis

The agencies recognize that different types of CRE lending present different levels of risk and therefore

institutions are encouraged to segment their CRE portfolios to acknowledge these distinctions However the

CRE portfolio should not be divided into multiple sections simply to avoid the appearance of risk

concentration

Institutions should address the following key elements in establishing risk management framework for

identifying monitoring and controlling CRE risk board of directors and management oversight

portfolio management management information systems market analysis credit underwriting

standards portfolio stress testing and sensitivity analysis and credit review function

As part of the ongoing supervisory monitoring processes the agencies use certain criteria to identify institu

tions that are potentially exposed to significant CRE concentration risk An institution that has experienced

rapid growth in CRE lending has notable exposure to specific type of CRE or is approaching or exceeds

specified supervisory criteria may be identified for further supervisory analysis

The Bank believes that the Guidance is applicable to it as it has relatively high level concentration in CRE loans

The Bank and its board of directors have discussed the Guidance and believe that the Banks underwriting policies

management information systems independent credit administration process and monitoring of real estate loan con
centrations are sufficient to address the Guidance

Allowance for Loan and Lease Losses

In December 2006 the federal bank regulatory agencies released an Interagency Policy Statement on the Allowance

for Loan and Lease Losses ALLL which revises and replaces the banlung agencies 199 policy statement on the

ALLL The revised statement was issued to ensure consistency with generally accepted accounting principles

GAAP and more recent supervisory guidance and it extended the scope to include credit unions Highlights of the

revised statement include the following

The revised statement emphasizes that the ALLL represents one of the most significant estimates in an

institutions financial statements and regulatory .reports and that an assessment of the appropriateness of the

ALLL is critical to an institutions safety and soundness
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Each institution has responsibility to develop maintain and document comprehensive systematic and

consistently applied process for determining the amounts of the ALLL An institution must maintain an

ALLL that is sufficient to cover estimated credit losses on individual impaired loans as well as estimated

credit losses inherent in the remainder of the portfolio

The revised statement updated the previous guidance on the following issues regarding ALLL

responsibilities of the board of directors management and bank examiners factors to be considered in

the estimation of ALLL and objectives and elements of an effective loan review system

Other Pending and Proposed Legislation

Other legislative and regulatory initiatives which could affect the Company the Bank and the banking industry in

general are pending and additional initiatives may be proposed or introduced before the United States Congress the

California legislature and other governmental bodies in the future Such proposals if enacted may further alter the

structure regulation and competitive relationship among financial institutions and may subject the Bank to increased

regulation disclosure and reporting requirements In addition the various banking regulatory agencies often adopt

new rules and regulations to implement and enforce existing legislation It cannot be predicted whether or in what

form any such legislation or regulations may be enacted or the extent to which the business of the Company or the

Bank would be affected thereby

ITEM 1A RISK FACTORS

You should carefully consider the following risk factors and all other information contained in this Annual Report

before making investment decisions concerning the Companys common stock The risks and uncertainties described

below are not the only ones the Company faces Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to the Com
pany or that the company currently believes are immaterial may also adversely impact the Companys business If

any of the events described in the following risk factors occur the Companys business results of operations and

financial condition could be materially adversely affected In addition the trading price of the Companys common

stock could decline due to any of the events described in these risks

Risks Relating to the Bank and to the Business of Banking in General

Our business has been and may continue to be adversely affected by volatile conditions in the financial

markets and unfavorable economic conditions generally From December 2007 through June 2009 the U.S

economy was in recession Business activity across wide range of industries and regions in the U.S was greatly

reduced and remains at subdued or recessionary levels in many parts of the Country The financial markets and the

financial services industry in particular suffered unprecedented disruption causing number of institutions to fail or

to require government intervention to avoid failure

As result of these financial and economic crises many lending institutions including our company have

experienced significant declines in the performance of their loans particularly construction development and land

loans and unsecured commercial and consumer loans Our total nonperforming assets stood at $71.5 million at

December 31 2011 relative to $66.6 million at December 312010 and $72.6 million at December 31 2009

representing 9.23% 8.07% and 7.98% of total gross loans and foreclosed assets at December 31 2011 2010 and

2009 respectively

The California economy has been particularly hard hit and the economic decline has been major factor leading to

the significant increase in the Companys nonperforming assets and loan charge-offs since the end of 2007

Unemployment levels have always been relatively high in the San Joaquin Valley and in Tulare County which is our

geographic center and the base of our agriculturally oriented communities but recessionary conditions pushed the

unemployment rate to exceptionally high levels in recent years The unemployment rate for Tulare County reached

high of 19.1% during the current economic cycle in March of 2010 It was 16.2% in December 2011 down slightly

from 17.7% in December 2010 and 17.1% in December 2009 but still well above the 11.1% aggregate

unemployment rate for California as of December 2011
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Although there are indications of improving economic conditions nationally certain sectors such as real estate

remain weak and unemployment remains high especially in our local markets The state government most local

governments and many businesses are still experiencing difficulties due to lower consumer spending and the lack of

liquidity in the credit markets In addition the values of the real estate collateral supporting many commercial loans

and home mortgages have declined and may continue to decline Further negative market developments may also

continue to adversely affect consumer confidence levels and payment patterns which could cause delinquencies and

default rates to remain at high levels

If business and economic conditions do not improve generally or in the principal markets in which we do business

the prolonged economic weakness could have one or more of the following adverse effects on our business

continued lack of demand for loans or other products and services offered by us

continued decline in the value of our loans or other assets secured by residential or commercial real estate

decrease in deposit balances due to increased pressure on the liquidity of our customers

an impairment of our investment securities or

an increase in the number of borrowers who become delinquent file for protection under bankruptcy laws or

default on their loans or other obligations to us which in turn could result in higher level of nonperforming

assets net charge-offs and provision for credit losses which would reduce our earnings

Challenges in the agricultural industry could have an adverse effect on our customers and their abffity to

make payments to us While the Companys current relatively high level of nonperforming assets is comprised

mainly of other real estate owned and loans secured by land lots and commercial/residential real estate one of the

additions to non-accrual loans during the fourth quarter of 2011 was sizeable agricultural-related real estate loan

In previous years difficulties experienced by the agricultural industry in our market areas were the primary driver

behind high levels of nonperforming assets This is due to the fact that considerable portion of our total loan

portfolio consists of loans to borrowers either directly or indirectly involved in the agricultural industry great

number of our borrowers may not be individually directly involved in agriculture but many of the jobs in the San

Joaquin Valley are ancillary to the regular production processing marketing and sales of agricultural commodities

The markets for agricultural products can be adversely impacted by increased supply from overseas competition

drop in consumer demand and numerous other factors The ripple effect of any resulting drop in commodity prices

can depress land prices lower borrower income and decrease collateral values Weather patterns are also of critical

importance to row crop tree fruit and citrus production degenerative cycle of weather has the potehial to

adversely affect agricultural industries as well as consumer purchasing power and could lead to further

unemployment throughout the San Joaquin Valley Another potential looming issue that could have major impact

on the agricultural industry involves water distribution rights If the amount of water available to agriculture

becomes increasingly scarØe due to drought and/or diversion to other uses farmers may not be able to continue to

produce agricultural products at reasonable profit which has the potential to force many out of business Such

conditions have affected and may continue to adversely affect our borrowers and by extension our business and if

general agricultural conditions decline our level of nonperforming assets could increase

Concentrations of real estate loans could subject us to increased risks in the event of prolonged real estate

recession or natural disister Our loan portfolio is heavily concentrated in real estate loans particularly

commercial real estate At December 31 2011 76% of our loan portfolio consisted of loans secured by real estate

Balances secured by commercial buildings and construction and development loans represented 57% of all real estate

loans while loans secured by residential properties accounted for 33% and loans secured by farmland were 10% of

real estate loans The Companys $71.5 million balance of nonperforming assets at December 31 2011 incltided

$15.4 million in foreclosed assets primarily other real estate owned OREO consisting of vacant land lots and

residential properties Nonperforming loans totaling $56.1 million comprised the remainder of the nonperforming

assets and $46.1 million of that balance was in nonperforming real estate loans

The Central Valley residential real estate market experienced significant deflation in property values during 2008 and

2009 with little change from recessionary lows in 2010 and 2011 and foreclosures have occurred at relatively high

rates since the beginning of the recession If residential real estate valüesr slide further and/or if this weakness further

impacts commercial real estate values the Companys nonperforming assets could increase from current levels Such

an increase could have material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations by reducing our
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income increasing our expenses and leaving less cash available for lending and other activities As noted above the

primary collateral for many of our loans consists of commercial real estate properties and continued deterioration in

the real estate market in the areas the Company serves would likely reduce the value of the collateral for many of our

loans and could negatively impact the repayment ability of many of our borrowers It might also reduce further the

amount of loans the Company makes to businesses in the construction and real estate industry which could

negatively impact our organic growth prospects Similarly the occurrence of natural disaster like those California

has experienced in the past including earthquakes brush fires and flooding could impair the value of the collateral

we hold for real estate secured loans and negatively impact our results of operations

In addition banking regulators now give commercial real estate loans extremely close scrutiny due to risks relating to

the cyclical nature of the real estate market and related risks for lenders.with high concentrations of such loans The

regulators have required banks with relatively high levels of CRE loans to implement enhanced undrwriting

standards internal controls risk management policies and portfolio strss testing which has resulted in higher

allowances for possible loan losses Expectations for higher capital levels have also materialized Any increase in

our allowance for loan losses would adversely affect our net income and any requirement that we maintain higher

capital levels could adversely impact financial performance measures such as earnings per share

Our concentrations of commercial real estate construction and land development and commercial and

industrial loans expose us to increased lending risks Commercial real estate construction and land development

and commercial and industrial loans and leases including agricultural production loans but not including SBA loans

comprised approximately 60% of our total loan portfolio as of December 31 2011 and expose the Company to

greater nsk of loss than residential real estate and onsumer loans which comprised smaller percentage of the total

loan portfolio Commercial real estate and land development loans typically involve larger loan balances to single

borrowers or groups of related borrowers compared to residential loans Consequently an adverse development with

respect to one commercial loan or one credit relationship exposes us to significantly greater nsk of loss compared

to an adverse development with respect to one residential mortgage loan

Repayment of our commercial loans is often dependent on the cash flows of the borrower which may be

unpredictable and the collateral securing these loans may fluctuate in value At December 31 2011 we had

$123 million or 16% of total 1oans in commercial loans and leases including agricultural production loans but not

including SBA loans Commercial lending involves risks that are different from thoseassociated with residential and

commercial real estate lending Real estate lending is generally considered to be collateral based lending with loan

amounts based on predetermined loan to collateral values and liquidation of the underljing real estate collateral being

viewed as the primary source of repayment in the event of borrower default Our commercial loans are primarily

made based on the cash flow of the borrower and secondarily on any underlying collateral provided by the borrower

The borrowers cash flow may be unpredictable and collateral securing these loans may fluctuate in value Although

commercial loans are often collateralized by equipment inventory accounts receivable or other business assets the

liquidation of collateral in the event of default is often an insufficient source of repayment because aàcounts

receivable may be uncollectible and inventories may be obsolete or of limited use among other things Accordingly

the repayment of commercial loans depends primarily on the cash flow and credit worthiness of the borrower and

secondarily on the underlying collateral provided by the borrower

Nonperforming assets take significant time to resolve and adversely affect our results of operations and

finanØial condition Our nonperforming assets adversely affect our net income in various ways Until economic and

market conditions improve we expect
that our nonperforming loans will continue at relatively high levels which will

negatively impact earnings and could have substantial adverse impact if conditions detenorate further We do not

record interest income on non-accrual loans thereby adversely affecting our level of interest income Additionally

our non-interest expense has increased due to the costs of reappraising adversely classified asset write-downs on

foreclosed assets subsequrnt to reappraisals reflecting lower values operating costs related to foreclosed assets legal

and other costs associated with loan collections and various other expenses that would not typically be incurred in

normal operating environment Furthermore when we receive collateral through foreclosures and similar

proceedings we are required to record the collateral at its fair market value less estimated selling costs which may

result in write-downs or losses An increase in the level of nonperforming assets also increases our risk profile and

may impact the capital levels our regulators believe is appropriate in light of such risks We utilize various

techniques such as loan sales workouts and restructurings to manage our problem assets Decreases in the value of
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these problem asets the underlying collateral or in the borrowers performance or financial condition could

adversely affect our business results of operations and financial condition 1n addition the resolution of

nonperforming assets requires significant commitment of time from management and staff which can be

detrimental to performance of their other responsibilities There can be no assurance that we will avoid further

increases in nonperforming loans in the future

We may experience loan and lease losses in excess of our allowance for such losses We endeavor to limit the

risk that borrowers might fail to repay nevertheless losses can and do occur We maintain an allowance for

estimated loan and lease losses in our accounting records based on estimates of

historical experience with our loans

evaluation of economic conditions

regular reviews of the quality mix and size of the overall loan portfolio

detailed cash flow analysis fOr nonperforming loans

regular reviews of delinquencies and

the quality of the collateral underlying our loans

We maintain our allowance for loan and lease losses at level that we bçlieve is adequate to absorb specifically

identified probable losses as well as any other losses inherent in our loan portfolio at given date While we strive to

carefully monitor credit quality and to identiI loans that may become nonperforming at any given time there are

loans in the portfolio that could result in losses but that have not been identified as nonperforming or potential

problem loans We cannot be sure that we will be able to identif deteriorating loans before they become

nonperforming assets or that we will be able to limit losses on those loans that have been identified Changes in

economic operating and other conditions which are beyond our control including interest rate fluctuations

detenorating values in underlying collateral most of which consists of real estate and changes in the financial

condition of borrowers may cause our estimate of probabLe losses or actual loan losses to exceed our current

allowance In addition the FDIC and the DFI as part of their supervisory functions periodically review our

allowance for loan and leae losses Such agencies may require us to increase our provision for loan and lease losses

or to recognize further losses based on their judgment which may be different fjom that of our management Any
such increase in the allowance required by the FIDIC or the DFI could also hurt our business

Our use of appraisals in deciding whether to make loan on or secured by real property does not ensure the

value of the real property collateral In considering whether to make loan seured by real property we generally

require an appraisal of the property However an appraisal is only an estimate of the value of the property at the time

the appraisal is made and an error in fact or judgment could adversely affect the reliability of an appraisal In

addition events occurring after the initial appraisal may cause the value of the real estate to decrease As result of

any of these factors the value of collateral backing loan may be less than supposed and if default occurs we may
not recover the outstanding balance of the loan

Our expenses could increase as result of increases in FDIC insurance premiums The FDIC absent

extraordinary circumstances must establish and implement plan to restore the deposit insurance reserve ratio to

1.35% of estimated insured deposits or the comparable percentage of the assessment base at any time the reserve ratio

falls below 1.35% Bank failures during the current economic cycle depleted the deposit insurance fund balance

which was negative position from the end of 2009 until the second quarter of 2011 The balance had increased

to only $7.8 billion with resulting reserve ratio of 0.12% at September 30 2011 The PDIC cUrrently has until

September 30 2020 to bring the reserve ratio back to the statutory minimum As noted above uider Regulation and

Supervision Deposit Insurance the FDIC has implemented restoration plan that adopted new assessment base

and established new assessment rates starting with the second
quarter

of 2011 The FDIC also imposed special

assessment in 2009 and required the prepayment of three years of FDIC insurance premiums at the end of 2009 The

prepayments were designed to help address liquidity issues created by potential timing differences between the

collection of premiums and charges against the DIP but it is generally expected that assessment rates will remain

relatively high the near term due to the significant cost of bank failures and the relatively large number of troubled

banks Any further significant premium increases or special assessments could have mateiial adverse effect on our

financial condition and results of operations
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We may not be able to continue to attract and retain banking customers and our efforts to compete may
reduce our profitability Competition in the banking industry in the markets we serve may limit our ability to

continue to attract and retain banking customers The banking business in our current and intended future market

areas is highly competitive with respect to virtually all products and services In California generally and in our

service areas specifically branches of major banks dominate the commercial banking industry Such banks have

substantially greater lending limits than we have offer certain services we cannot offer directly and often operate

with economies of scale that result in relatively low operating costs on per loan or per asset basis We also compete

with numerous financial and quasi-financial institutions for deposits and loans including providers of financial

services over the internet New technology and other changes are allowing parties to effectuate financial transactions

that previously required the involvement of banks For example consumers can maintain funds in brokerage

accounts or mutual funds that would have historically been held as bank deposits Consumers can also complete

transactions such as paying bills and transferring funds directly without the assistance of banks The
process

of

eliminating banks as intermediaries known as disintermediation could result in the loss of fee income as well as

the loss of customer deposits and the related income generated from those deposits The loss of these revenue

streams and access to lower cost deposits as source of funds could have material adverse effect on our financial

condition and results of operations

In addition with the increase in bank failures customers are increasingly concerned about the extent to which their

deposits are insured by the FDIC Customers may withdraw deposits in an effort to ensure that the amount they have

on deposit with their bank is fully insured Decreases in deposits may adversely affect our funding costs and net

income Ultimately competition can and does increase our cost of funds reduce loan yields and drive down our net

interest margin thereby reducing profitability It can also make it more difficult for us to continue to increase the

size of our loan portfolio and deposit base and could cause us to rely more heavily on wholesale borrowings which

are generally more expensive than deposits

If we are not able to successfully keep pace with technological changes affecting the industry our business

could be hurt The financial services industry is constantly undergoing technological change with the frequent

introduction of new technology-driven products and services The effective use of technology increases efficiency

and enables financial institutions to better service clients and reduce costs Our future success depends in part upon

our ability to respond to the needs of our clients by using technology to provide desired products and services and

create additional efficiencies within our operations Some of our competitors have substantially greater resources to

invest in technological improvements We may not be able to effectively implement new technology-driven products

and services or be successful in marketing these products and services to our clients Failure to successfully keep

pace with technological change in the financial services industry could have material adverse impact on our

business and in turn on our financial condition and results of operations

If our information systems were to experience system failure or breach in security our business and

reputation could suffer We rely heavily on communications and information systems to conduct our business The

computer systems and network infrastructure we use could be vulnerable to unforeseen problems Our operations are

dependent upon our ability to minimize seryice disruptions by protecting our computer equipment systems and

network infrastructure from physical damage due to fire power loss telecommunications failure or similar

catastrQphic event In addition we must be able to protect against unauthorized system breaches that could

jeopardize the security of customer information and other proprietary data We have protective measures in place to

prevent or limit the effect of the failure interruption or security breach of our information systems and will continue

to implement security technology and monitor and update operational procedures to prevent stich damage However

if such failures interruptions or security breaches were to occur they could result in damage to our reputation loss

of customers increased regulatory scrutiny or possible exposure to fmancial liability any of which could have

material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations

We are subject to variety of operational risks including reputational risk legal risk and compliance risk

and the risk of fraud or theft by employees or outsiders which may adversely affect our business and results of

operations We are exposed to many types of operational risks including reputational risk legal and compliance

risk the risk of fraud or theft by employees or outsiders and unauthorized.transactions by employees or operational

errors including clerical or record-keeping errors or those resulting from faulty or disabled computer or

telecommunications systems
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If personal non-public confidential or proprietary information of customers in our possession were to be mishandled

or misused we could suffer significant regulatory consequences reputational damage and financial loss Such

mishandling or misuse could occur for example if information were erroneously provided to parties who are not

permitted to have the information either by fault of our systems employees or countrparties or where such

information is intercepted or otherwise inappropriately taken by third parties

Because the nature of the financial services business involves high volume of transactions certain errors may be

repeated or compounded before they are discovered and successfllly rectified Our necessary dependence upon

automated systems to record and process transactions and our large transaction volume may further increase the risk

that technical flaws or employee tampering or manipulation of those systems could result in lossesthat are difficult to

detect We also may be subject to disruptions of our operating systems arising from events that are wholly or

partially beyond our control for example computer viruses or electrical or telecommunications outages or natural

disasters disease pandemics or other damage to property or physical assets which may give rise to disruption of

service to customers and to financial loss or liability We are further exposed to the risk that our external vendors

may be unable to fulfill their contractual obligations or will be subject to the same risk of fraud or operational errors

by their respective employees as we are and to the risk that we or our vendors business continuity and data

security systems prove to be inadequate The occurrence of any of these risks could result in diminished ability to

operate our business for example by requiring us to expend significant resources to correct the defect as well as

potential liability to clients reputational damage and regulatory intervention which could adversely affect our

business financial condition and results of operations perhaps materially

Recently enacted and potential further financial regulatory reforms iould have significant impact on our

business financial condition and results of operations The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer

Protection Act was enacted in July 2010 Dodd-Frank is expected to have broad impact on the fmancial services

industry including significant regulatory and compliance changes Many of the requirements called for in Dodd-

Frank will be implemented over time and most will be subject to implementing regulations over the course of several

years Given the uncertainty associated with the manner in which the provisions of Dodd-Frank will be implemented

by the various regulatory agencies and through regulations the full extent of the impact these requirements will have

on our operations is unclear The changes resulting from Dodd-Frank may impact the profitability of business

activities require changes to certain business practices impose more stringent capital liquidity and leverage

requirements or otherwise adversely affect our business In particular the potential impact of DoddFrank on our

operations and activities both currently and prospectively include among others

an increase in the cost of operations due to greater regulatory oversight supervision and examination of

banks and bank holding companies and higher deposit insurance premiums

the limitation of our ability to expand consumer product and service offerings due to anticipated stricter

consumer protection laws and regulations

material negative impact on our cost of funds when market interest rates increase if pursuant to -the

authorization for financial institutions to pay interest on business checking accounts we decide to offer

such product on broad scale fur competitive reasons

potential reduction in fee income due to limits on interchange fees applieable to larger institutions

which could ultimately lead to competitive-driven reduction in the feeswe charge

potential increase in competition due to the elimination of remaining barriers to de novo interstate

branching and

the limitation of our ability to raise new capital through the use of trust preferred securities as any new

issuances of these securities are not includible as Tier capital

Further we may be required to invest significant management attention and resources to evaluate and make any

changes necessary to comply with new statutory and regulatory requirements under the Dodd-Frank Act which may

negatively impact results of operations and financial condition

Additionally we cannot predict whether there will be additional laws or reforms that would affect theU.S financial

system br financial institutions when such changes may be adopted how such changes may be interpreted and

enforced or how such changes may affect us However the costs of complying with any additional laws or

regulations could have material adverse effect oh our financial condition and results of operations
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We may be adversely affected by the soundness of other financial institutions Our ability to engage in routine

funding transactions could be adversely affected by the actions and liquidity of other financial institutions Financial

institutions are often interconnected as result of trading4 clearing counterparty or other business relationships We
have exposure to many different industries and counterparties and routinely execute transactions with counterparties

in the financial services industry including commercial banks brokers and dealers investment banks and other

institutional clients Many of these transactions expose us to credit risk in the event of default by counterparty or

client In addition that credit risk may be exacerbated when collateral held by us cannot be liquidated at prices

sufficient to recover the full amount of the credit or derivative exposure due to us Any such losses could adversely

affect our business financial condition or results of operations

Changes in interest rates could adversely affect our profitability business and prospects Banking companies

earnings depend largely on the relationship between the cost of funds primarily deposits and borrowings and the

yield on earning assets such as loans and iiivestment securities That relationship known as the interest rate spread

is subject to fluctuation and is affected by the monetary policies of the Federal Reserve Board and the international

interest rate environment as well as by economic regulatory and competitive factors which influence interest rates

the volume and mix of interest earning assets and interest bearing liabilities and the level of nonperforming assets

Many of these factors are beyond our control We are subject to interest rate risk to the degree that our interest

bearing liabilities re-price or mature more slowly or more rapidly or on different basis than our interest earning

assets For example if the rate of interest we pay on interest-bearing deposits borrowings and other liabilities

increases more than the rate of interest we receive on loans securities and other interest-earning assets our net

interest income and therefore our earnings could be adversely affected Our earnings could also be adversely affected

if the rates on our loans and other investments fall more quickly than those on our deposits and other liabilities

In addition fluctuations in interest rates can affect the demand of customers for products apd services and an

increase in the general level of interest rates may adversely affect the ability of certain borrowers to make variable-

rate loan payments as they adjust upward Accordingly changes in market interest rates could materially and

adversely affect our net interest spread asset quality loan origination volume business financial condition results

of operations and cash flows

We depend on our executive officers and key personnel to implement our business strategy and could be

harmed by the loss of their services We believe that our continued growth and success depends in large part upon

the skills of our management team and other key personnel The competition for qualified personnel in the financial

services industry is intense and the loss of key personnel or an inability to continue to attract retain or motivate key

personnel could adversely affect our business If we are not able to retain our existing key personnel or attract

additional qualified personnel our business operations would be hurt None of our executive officers have

employment agreements

The value of securities in our investment securities portfolio may be negatively affected by continued

disruptions in securities markets The market for some of the investment securities held in our portfolio has

experienced volatility and disruption for the last several years These market conditions may have detrimental

effect on the value of our securities such as reduced valuations because of the perception of heightened credit risks

or due to illiquid markets for certain securities There can be no assurance that the declines in market value

associated with these disruptions will not result in other-thantemporary impairments of these assets which would

lead to accounting charges that could have material adverse effect on our results of operations and capital levels

We are exposed to risk of environmental liabilities with respect to properties to which we obtain title

Approximately 76% of our loan portfolio at December31 2011 was secured by real estate In the normal course of

business we may foreclose and take title to real estate4 and could be subject to environmental liabilities with respect

to these properties We may be held liable to governmental entity or to third parties for property damage personal

injury investigation and clean-up costs incurred by these parties in connection with environmental contamination or

may be required to investigate or clean up hazardous or toxic substances or chemical releases at property The

costs associated with investigation or remediation activities could be substantial In addition if we are the owner or

former owner of contaminated site we may be subject to common law claims by third parties based on damages

and costs resulting from environmental contamination emanating from the property These costs and claims could

adversely affect our business and prospects
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The recent repeal of federal prohibitions on payment of interest on demand deposits could increase our

interest expense All federal prohibitions on the ability of financial institutions to pay interest on demand deposit

accounts were repealed as part of the Dodd-Frank Act As result beginning on July 21 2011 financial institutions

were allowed to offer interest on demand deposits to compete for clients Because of the current low interest rate

enviromnent the rates offered by competing financial institutions have ilot posed competitive threat to our

business However in the event of rising interest rates or irrational competition our interest expense will increase

and our net interest margin will decrease if we actively market an interest-bearing demand deposit account to attract

additional customers or retain current customers which could have material adverse effect on our business

financial condition and results of operations

Risks Related to our Common Stock

The price of our common stock may fluctuate significantly and this may make it difficult for you to sell shares

of common stock at times or at prices you find attractive The trading price of our common stock may fluctuate

widely as result of number of factors many of which are outside our control In addition the stock market is

subject to fluctuations in share prices and trading volumes that affect the market prices of the shares of many

companies These broad.market fluctuations could adversely affect the market price of our common stock Among
the factors that could affect our common stock price in the future are

actual or anticipated fluctuations in our reported operating results and financial condition

changes in revenue or earnings estimates or publication of research reports and recommendations by

financial analysts

failure to meet analysts revenue or earnings estimates

speculation in the press or investment community

strategic actions by us or our competitors such as acquisitions or restructurings

acquisitions of other banks or financial institutions through FDIC-assisted transactions or otherwise

actions by shareholders

fluctuations in the stock price trading volumes and operating results of our competitors

general market conditions and in particular market conditions for the financial services industry

fluctuations in the stock prices and/or operating results of our pompetitors

proposed or adopted regulatQry changes or developments

formal regulatory action against us

anticipated or pending investigations proceedings or litigation that involve or affect us and

domestic and international economic factors unrelated to our performance

The stock market and in particular the market for financial institution stocks has experienced significant volatility

in recent years As result the market price of our common stock has been and could continue to be volatile In

addition the trading volume in our common stock may fluctuate more than usual and cause significant price

variations to occur The trading price of the shares of our common stock also depends on many other factors which

may change from time to time including without limitation our financial condition performance creditworthiness

and prospects future sales of our equity or equity related securities and other factors identified elsewhere in this

report The capital and credit markets have been experiencing volatility and disruption for several years at times

reaching unprecedented levels In some cases the markets have produced downward pressure on stock prices and

credit availability for certain issuers without regard to the issuers underlying fmancial strength

We may pursue additional capital in the future which may not be available on acceptable terms or at all

could dilute the holders of our outstanding common stock and may adversely affect the market price of our

common stock Our ability to raise additional capital if needed will depend on among other things conditions in

the capital markets at the time which are outside of our control and our fihancial performance We cannot provide

any assurance that such capital will be available to us on acceptable terms or at all Any such capital raising

alternatives could dilute the holders of our outstanding common stock and may adversely affect the market price of

our common stock and our performance measures such as earnings per share

The Company relies heavily on the payment of dividends titom the Bank Other than $5.4 million in cash

available at the holding company level at December 31 2011 the Companys ability to meet debt service
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requirements and to pay dividends depends on the Banks ability to pay dividends to the Company as it has no other

source of significant income However the Bank is subject to regulations limiting the amount of dividends it may

pay For example the payment of dividends by the Bank is affected by the requirement to maintain adequate capital

pursuant to the capital adequacy guidelines issued by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation All banks and bank

holding companies are required to maintain minimum ratio of qualifying total capital to total risk-weighted assets of

8% at least one-half of which must be in the form of Tier capital and ratio of Tier capital to average adjusted

assets of 4% If any of these required ratios are increased iithe total risk-weighted assets of the Bank increase

significantly and/or iii the Banks income declines significantly the Banks Board of Directors may decide or be

required to retain greater portion of the Banks earnings to achieve and maintain the required capital or asset ratios

This will reduce the amount of funds available for the payment of dividends by the Bank to the Company Further in

some cases one or more of the Banks regulators could prohibit the Bank from paying dividends if in their view

such payments would constitute unsafe or unsound banking practices The Banks ability to pay dividends to the

Company is also limited by the California Financial Code Whether dividends are paid and their frequency and

amount will also depend on the financial condition and performance of the Bank and the discretion of the Banks

Board of Directors Information concerning the Companys dividend policy and historical dividend practices is set

forth below under Dividend Policy However no assurance can be given that our future performance will justify

the payment of dividends in any particular year

You may not be able to sell your shares at the times and in the amounts you want if the trading market for our

stock is not active Although our stock has been listed on NASDAQ for many years trading in our stock does not

consistently occur in high volumes and cannot always be characterized as an active trading market The limited

trading market for our common stock may exaggerate fluctuations in the value of our common stock leading to price

volatility in excess of that which would occur in more active trading market Future sales of substantial amounts of

common stock in the public market or the perception that such sales may occur could also adversely affect the

prevailing market price of our common stock

Your investment may be diluted because of the ability of management to offer stock to others and stock

options The shares of our common stock do not have preemptive rights This means that you may not be entitled to

buy additional shares if shares are offered to others in the future We are authorized to issue 24000000 shares of

common stock and as of December 31 2011 we had 14101609 shares of our common stock outstanding Except

for certain limitations imposed by NASDAQ nothing restricts managements ability to offer additional shares of

stock for fair value to others in the future Any issuances of common stock would dilute our shareholders ownership

interests and may dilute the
per

share book value of our common stock In addition when our directors executive

officers and key employees exercise any of their stock options your ownership in the Company will be diluted As

of December 31 2011 there were outstanding options to purchase an aggregate of 810020 shares of our common

stock with an average exercise price of $14.97 per share At the same date there were an additional 871920 shares

available for grant under our 2007 Stock Incentive Plan

Shares of our preferred stock issued in the future could have dilutive and other effects on our common stock

Our Articles of Incorporation authorize us to issue 10000000 shares of preferred stock none of which is presently

outstanding Although our Board of Directors has no present intent to authorize the issuance of shares of preferred

stock such shares could be authorized in the future If such shares of preferred stock are made convertible into

shares of common stock there could be dilutive effect on the shares of common stock then outstanding In

addition shares of preferred stock may be provided preference over holders of common stock upon our liquidation

or with respect to the payment of dividends in respect of voting rights or in the redemption of our common stock

The rights preferences privileges and restrictions applicable to any series or preferred stock would be determined by

resolution of our Board of Directors

The holders of our debentures have rights that are senior to those of our shareholders In 2004 we issued

$15464000 of junior subordinated debt securities due March 17 2034 and in 2006 we issued an additional

$15464000 of junior subordinated debt securities due September 23 2036 in order to raise additional regulatory

capital These junior subordinated debt securities are senior to the shares of our common stock As result we must

make interest payments on the debentures before any dividends can be paid on our common stock and in the event of

our bankruptcy dissolution or liquidation the holders of the debt securities must be paid in full before any

distributions may be made to the holders of our common stock In addition we have the right to defer interest
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payments on the junior subordinated debt securities for up to five years during which time no dividends may be paid

to holders of our common stock In the event that the Bank is unable to pay dividends to us then we may be unable

to pay the amounts due to the holders of the junior subordinated debt securities and thus we would be unable to

declare and pay any dividends on our common stock

Provisions in our articles of incorporation could delay or prevent changes in control of our corporation or our

management Our articles of incorporation contain provisions for staggered terms of office for members of the

board of directors no cumulative voting in the election of directors and the requirement that our board of directors

consider the potential social and economic effects on our employees depositors customers and the communities we

serve as well as certain other factors when evaluatiitg possible tender offer merger or other acquisition of the

Company These provisions make it more difficUlt for another company to acquire us which could cause our share

holders to lose an opportunity to be paid premium for their shares in an acquisition transaction and reduce the cur

rent and future market price of our common stock

ITEM lB UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

Not applicable

ITEM PROPERTIES

The Companys administrative headquarters is located at 86 North Main Street Porterville California in 37000

square feet three-story office building of which the Company is sole occupant The Company purchased this office

building in December 2011 in cash transaction from parties unrelated to the Company The Companys main

office is located at 90 Main Street Porterville California adjacent to its administrative headquarters and it con
sists of one-story brick building that sits upon unencumbered property owned by the Company The Company also

owns unencumbered property on which 14 of its other offices are located namely the following branches Porterville

West Olive Bakersfield Ming California City Dinuba Exeter Farmersville Fresno Shaw Hanford Lindsay

Tehachapi Downtown Tehachapi Old Town Three Rivers Tulare and Visalia Mooney The remaining branches are

all leased from unrelated parties In addition the Company operates technology center in Porterville which consists

of approximately 12000 square feet in freestanding single-story building that is leased from unrelated parties and

the Bank has eight remote ATM locations leased from unrelated parties While limited branch expansion is planned

over the course of the next few years management believes that existing back office facilities are adequate to

accommodate the Companys operations for the immediately foreseeable future

ITEM LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time the Company is party to claims and legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business

After taking into consideration information furnished by counsel to the Company as to the current status of these

claims or proceedings to which the Company is party management is of the opinion that the ultimate aggregate lia

bility represented thereby if any will not have material adverse affect on the financial condition of the Company

ITEM RESERVED

PART II

ITEM MARKET FOR REGISTRANTS COMMON EQUITY RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS
AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

Sierra Bancorps Common Stock trades on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol BSRR and the

CUSIP number for our stock is 82620P 102 Trading in the Common Stock of the Company has not consistently

occurred in high volumes and such trading activity cannot always be characterized as constituting an active trading

market The following table summarizes trades of the Companys Common Stock setting forth the approximate high
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and low sales prices and volume of trading for the periods indicated based upon information provided by public

sources

Sale Price of the Companys Approximate

Calendar Common Stock per share Trading Volume

Ouarter Ended In Shares

March3l2010 $13.73 $7.18 1898909

June3O2010 $14.12 $11.49 1871420

September 30 2010 $12.50 $10.81 1605491

December3l2010 $13.10 $10.06 1916775

March3l2011 $11.20 $10.38 1444602

June3O2011 $11.73 $10.58 1233723

September 30 2011 $11.70 $8.47 1499721

December 31 2011 $11.49 $8.51 1744827

Holders

As of February 2012 there were approximately 4176 shareholders of the Companys Common Stock Per our

stock transfer agent there were 577 registered holders of record and per Broadridge au investor communication

company there were approximately 3599 beneficial holders with shares being held under street name on that date

including objecting beneficial owners whose names and addresses are unavailable

Dividends

The Company paid cash dividends totaling $3.4 million or $0.24 per share in 2011 and $2.9 million or $0.24 per
share in 2010 representing 43% of annual net earnings for dividends paid in 2011 and 40% in 2010 The Companys
general dividend policy is to pay cash dividends within the range of typical peef payout ratios pthvidºd that such

payments do not adversely affect the Companys financial condition and are not overly restrictive to its growth

capacity While many of our peers have elected to suspend dividend payments at least temporarily the Companys
Board has concluded that certain level of dividend should be maintained as long as our core operating performance
remains adequate and policy or regulatory restrictions do not preclude such payments That said in an effort to con
serve capital in an uncertain environment and maintain rational dividend payout ratio our quarterly per-share divi

dend was reduced in 2009 and lowered again in 2010 While we maintained consistent level of quarterly dividends

in 2011 no assurance can be given that our financial performance in any given yeai will justify the continued pay
ment of cash dividend As bank holding company that currently has no signiant assets other than its equity

interest in the Bank the Companys ability to declare dividends depends primarily upon current levels of cash on

hand as supplemented by dividends it might receive from the Bank The Banks dividend practices in turn depónd

upon the Banks earnings financial position current and anticipated capital requirements and other factors deemed
relevant by the Banks Board of Directors at that tine The power of the Banks Board of Directors to declare cash

dividends is also subject to statutory and regulatory restrictions Under California banking law the Bank may dec

lare dividends in an amount not exceeding the lesser of its retained earnings or its net income for the last three years

reduced by dividends paid during such period or with the prior approval ofthe California Commissioner of Finan

cial Institutions in an amount not exceeding the greatest of the retained earnings of the Bank ii the net income

of the Bank for its last fiscal year or iii the net income of the Bank for its current fiscal year The payment of any

cash dividends by the Bank will depend not only upon the Banks earnings during specified period but also on the

Bank meeting certain regulatory capital requirements

The Companys ability to pay dividends is also limited by state corporation law The California General Corporation

Law allows California corporation to pay dividends if the companys retained earnings equal at least the amount of

the proposed diyidend If California coporation does not have sufficient retained earnings available for the pro

posed dividend it may still pay dividend to its shareholders if immediately after the dividend the sum of the torn

pany assets exclusive of.goodwill and deferred charges would be at least equal to 125% of its liabilities not in

cluding deferred taxes deferred income and other deferred liabilities and the current assets of the company would be

at least equal to its current liabilities or if the average of its earnings before taxes on income and before interest ex

pense for the two preceding fiscal
years was less than the average of its interest expense for the two preceding fiscal
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years at least equal to 125% of its current liabilities In addition during any period in which the Company has de

ferred payment of interest otherwise due and payable on its subordinated debt securities it may not make any divi

dends or distributions with respect to its capital stock see Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Finan

cial Condition and Results of Operations Capital Resources

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

The following table provides information as of December 31 2011 with respect to options outstanding and available

under our 2007 Stock Incentive Plan and the now-terminated 1998 Stock Option Plan which are our only equity

compensation plans other than an employee benefit plan meeting the qualification requirements of Section 401a of

the Internal Revenue Code

Number of Securities Weighted-Average Exercise Number of Securities

to be Issued Upon Exercise Price of Remaining Available

of Outstandinu Outions Outstandina ODtions for Future IssuancePlan Cateisorv

Equity compensation plans

approved by security holders 810020 $14.97 871920

Performance Graph

The following is five-year performance graph comparing the total cumulative shareholder return on the Companys

common stock to the cumulative total returns of the NASDAQ Composite Index broad equity market index the

SNL Bank Index and the SNL $1 billion to $5 billion asset size Bank Index the latter two qualifying as peer bank

indices assuming $100 investment on December 31 2006 and reinvestment of dividends

Total Return Performance

12/31/06 12/31/07 12/31/08 12/31/09 12/31/10

Period Ending

Index 12/31/06 12/31107 12131/08 12131109 12131/10 12/31/11

12/31/11

Source SNL Financial LC Charlottesville VA

sierra ancorp 100.00 b.Tb 1.b1 .49 40.91 34.31

NASOAQ Composite 100.00 110.66 66.42 96.54 114.06 113.16

SNL Bank $1B-$5B 100.00 72.84 60.42 43.31 49.09 44.77

SNL Bank 100.00 77.71 44.34 43.88 49.17 38.06
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Stock Repurchases

The Company has non-expiring stock repurchase program that became effective July 2003 under which all share

repurchases are executed in accordance with SEC Rule lOb-18 Of the aggregate 1250000 shares authorized for

repurchase since the effective date of the plan there were 100669 shares remaining available for repurchase as of

December 31 2011 There were no stock repurchases during the fourth quarter of 2011

ITEM SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table presents selected historical financial infonnation concerning the Company which should be read

in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial statements including the related notes and Managements
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations included elsewhere herein The selected

financial data as of December 31 2011 and 2010 and for each of the years in the three year period ended December

31 2011 is derived from our audited consolidated financial statements and related notes which are included in this

Annual Report The selected financial data presented for earlier years is derived from our audited financial state

ments which are not included in this Annual Report Throughout this Annual Report information is for the consoli

dated Company unless otherwise stated
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Selected Financial Data

Dollars in thousands except per share data

Income Statement Summary
Interest income

Interest expense

Net interest income before provisioI1 for

loan losses

Provision for loan losses

Non-interest income

Non-interest expense

Income before provision for income taxes

Provision for income taxes

Net Income

Foreclosed Assets

As of and for the years ended December 31

52957 56182

12000 16680

14646 17861

47259 50234

8344 7129

564 234
7780 7363

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

58614 63831 70146 77938 87816

5657 7649 12177 21329 31435

57969 56609 56381

21574 19456 3252

Balance Sheet Summary
Total loans net

Allowance for loan losses

Securities available for sale

Cash and due from banks

Federal funds sold

15987

35859

17281

3868

13413

14635

35981

31783

10761

21022

17279

44138

9536

608

8928

859875

23715
278168

66234

25654

20069

1194700

1335549

953156

1125432

1201069

134480

740929

17283
406471

63036

15364

20721

1185647

1335405

852308

1086268

1166841

168564

783601

21138
331730

42435

210

20691

20190

1137805

1286571

860944

1052274

1126974

159597

Premises and equipment net

Total Interest-Earning assets

Total Assets

Total Interest-Bearing liabilities

Total Deposits

Total Liabilities

Total Shareholders Equity

Per Share Data

Net Income Per Basic Share

Net Income Per Diluted Share

Book Value

Cash Dividends

Weighted Averape Common Shares Outstanding Basic

Weighted Avera Common Shares Outstanding Diluted

Key Operating Ratios

Performance Ratios

Return on Avera Equity

Return on Avera Assets

929629 909312

15094 12276
243413 184917

46010 44022

5500

7127 556

19280 18255

1200603 1109600

1326292 1233735

974177 874393

1061498 850147

1219492 1134271

106800 99464

0.55 0.61 0.86 1.40 2.17

0.55 0.60 0.86 1.37 2.09

11.95 11.42 11.57 11.04 10.39

0.24 0.24 0.40 0.68 0.62

14036667 12109717 10343502 9607184 9700048

14085201 12192345 10415084 9779657 10044915

4.73% 5.16% 7.56% 12.86% 22.28%

0.59% 0.56% 0.68% 1.05% 1.74%

Net Interest Spread tax-equivalent 4.4 1% 4.72% 4.74% 4.52% 4.45%

Net Interest Margin tax-equivalent 4.59% 4.90% 5.00% 4.98% 5.28%

Dividend Payout Ratio 43.29% 39.86% 46.76% 48.73% 28.64%

Equity to Assets Ratio 12.37% 10.82% 9.03% 8.12% 7.79%

Efficiency Ratio tax-equivalent 67.67% 66.64% 57.69% 48.73% 49.36%

Net Loans to Total Deposits at Period End 68.2 1% 74.47% 76.40% 87.58% 106.96%

Asset Quality Ratios

Non-Performing Loans to Total Loans 7.39% 5.70% 5.3 1% 3.15% 0.98%

Non-Performing Assets to Total Loans and

Other Real Estate Owned 9.23% 8.07% 7.98% 3.87% 1.04%

Net Char-offs recoveries to Avera Loans 2.06% 2.26% 1.40% 1.79% 0.28%

Allowance for Loan Losses to

Net Loans at Period End 2.33% 2.70% 2.76% 1.62% 1.35%

Allowance for Loan Losses to Non-Performing Loans 30.80% 46.00% 50.49% 50.67% 135.62%

Capital Ratios

Tier Capital to Adjusted Total Assets 14.11% 13.84% 11.91% 9.92% 10.22%

Tier Capital to Total Risk-weighted Assets 20.46% 19.06% 15.41% 12.34% 12.11%

Total Capital to Total Risk-weighted Assets 21.72% 20.33% 16.67% 13.59% 13.33%

Net income divided by avera shareholders equity

Net income divided by avera total assets

Represents the avera rate earned on interest-earning assets less the avera rate paid on interest-bearing liabilities

Total dividends paid divided by net income

Averape equity divided by avera total assets
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ITEM MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

This discussion presents Managements analysis of the financial condition of the Company as of December 31 2011

and December 31 2010 and the results of operations for each of the years in the three-year period ended December

31 2011 The discussion should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company

and the Notes related thereto presented elsewhere in this Form 10-K Annual Report see Item below

Statements contained in this report or incorporated by reference that are not purely historical are forward looking

statements within the meaning of Section 21 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended including the

Companys expectations intentions beliefs or strategies regarding the future All forward-looking statements con

cerning economic conditions growth rates income expenses or other values which are included in this document

are based on information available to the Company on the date noted and the Company assumes no obligation to

update any such forward-looking statements It is important to note that the Companys actual results could materi-

ally differ from those in such forward-looking statements Risk factors that could cause actual results to differ mate

rially from those in forward-looking statements include but are not limited to those outlined previously in Item

Critical Accountin2 Policies

The Companys financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the

United States The financial information and disclosures contained within those statements are significantly im

pacted by Managements estimates and judgments which are based on historical experience and various other

assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under current circumstances Actual results may differ from those

estimates under divergent conditions

Critical accounting policies are those that involve the most complex and subjective decisions and assessments and

have the greatest potential impact on the Companys stated results of operations In Managements opinion the

Companys critical accounting policies deal with the following areas the establishment of the Companys allowance

for loan losses as explained in detail in Note to the consolidated financial statements and in the Provision for

Loan Losses and Allowance for Loan and Lease Losses sections of this discussion and analysis the valuation of

impaired loans and foreclosed assets as discussed in Note to the consolidated financial statements income taxes

and deferred tax assets and liabilities especially with regard to the ability of the Company to recover deferred tax

assets as discussed in the Provision for Income Taxes and Other Assets sections of this discussion and analysis

goodwill which is evaluated annually for impairment based on the fair value of the Company and for which it has

been determined that no impairment exists as discussed in Note to the consolidated financial statements and in the

Other Assets section of this discussion and analysis and equity-based compensation which is discussed in greater

detail in Note to the consolidated financial statements contained herein Critical accounting areas are evaluated on

an ongoing basis to ensure that the Companys financial statements incorporate the most recent expectations with

regard to these areas

Summary of Performance

There are signs of improvement in the national economy and in certain regions of California but the economy in our

market areas remains under considerable stress In fact recessionary conditions have led to higher credit costs

declining loan balances and associated earnings pressures at the Company for the past four years Industry-wide

regulatory pressures on certain components of non-interest income have exacerbated the negative impact of economic

conditions on our financial performance The Company recognized net income of $7.780 million in 2011 relative to

$7.3 63 million in 2010 representing the first year-over-year increase in net income since 2007 but still well below

levels achieved in pre-recession years Net income per diluted share was $0.55 for 2011 as compared to $0.60 in

2010 and $0.86 in 2009 The Companys return on average assets was 0.59% and return on average equity was

4.73% in 2011 as compared to 0.56% and 5A6% respectively in 2010 and 0.68% and 7.56% respectively for 2009

The following are major factors impacting the Companys results of operations in recent years
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Net interest income declined by $3.225 million or 6% in 2011 relative to 2010 and reflects decrease of

$1.787 million or 3% in 2010 relative to 2009 The decline in 2011 is the result of 31 basis point net inter

est margin decline partially offset by $12 million increase in average interest-earning assets while the decline

in 2010 is due to 10 basis point slide in our net interest margin and an $11 million drop in the average balance

of interest-earning assets Our net interest margin has been negatively impacted in recent years by shift from

average loan balances into lower-yielding investment balances higher average balances fur non-accruing loans

and other non-earning assets lower loan yields resulting from increased competition for quality loans and

relatively high level of interest reversals on loans placed on non-accrual status

Our provision for loan losses was $12.000 million in 2011 which is lower than in the three prior years but

still much higher than in pre-recession years Our loan loss provision was 816.680 miffion in 2010 and

$2 1.574 million in 2009 In 2011 and 2010 the loan loss provision was utilized to establish specific reserves for

impaired loans that migrated into impaired status replenish reserves subsequent to loan charge-offs and build

general reserves for performing loans due to higher historical loss factors The principal reason for the relatively

high loan loss provision in 2009 was rising level of impaired loans requiring greater specific reserves

Non-interest income declined by $3.215 mfflion or 18% in 2011 relative to 2010 but increased by

$582000 or 3% in 2010 over 2009 lower level of gains on the sale of investments an other-than-temporary

impairment charge recorded on equity investment securities and sizeable drop in overdraft fee income were the

primary contributors to the decline in 2011 although those negative factors were partially offset by lower net

loss on the sale of OREO For 2010 higher level of losses on the sale of OREO and lower level of deposit

service charges had an unfavorable impact on the level of non-interest income relative to the prior year but these

negatives were more than offset by an increase in gains on the sale of investment securities higher level of

check card interchange fees and lower level of pass-through losses on our low-income housing tax credit

investments

Operating expense declined by 82.975 million or 6% in 2011 relative to 2010 but increased by 86.096

million or 14% in 2010 relative to 2009 The decline in 2011 is mainly due to lower level of OREO write-

downs and OREO operating expense as well as lower FDIC assessments The majority of the increase in 2010

was in ORBO write-downs OREO operating expense and compensation expense which were partially offset by

drop in FDIC costs

The Company had tax provision of $564000 or 7% of pre-tax income in 2011 but we experienced

negative income tax provision in 2010 The higher tax accrual in 2011 is primarily the result of drop in tax-

exempt BOLT income and an increase in taxable income relative to the Companys available tax credits The

negative provision in 2010 was the result of high level of tax credits relative to our tax liability Tax credits in
clude those related to investments in low-income housing tax credit funds as well as enterprise zone credits

The Companys assets totaled $1.335 billion at December 31 2011 relative to total assets of $1.287 billion at

December 31 2010 Total liabilities were $l.167 billion at the end of 2011 compared to $1.127 billion at the end of

2010 and we had shareholders equity totaling $169 million at December 31 2011 relative to $160 million at

December 31 2010 The following summarizes key balance sheet changes during 2011

Total assets increased by $49 million or 4% Investment securities fed funds sold cash and balances due

from banks were up by combined $95 million or 25% but that growth was partly offset by drop of $42

million or 5% in net loan balances and foreclosed assets were also reduced by net $5 million or 26% in

2011 Runoff in the normal course of business prepayments transfers to OREO and charge-offs have reduced

loan balances in recent periods and weak loan demand from quality borrowers and aggressive competition have

hindered the Companys ability to counteract that contraction

Our allowance for loan and lease losses was $17.3 million as ofDecember 31 2011 which represents

drop of $3.9 million relative to the balance at December 31 2010 This contra-asset account is increased by
the amount of the loan loss provision and decreased by the amount of net loan charge-offs We experienced net

charge-offs totaling $15 .855 million in 2011 Since sizeable portion of those charge-offs were against reserves

that had been established in prior periods for specifically-identified losses on certain impaired loans net charge
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offs exceeded the $12.000 million provision for loan losses in 2011 and the allowance declined Our allowance

also fell to 2.28% of total loans at December 31 2011 from 2.62% at December 31 2010

Nonprforming assets ended 2011 with balance of $71 million an increase of $5 million or 7% for the

year but still well below the peak balance of $80 million reported at September 30 2009 The balance of

non-performing assets had been trending down for most of 2011 but ultimately increased due to some large

additions to non-accruing loans in the fourth quarter The net increase for the year is comprised of $10 million

increase in loans on non-accrual status partially offset by $5 million reduction in foreclosed assets

Nonperforming assets also increased as percentage of total loans plus OREO to 9.23% at December 31 2011

from 8.07% at December 31 2010

Total deposits increased by $34 million or 3% during 2011 and non-maturity deposits were up $57

million or 8% for the year Non-maturity deposits increased due in part to aggressive deposit acquisition pro

grams and an intensified focus on business relationships Total deposits did not increase to the same extent as

non-maturity deposits primarily because we have not aggressively pursued the renewal of certain time depQsits

managed by our Treasury Department

Total shareholders equity increased by $9 million or 6% during the year Our capital ratios continued

their upward trend during 2011 as well and as of December 31 2011 our consolidated total risk-based capital

ratio was 21.72% our Tier risk-based capital ratio was 20.46% and our Tier leverage ratio was 14.11%

Results of Operations

The Company earns income from two primary sources The first is net interest income which is interest income gen
erated by earning assets less interest expense on deposits and other borrowed money The second is non-interest

income which primarily consists of customer service charges and fees but also comes from non-customer sources

such as bank-owned life insurance The majority of the Companys non-interest expenses are operating costs that

relate to providing full range of banking services to our customers

Net Interest Income and Net Interest Margin

Net interest income was $52.957 million in 2011 compared to $56.182 million in 2010 and $57.969 million in 2009

This represents declines of 6% in 2011 and 3% in 2010 The level of net interest income depends on several factors

in combination including growth in earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities yields on earning assets the cost of

interest-bearing liabilities the relative volumes of earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities and the mix of prod

ucts which comprise the Companys earning assets deposits and other borrowed money Net interest income can

also be impacted by the reversal of interest for loans placed on non-accrual and by the recovery of interest on loans

that have been on non-accrual and are either sold or returned to accrual status

The following Distribution Rate and Yield table shows for each of the past three years the average balance for each

principal balance sheet category and the amount of interest income or interest expense associated with that category

This table also shows the calculated yields on each major component of the Companys investment and loan

portfolio the average rates paid on each key segment of the Companys interest-bearing liabilities and our net inter

est margin
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Distribution Rate Yield Year Ended December 31

doUars in thousands except per sharedata 2011 2010 2009

Avera Income Avera Ayera Income Avera Avera Income Averagr

Assets Ba1ance Expense Rate ie1d2 Ba1anc Expense Rat ield2 Balance Expense Rae ield2

25930 68 0.26% 14066 40 0.28% 10620 86 0.81%

319635 8732 2.73% 239926 8016 3.34% 187212 8234 4.40%

73108 2834 5.96% 68858 2709 605% 61274 2476 6.22%

1508 21 1.39% 1473 0.61% 1598 66 4.13%

420181 11655 3.14% 324323 10774 3.77% 260704 10862 4.68%

13847 648 4.68% 10137 517 5.10% 12409 631 5.09%

104293 624 5.97% 115188 6882 5.97% 141190 8217 5.82%

553063 3970 6.50% 612001 40669 6.65% 647099 44294 6.85%

39928 3731 9.34% 50522 4377 8.66% 61726 5265 8.53%

6723 386 5.74% 10835 612 5.65% 14835 877 5.91%

50047 0.00% 52609 kOO% 49067 0.00%

767901 46959 6.12% 851292 53057 623% 926326 59284 6.40%

1j88082 58614 5.06% 1175615 63831 555% 1187030 70146 6.02%

7735 8984 9361

133733 134552 111560

$1329550 $1319151 $1307951

24707 137 0.55% 0.00% 0.00%

179253 860 0.48% 178345 1682 0.94% 116112 569 0.49%

85568 203 0.24% 70367 174 0.25% 61377 167 0.27%

132208 506 0.38% 162619 914 0.56% 156110 1886 1.21%

36335 199 0.55% 70661 621 088% 137025 2204 161%

142753 1001 0.70% 162418 1283 0.79% 121644 1843 1.52%

204185 1223 060% 194220 1237 0.64% 203091 2136 1.05%

12986 176 1.36% 10885 210 1.93% 61886 1235 2.00%

817995 4305 0.53% 849515 6121 0.72% 857245 10040 1.17%

0.19% 0.32% 295 034%

2371 16 0.67% 0.00% 14909 35 0.23%

5637 39 0.69% 16044 190 1.18% 20140 389 1.93%

15000 569 3.79% 16041 604 3.77% 22000 798 3.63%

TRUPS 30928 728 2.35% 30928 734 2.37% 30928 914 2.96%

Total Borrowed Funds 53940 1352 2.51% 63016 1528 2.42% 88272 2137 2.42%

Total Interest BeanngLwbihties 871 935 5657 065% 912 531 7649 084% 945 517 12 177 29%

Non-intrest Bearing Demand Deposits 276363 246949 229974

OtherLiabilities 16744 16917 14301

Bqrowed Ftinds

Federal Funds Purchased

Repurchase Agreements

Short Term Borrowin

Long Term Borrowin

Shareholders Equity 164508

Total liabilities and Shareholders Equity $1329550

Interest Income/Interest Earning Assets

Interest Expense/Interest EamingAssets

Net Interest Income and Margin

5.06% 5.55% 6.02%

0.48% 0.65% 1.02%

$52957 4.59% $56182 4.90% $57969 5.00%

Averagr balances are obtained from the best available daily or monthly data and are net of deferred fees and related direct costs

Yields and net interest margin have been computed on tax equivalent basis

Loans are gross
of the allowance for

possible
loan losses Net loan fees have been included in the calculation of interest income Net loan Fees were

$635719 $491045 and $10921 for the
years

ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively

Non-accrual loans have been included in total loans for purposes of total interest
earning

assets

Represents net interest income as percenta of averagr interest-earning assets tax-equivalent

Inyestments

Federal funds sold/Due from time

Taxable

Non-taxable

Equity

Total Investments

Loans andJasest3

Agricultural

Commercial

Real Estate

Consumer

Direct Financing Leases

Other

Total Loans and Leases

Total Interest Earning Assets

Other Earning Assets

Non-EarningAssets

Total Assets

liabilities and Shareholders Equity

Interest Bearing Deposits

Demand Deposits

NOW

Savin Accounts

Money Market

CDARs

Certificates ofDeposit$l00000

Certificates ofDeposit$lOO000

Bmkered Deposits

Total Interest Bearing Deposits

142754

$1319151

118159

$1307951
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The Volume and Rate Variances table below sets forth the dollar difference in interest earned or paid for each major

category of interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities between the noted periods and the amount of such

change attributable to changes in average balances volume or changes in average interest rates Volume variances

are equal to the increase or decrease in average balance multiplied by prior period rates and rate variances are equal

to the increase or decrease in rate times prior period average balances Variances attributable to both rate and volume

changes are calculated by multiplying the change in rate by the change in average balance and have been allocated to

the rate variance

Volume Rate Variances

dollars in thousands

Assets

Investments

Federal funds sold Due from time

Taxable

Non-taxable

Equity

Total Investments

Loans and Leases

Agricultural

Commercial

Real Estate

Consumer

Direct Financing Leases

Other

Total Loans and Leases

Total Interest Earning Assets

Liabilities

Interest Bearing Deposits

Demand

NOW
Savings Accounts

Money Market

CDARs

Certificates of Deposit $100000

Certificates of Deposit $100000

Brokered Deposits

TotalInterest BearingDeposits

Borrowed Funds

Federal Fund Purchased

Repurchase Agreements

Short Term Borrowings

Long Term Borrowings

TRUPS

Total Borrowed Funds

Total Interest Bearing Liabilities

Net Interest Income

2011 over 2010

Increasedecrease due to

Volume Rate Net

34 28

2663 1947 716

167 42 125

12 12

2864 1983 881

189 58 131

651 658

3917 782 4699
918 272 646
232 226

5529 569 6098
$2665 $2552 $5217

137 137

831 822

38 29

171 237 408

302 120 422

155 127 282
63 77 14
41 75 34

477 1339 1816

16 16

123 28 151

39 35

162 14 176

639 1353 1992
$2026 $1l99 $3225

2010 over 2009

Increasedecrease due to

Yields on tax exempt income have not been computed on tax equivalent basis

As shown above the volume variance for 2011 relative to 2010 was negative $2.026 million despite the fact that

average interest-earning assets were $12 million higher The negative volume variance was primarily the result of an

Years Ended December 31

Volume Rate Net

28 74 46
2318 2536 218

306 73 233

52 57
2647 2735 88

116 114

1513 178 1335
2402 1223 3625

956 68 888

236 29 265

5223 1004 6227
$2576 $3739 $6315

-$
305 808 1113

24 17
79 1051 972

1067 516 1583
618 1178 560

93 806 899

1018 1025
1153 2766 3919

35 35
79 120 199

216 22 194

180 180

331 278 609

1484 3044 4528
$1092 695 $1787
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unfavorable shift in average earning asset balances We experienced an $83 million drop in average loans due to de

clining balances of relatively high-yielding real estate commercial and consumer loans and there was correspond

ing increase of $96 million in the average balance of investments including $12 million increase in overnight fed

funds sold and short-term interest-earning deposits in other banks which have yields that are significantly lower than

average loan yields Unfavorable changes in average asset balances were partially countered by positive swings in

average liability and equity balances We experienced movement out of time deposits and wholesale borrowings into

lower-cost non-maturity deposits for the comparative years including $29 million increase in the average balance

of non-interest bearing demand deposits $22 million increase in average equity resulting from our registered

direct offering in October 2010 and the addition of net income also helped reduced our reliance on interest-bearing

liabilities and thus helped limit the magnitude of the negative volume variance

The impact of interest rate changes on net interest income was also negative for 2011 over 2010 with an unfavorable

rate variance of $1.1 99 million There hasnt been significant change in market interest rates during the past year

but our weighted average yield on interest-earning assets was 49 basis points lower due primarily to the addition of

investment securities in relatively low-rate environment Also impacting our yield on earning assets were lower

real estate and agricultural loan yields which declined 15 basis points and 42 basis points respectively due to in

creased coripetition for quality loans In contrast to the large drop in our yield on average earning assets our

weighted average cost of interest-bearing liabilities was only 19 basis points lower due primarily to the re-pricing of

time deposits at maturity drop in the cost of NOW accounts coincidental with runoff in our online-only account

balances and an improving deposit mix The unfavorable rate variance is magnified by our sizeable net interest

position which is measured as the amount by which the balance of interest-earning assets exceeds interest-bearing

liabilities Our average net interest position was $263 million for 2010 the base period for the rate variance

calculation meaning that the yield decrease for interest-earning assets was applied to much higher balance than the

rate decrease for interest-bearing liabilities and had greater impact on net interest income Helping offset the nega
tive factors impacting the Companys rate variance were $41 million reduction in average interest-bearing liabilities

facilitated by increases in average non-interest bearing demand deposits and average equity and $3 million drop in

the average balance of nonperforming loans Furthermore net interest reversals were only $189000 in 2011 as com
pared to $566000 in 2il0

The Companys net interest margin which is tax-equivalent net interest income as percentage of average interest-

earning assets is affected by the same factors discussed above relative to rate and volume variances Our net interest

margin was 4.59% in 2011 decline of 31 basis points relative to 2010 The principle negative factors impacting

our net interest margin in 2011 were shift from average loan balances into lower-yielding investment balances and

lower loan yields resulting from increased competition for quality loans Having favorable effect on our net interest

margin were shift in average balances from higher-cost liabilities into lower-cost non-maturity deposits reduced

reliance on interest-bearing liabilities and drop in average non-accruing loan balances We expect that our net

interest margin could continue to experience slight contraction due to heightened competitive pressures on loan

yields and that effect will be exacerbated if the negative trends in outstanding loan balances and nonperforming

loans are not reversed

For 2010 relative to 2009 net interest income declined due to the fact that average interest-earning assets were $11

million lower and our net interest margin fell by 10 basis points The principal negative pressures on our net interest

margin in 2010 came from $418000 increase in net interest reversals and an unfavorable shift in average asset

balances Having positive impact for the 2010 over 2009 comparison were increases of $25 million in average

equity and $17 million in average non-interest bearing demand deposit balances which reduced our reliance on

interest-bearing liabilities

Provision for Loan and Lease Losses

Credit risk is inherent in the business of making loans The Company sets aside an allowance for loan and lease

losses contra-asset account through periodic charges to earnings which are reflected in the income statement as the

provision for loan and lease losses These charges are in amounts sufficient to achieve an allowance for loan and

lease losses that in managements judgment is adequate to absorb probabre loan losses related to specifically-

identified impaired loans as well as probable incurred loan losses in the remaining loan portfolio Specifically iden

tifiable and quantifiable losses are immediately charged off against the allowance The loan loss provision is also
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impacted by the level of loan charge-offs since charge-offs affect historical loss factors used in determining general

reserves in the allowance and could necessitate reserve replenishment Net loans charged off in 2011 totaled 15.855

million relative to $19.257 million in 2010 and $12.953 million in 2009 Charge-offs were higher in 2011 and 2010

because reserves that had been established in previous periods for specifically-identified losses on certain impaired

loans were determined to be uncollectible and written off The Companys policies for monitoring the adequacy of

the allowance and determining loan amounts that should be charged off and other detailed information with regard to

changes in the allowance are discussed below under Allowance for Loan and Lease Losses The process utilized

to establish an appropriate allowance for loan and lease losses can result in high degree of variability in the

Companys loan loss provision and consequently in our net earnings

Despite relatively high level of charge-offs the Companys loan loss provision was reduced by $4.680 million or

28% in 2011 relative to 2010 and was also reduced by $4.894 million or 23% in 2010 relative to 2009 since many
of the charge-offs in 2011 and 2010 were against reserves that were already reflected in the allowance at the

beginning of those respective years as noted above Our loan loss provision in 2011 and 2010 was primarily utilized

to provide specific reserves for loans that migrated into impaired status build general reserves for performing loans

due to higher historical loss factors and replenish reserves subsequent to loan charge-offs The principal reason for

the relatively high loan loss provision in 2009 was rising level of impaired loans requiring greater specific reserves

The severity of economic challenges has contributed to much higher provisions for the past four years than recorded

in prior periods of strong economic growth due to the negative impact of recessionary conditions on many of our

borrowers and the resulting credit challenges in our loan portfolio

Non-interest Revenue and Operating Expense

The following table sets forth the major components of the Companys non-interest revenue and operating expense

along with relevant ratios for the years indicated
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OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

The overhead efficiency ratio in the table above represents total operating expense divided by the sum of fully tax-

equivalent net interest and non-interest income with the provision for loan losses investment gains and losses and

other extraordinary gains and losses excluded from the equation Since total revenue declined by proportionately

greater amount than other operating expense in 2011 excluding investment gains and other extraordinary items our

efficiency ratio increased by 103 basis points relative to 2010 Our efficiency ratio rose by 895 basis points in 2010

in comparison to 2009 due to drop in revenue relative to large increase in operating expense

2011 of Total 2010 of Total 2009

Credit card fees

Checkcard fees

Other service charges and fees

Bank owned life insurance incOme

Gains on sales of loans

Non-Interest Revenue/Expense

Dollars in thousands

of Total

NON-INTEREST REVENUE

Service charges on deposit accounts 9543 65.16% 11212 62.77% 11552 66.86%

411 2.81% 391 2.19% 417 2.41%

2519 17.20% 2261 12.66% 1782 10.31%

2054 14.02% 2260 12.65% 2198 12.72%

934 6.38% 1382 7.74% 1561 9.03%

139 0.95% 105 0.59% 81 0.47%

Gain on sales investment securities 1660 11.33% 2643 14.80% 1099 6.36%

Other-than-temp oraiy impairment

losses on equity securities 1370 -9.36% 0.00% 0.00%

Loss on tax credit investThent 885 -6.04% 808 -4.2% 1443 -8i5%

Other 359 -2.45% 1585 -.88% 32 019%

Total non-interest income 14646 1OO.0Ob/o 17861 100.00% 17279 100.00%

As of average interest-earning assets 1.23% 1.52% 1.46%

20669 43.74% 20869 41.54% 18963 42.96%Salaries and employee benefits

Occupancy costs

Furniture and equipment 2366 5.01% 2406 4.79% 2638 5.98%

Premises 4392 9.29% 4634 9.23% 4311 9.77%

Advertising and marketing costs 2051 4.34% 1979 3.94% 1872 4.24%

Data processingcosts 1523 3.22% 1737 3.46% 1406 3.19%

Deposit services costs 2516 5.32% 2708 5.39% 2188 4.96%

Loan services costs

Loan processing 1082 2.29% 765 1.52% 961 2.17%

Other real estate owned 4880 10.33% 6168 12.28% 1827 4.14%

Other operating costs

Telephone and datacommunications 1291 2.73% 1156 2.30% 1107 2.51%

Postageandmail 576 1.22% 558 1.11% 501 1.13%

Other 886 1.87% 1059 2.11% 1040 2.36%

Professional services costs

Legel and accounting 1719 3.64% 1276 2.54% 1537 3.48%

Other professional services costs 2222 4.70% 3742 7.45% 4585 10.39%

Stationery and supply costs 705 1.49% 715 1.42% 675 1.53%

Sundry tellers 381 0.81% 462 0.92% 527 1.19%

Total other operatingexpense 47259 100.00% 50234 100.00% 44138 100.00%

As of average interest-earning assets 3.98% 4.27% 3.72%

Net non-interest income as of average interest-earning assets -2.75% -2.75% -2.26%

Efficiency ratio tax-equivalent 67.67% 66.64% 57.69%
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The Companys results reflect decline of $3 .215 million or 18% in non-interest income in 2011 relative to 2010

but an increase of $582000 or 3% for 2010 relative to 2009 While the primary reasons for these fluctuations are

discussed in greater detail below several items of non-recurring nature have impacted non-interest income over the

past few years For 2011 those items include $1 .660 million gain on the sale of investment securities $1 .370

million other-than-temporary impairment charge on equity investment securities and $451000 in net losses on the

sale of OREO In 2010 non-recurring items include $2.643 million in gains on investment securities net losses on

the disposition of foreclosed assets totaling 1.536 million and $238000 in losses incurred upon the disposition of

equipment that was acquired subsequent to the termination of operating leases In 2009 we had $L099 million in

gains on securities $204000 in losses on OREO sales and $66000 recovery on previously charged-off invest

ment in title insurance holding company Total non-interest revenue was 1.23% of average earning assets in 2011

relative to 1.52% in 2010 and 1.46% in 2009

The principal component of non-interest income service charges on deposit accounts fell by $1 .669 million or 15%

in 2011 over 2010 The drop was centered in overdraft income with returned item and overdraft charges falling by

1.892 million or 23% primarily as the result of procedural changes and fee adjustments implemented pursuant to

new consumer-focused legislation and updated regulatory guidelines on overdrafts Partially offsetting the decline in

overdraft income in 2011 were increases in fees recently implemented for higher risk deposit accounts totaling

$166000 in the fourth quarter and $169000 for the year in 2011 Deposit service charges declined by $340000 or

3% in 2010 relative to 2009 since the highest-impact portions of the aforementioned regulatory guidance and legis

lation became effective in the third and fourth quarters of 2010 The Companys ratio of service charge income to

average transaction account balances was 2.0% in 2011 down from 2.6% in 2010 and 3.3% in 2009

The next lineitem under non-interest revenue is credit card fees which consist primarily of credit card interchange

fees Despite the sale of all credit cardbalances in 2007 we still receive portion of the interchange and interest

from credit cards issued in our name Credit card fees increased by $20000 or 5% in 2011 relative to 2010 due to

an increase in consumer credit card usage but these fees fell by $26000 or .6% in 2010 relative to 2009 due to

drop in usage in difficult economic environment Credit card fees were 3% of total non-interest income in 2011 up

slightly from 2% in 2010 and 2009

Check card fees which represent interchange fees from electronic funds transactions EFT increased by $258000

or 11% in 2011 over 2010 and also increased by $479000 or 27% in.2010 relative to 2009 The increase is from

fees earned .on incremental cards issued in association with new retail deposit accounts as well as increased usage

per card Check card fees have been increasing as percentage of total non-interest revenue and the rising popular

ity of point-of-sale transactions leads us to believe that this access channel will likely continue to grow in importance

The number of active check cards now in use by personal and business account holders at the Bank is approximately

47000 up from about 45000 at the end of 2010 and 40000 at the end of 2009

Other service charges and fees also constitute large portion of non-interest income with the principal components

consisting of ATM fees from transactions not associated with deposit customers also referred to as foreign ATM

fees currency order fees other fees for merchant services and operating lease income This category is also where

rental income on OREO properties is reflected Other service charges commissions and fees declined by $206000

or 9% in 2011 over 2010 due to drop of $397000 or 70% in leasing income resulting from declining operating

lease balances which was partially offset by increases in merchant fees and foreign ATM fees There was nominal

increase in other service charges and fees in 2010 relative to 2009 due to increases in OREO rental income and

merchant fees

Bank-owned life insurance BOLl income declined by $448000 or 32% in 2011 relative.to 2010 and was also

down by $179000 or 11% in 2010 relative to 2009 These variances are primarily due to fluctuations in income on

separate account BOLl related to deferred compensation plans The Company owns and derives income from two

basic types of BOLl general account and separate account At December 31 2011 the Company had $34.9

million invested in single-premium general account BOLl .which includes $5 million investment consummated at

the end of the third quarter of 2011 Income from our general account BOLl is used to fund expenses associated with

executive salary continuation plans director retirement plans and other employee benefits General account BOLl

income is typically fairly consistent with interest credit rates that do not change frequently but the purchase of BOLl

at the end of September boosted general account BOLl income slightly in 2011 Moreover the exchange of select
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general account policies in 2009 generated one-time gain of approximately- $72000 which contributed to the

overall decline in BOLl income in 2010 relative to 2009 In addition to general account BOLT the Company had

$2.7 million invested in separate account BOLl at December 31 2011 the earnings on which help offset deferred

compensation accruals for certain directors and senior officers These deferred compensation accounts have returns

pegged to participant-directed investment allocations and are thus subject to gains or losses which often contribute to

significant fluctuations in income from period to period There was loss on separate account BOLl totaling

$92000 in 2011 relative to gain of $352000 in 2010 for total decline in separate account BOLl income of

$444000 for the comparative years The comparison for 2010 relative to 2009 also reflects drop of $111000 in

separate account BOLl income since the gain in 2010 was lower than the gain of $463000 in 2009 As noted gains

and losses on separate account BOLl are related to participant -gains and losses- on deferred compensation balances

Participant gains are accounted for as expense accruals which combined with their associated tax effect effectively

offset income on separate account BOLl while participant losses result in expense accrual reversals that effectively

offset losses on separate account BOLT

Gai-ns on loan sales increased by $34000 or 32% in 2011 over 2010 and also reflect an increase of $24000 or 30%
in 2010 over 2009 Despite the first quarter 2011 termination of our affiliation with PHH Mortgage which had been

our primary outlet for mortgage loan- sales gains on loan sales have increased due to pickup in mortgage lending

activity

In 2011 2010 and 2009 gains on the sale of investments totaled $1.660 million $2.643 million and $l.099 million

respectively representing significant additions to income The realized gain in 2011 came from the sale of $43 mil

lion in select mortgage-backed securities the proceeds of which were used to retire short-term debt and enable the

non-renewal of certain highercost time deposits The sale of these securities also helped us reduce potential volatil

ity in our investment portfolio In 2011 we also recorded $1 .370 million other-than-temporary impairment OTTI
charge against equity investment securities offsetting much of the income boost provided by the gain on the sale of

investments The referenced equity securities comprised of investments in five different community-based financial

institutions were previously carried on th Companys books at their market values with mark-to-market adjustments

applied directly to equity the standard accounting convention for available-for-sale securities Since the equities had

been in continuous unrealized loss positions since mid-2008 and the near-term prospect of price recovery was increa

singly uncertain the Company determined that it would be appropriate to take the OTTI charge in the fourth quarter

of 2011 by marking those securities to their current carrying values as loss through earnings The investment gains

in 2010 were taken pursuant to portfolio restructuring in the third quarter that involved the sale of $64 million in

mortgage-backed securities with the proceeds reinvested in agency-issued mortgage-backed securities that have

slightly longer duration and slightly lower yield and lend themselves to more efficient portfolio management For

2009 gains were taken on the sale of $30 million in mortgage-backed -securities with the proceeds reinvested in

high-quality agency-issued mortgage-backed securities The gain on investments in 2009 also includes small gains

on bonds called prior to maturity and non-recurring $66000 recovery on previously charged-off investment in

title insurance holding company

The next line item reflects pass-through losses associated with our partnership investments in low-income housing

tax credit funds These costs which are accounted for as reduction in revenue increased by $77000 or 10% in

2011 over 2010 but declined by $635000 or 44% in 2010 relative to 2009 The annual fluctuations typically result

from expense accrual adjustments made subsequent to the receipt of updated partnership financial statements

Other non-interest income includes gains and losses on the disposition of real properties and other assets and rental

income generated by the Companys alliance with Investment Centers of America ICA Other non-interest income

improved by $1 .226 million or 77% in 2011 over 2010 but declined by $1.61 million -in 2010 relative to 2009

The large fluctuations are the result of changes in-gains and losses on the sale of foreclosed assets In 2011 we had

net loss of $451000 on the sale of -foreclosed assets while the net loss was $1.536 million in 2010 and only

$204000 in 2009 non-recurring $238000 loss on the disposition of equipment acquired upon the termination of

operating leases in 2010 was also factor in the comparative results

Total operating expense non-interest -expense was down by $2.97 million or 6% in 2011 relative to 2010 due

primarily to- reduced level of OKEO write-downs drop in OREO operating expense and lower FDIC assessments
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In contrast non-interest expense was up by $6.096 million or 14% for 2010 over 2009 with the majority of the

increase coming in OREO write-downs and compensation expense

Non-interest expense includes the following significant non-recurring items which net out to additional expense of

$4.243 million in 2011 $5.120 million in 2010 and $1.857 million in 2009 OREO write-downs totaling $4.184

million in 2011 $5.045 million in 2010 and $1.265 million in 2009 vendor credits in the amount of $181000 for

prior-year overcharges on processing software which were received in the first quarter of 2011 non-recurring

accrual of $240000 in thefourthquarter of 2011 for potential expenses related to leases $75000 legal settlement

paid in 2010 on an operations-related issue and the payment of $592000 in 2009 for an industry-wide special FDIC

assessment Total operating expense was 3.98% of average earning assets in 2011 relative to 4.27% in 2010 and

3.72% in 2009

The largest component of operating expense namely salaries and employee benefits declined by $200000 or 1% in

2011 relative to 2010 but increased by $1.906 million or 10% in 2010 over 2009 The decline in 2011 was due to

lower level of deferred compensation accruals and higher level of salaries deferred and amortized as an adjustment

to loan yields which were partially offset by an increase in expense accruals associated with stock options Salaries

deferred for amortization as an adjustment to loan yields accounted for in accordance with FASB guidelines on the

recognition and measurement of non-refundable fees and origination costs associated with lending activities totaled

$2.586 million in 2011 $2.376 million in 2010 and $2.554 million in 2009 with the fluctuations due to variability in

loan origination activity As noted above in our discussion of BOLl income the accruals associated with employee

deferred compensation plans are related to separate account BOLT income and losses as are directors deferred com
pensation accruals that are included in other professional services and the net income impact of all

income/expense accruals related to deferred compensation is usually minimal Gains on employee plans totaled only

$17000 in 2011 relative to gains of $206000 in 2010 and $237000 in 2009 The biggest contributing factor to the

increase in salaries and employee benefits in 2010 over 2009 was our accrual for incentive compensation no incen

tive compensation was accrued for 2009 because the Companys net income did not reach the level necessary to

trigger bonus payments The increase in 2010 was also supplemented by lower level of salaries deferred and amor

tized as an adjustment to loan yields Adding to salaries and benefits in both 2011 and 2010 were normal annual

salary adjustments staffing costs associated with recently-opened branches and strategic staff additions to help

address credit issues and position the Company for future growth opportunities For 2011 however the branch

closure in Bakersfield offset some of that impact Salaries and benefits were 43.74% of total operating expense in

2011 relative to 41.54% in 2010 and 42.96% in 2009 The number of full-time equivalent staff employed by the

Company was 383 at the end of 2011 390 at the end of 2010 and 402 at the end of 2009

Total rent and occupancy costs including furniture and equipment expense fell by $282000 or 4% in 2011 as com

pared to 2010 but increased by $91000 or 1% in 2010 relative to 2009 The largest impact for 2011 came from the

January 2011 closure of branch with relatively costly 1ease and lower maintenance/repair costs For 2010 over

2009 declining depreciation expense and lower maintenance and repair costs for furniture and equipment were more

than offset by higher premises costs resulting from our new branches annual rental increases and the rising cost of

insurance and utilities

Advertising and marketing costs were up by $72000 or 4% in 2011 over 2010 and by $107000 or 6% in 2010

compared to 2009 The increase in 2011 resulted from higher costs for television advertising and the expansion of

our direct-mail marketing campaign for deposits The increase in 2010 is mainly due to costs associated with imple

menting debit rewards program and an increase in radio advertising

Data processing costs reflect drop of $214000 or 12% in 2011 but an increase of $331000 or 24% in 2010 The

difference for 2011 was due in large part to $181000 in non-recurring vendor credits which were received in the first

quarter of 2011 for prior-year overcharges on processing software as well as lower internet banking costs The

increase in 2010 was centered in internet banking costs and software maintenance fees

Deposit services costs dropped by $192000 or 7% in 2011 relative to the prior year but increased by $520000 or

24% in 2010 relative to 2009 The decline for 2011 was due primarily to lower costs associated with our online

deposit products net of an increase of $138000 in debit card processing costs The increase in 2010 was due to

higher expenses for our online deposit products ATM servicing check card processing and remote deposit capture



Loan services costs including expenses associated with foreclosed assets credit card costs and other loan processing

costs were reduced by $970000 or 14% in 2011 relative to 2010 but reflect an increase of $4.145 million or

149% in 2010 over 2009 Much of the variability in loan costs in recent years has been driven by write-downs on

foreclosed assets primarily OREO which totaled $4 184 million in 2011 relative to $5 .045 million in 2010 and

$1 .264 million in 2009 and foreclosed asset operating expenses including property taxes which totaled $695000
in 2011 in comparison to $1 123 million in 2010 and $563000 in 2009 As is evident in those numbers the primary

impact on the year-over-year decrease in total loan costs in 2011 came from declines of $861000 in write-downs on

foreclosed assets and $427000 in OREO operating expense Those favorable developments were partially offset by

increases in costs associated with collections and appraisals as well as the aforementioned non-recurring accrual of

$240000 for potential expenses on operating leases For 2010 the year-over-year increase was due to $3.781 mil

lion increase in write-downs on foreclosed assets and an increase of $560000 in OREO operating expense

The other operating costs category includes telecommunications expense postage and other miscellaneous costs

and reflects slight decline in 2011 but an aggregate increase of $125000 or 5% in 2010 Telecommunications

expense increased by $135000 or 12% in 2011 and by $49000 or 4% in 2010 with the relatively large increase

in 2011 coming from costs associated with the addition and enhancement of data circuits Postage expense increased

by $18000 or 3% in 2011 and by $57000 or 11% in 2010 with the increase in 2010 resulting from additional

mailings for newly-required regulatory compliance disclosures Other miscellaneous costs fell by $174000 or 16%
in 2011 due to lower depreciation on operating leases but did not change materially in 2010

Legal and accounting costs increased by $443000 or 35% in 2011 over 2010 but declined by $261 000 or 17% in

2010 over 2009 For 2011 the increase was due primarily to higher legal costs for loan collections and consulting

costs which were necessitated by the numerous changes in regulatory expectations and the associated promulgation

of new guidance on overdrafts as referenced above Legal and accounting costs were lower in 2010 mainly because

of enhanced staffmg in the collections area which enabled reduction in lending-related legal expense but also due

to reduction in expenses associated with compliance and operations reviews

Other professional services costs include FDIC assessments and other regulatory costs directors costs certain insur

ance costs and certain shareholder expenses This category fell by $1 .520 niillion or 41% in 2011 relative to 2010
and by $843000 or 18% in 2010 over 2009 The large year-over-year declines were centered on FDIC assessments

which totaled $l.314 in 2011 $2.214 million in 2010 and $3.155 million in 2009 including the special FDIC

assessment of $592000 The reduced accrual in 2011 was due in large part to the FDICs implementation of new
rate sfructure in 2011 as well as the Companys reduced risk profile The 2011 variance in other professional service

expense also reflects $123000 decline in director retirement plan accruals and $213000 drop in deferred com
pensation accruals for the Companys directors due to losses on directors deferred compensation plans in 2011

relative to gains in 2010 As with deferred compensation accruals for employees directors deferred fee accruals are

related to separate account BOLl income and losses and the net income impact of all income/expense accruals

related to deferred compensation is usually minimal

Stationery and supply costs declined by $10000 in 2011 due to operational efficiency enhancements implemented

toward the end of 2011 but were up $40000 or 6% in 2010 primarily due to supplies purchased for recently-added

branches Sundry and teller costs fell by $81000 or 18% in 2011 and by $65000 or 12% in 2010 The decline in

2011 was due mainly to non-recurring settlement of $75000 paid to deposit customer in the second quarter of

2010 for fraud loss while the drop in 2010 is from reductions in debit card losses due to enhanced antirfraud

efforts and lower level of other sundry losses that was achieved in spite of the aforementioned legal settlement

Income Taxes

The Company sets aside its provision for income taxes on monthly basis As indicated in Note in the Notes to

Consolidated Financial Statements the amount of such provision is determined by applying the Companys statutory

income tax rates to pre-tax book income as adjusted for permanent differences between book income and actual taxa

ble income These permanent differences include but are not limited to tax-exempt interest income increases in the

cash surrender value of BOLl BOLl income California Enterprise Zone deductions and certain book expenses that

are not allowed as tax deductions Tax-exempt interest income is generated primarily by the Companys investments
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in state county and municipal bonds which provided $2.8 million in federal tax-exempt income in 2011 $2.7 mil

lion in 2010 and $2.5 million in 2009 Tax credits including hiring tax credits as well as those stemming from our

investments in low-income housing tax credit funds are applied as direct reduction to our tax liability for both book

and tax purposes The company had investments totaling $9.4 million in low-income housing tax credit funds as of

December 31 2011 These investments which are included in other assets rather than in our investment portfolio

have generated substantial tax credits over the past few years with about $1.6 million in credits available for the

2011 tax year and $1.7 million in tax credits utilized in 2010 The credits are dependent upon the occupancy level of

the housing projects and income of the tenants and cannot be projected with complete certainty Furthermore our

capacity to utilize them will continue to depend on our ability to generate sufficient pre-tax income Because we

have not invested in additional tax credit funds for the past few years the level of low-income housing tax credits

available for future
years

will taper off until they are substantially utilized by the end of 2018 This means that even

if taxable income stayed at the same level through 2018 our tax accrual rate would gradually increase

Our tax provision of $564000 resulted in 7% tax accrual rate in 2011 while negative income tax provision of

$234000 helped boost net income in 2010 The higher tax accrual in 2011 is primarily the result of drop in tax-

exempt BOLl income and an increase in taxable income relative to the Companys available tax credits While our

level of tax credits did not change materially relative to the prior year our tax liability increased due to an increase in

pre-tax income as adjusted for the permanent differences noted above

In addition to permanent differences some income and expense items are recognized in different years for tax pur

poses than when applying generally accepted accounting principles leading to timing differences between the Com

panys actual tax liability and the amount accrued for this liability based on book income These temporary differ

ences comprise the deferred portion of the Companys tax expense which is accumulated on the Companys books

as deferred tax asset or deferred tax liability until such time as it reverses At the end of 2011 the Company had

net deferred tax asset of $11.7 million

Financial Condition

Total assets of $1 .335 billion at the end of 2011 reflect an increase of $49 million or 4% for the year due primarily

to growth in investments partially offset by declining loan balances We experienced drop in loan balances in 2010

and 2009 as well In addition to loan growth challenges for the past few years we have seen marke4 deterioration in

asset quality as result of the decline in the economy Even though the regional economy appears to have staNlized

our market areas have not improved materially Our borrowers are still experiencing the residual effects of lower

consumer spending and economic activity and our asset quality is still being negatively impacted Despite growth

challenges and relatively high levels of nonperforming assets we have very strong capital position due in part to

our registered direct offering in 2010 and private placement in 2009 and positive net income throughout the

recession Furthermore our liquidity position has significantly improved over the past couple of years
due to strong

growth in customer deposits and the runoff of large volume of wholesale-sourced brokered deposits and other

borrowings as well as drop in loan balances and substantial increase in unpledged investments Our strong capital

position and access to liquidity resources position us well to endure to the end of the current cycle and eventually

return to previous levels of loan growth although no assurance can be provided in that regard

Significant changes in the relative size of balance sheet components in 2011 include net loans arid leases which fell

to 55% of total assets at the end of 2011 from 61% at the..end of 2010 and investment securities which increased to

30% of total assets at the end of 2011 from 26% at the end of 2010 On the liability side non-maturity deposits in

creased to 67% of total deposits at the end of 2011 from 63% at the end of 2010 while customer time deposits less

than $100000 dropped to 10% of total deposits at December 31 2011 from 16% at December 31 2010 The major

components of the Companys balance sheet are individually analyzed below along with information on off-balance

sheet activities and exposure

Loan and Lease Portfolio

The Companys loan and lease portfolio represents the single largest portion of invested assets substantially greater

than the investment portfolio or any other asset category and the quality and diversification of the loan and lease

portfolio are important considerations when reviewing the Companys financial condition The Company is not in

41



volved with chemicals or toxins that might have an adverse effect on the environment thus its primary exposure to

environmental legislation is through its lending activities The Companys lending procedures include steps to iden

tify and monitor this exposure in an effort to avoid any related loss or liability The Selected Financial Data table in

Item above reflects the amount of loans and leases othstanding at December 3l for each year from 2007 through

2011 net of deferred fees and origination costs and the allowance for loan and lease losses The Loan and Lease

Distribution tables that follow set forth by loan type the Companys gross loans and leases outstanding and the per

centage distribution in each category at the dates indicated The first table provides the loan distribution for the past

five years with level of detail consistent with 10-K disclosures in previous years The second table provides the

loan distribution as of the two most recent year-ends using the loan categories that have been disclosed in our recent

quarterly reports which include greater level of detail for real estate loans than is available for the five-year

disclosure The gross balances shown include nonperforming loans by type but do not reflect any deferred or

unamortized loan origination extension or commitment fees or deferred loan origination costs

2010 2009

13457 9865

94768 116835

2008

13542

122856

2011

17078

99408

328973

188117

60142

1354

578586

21006

36124

6743

758945

360517 421114 456932

200156

61293

914

622880

18616

45585

10234

805540

2007

13103

117183

457236

187267

51607

696110

20366

54731

23140

92633

188750

56654

376

666894

18626

56992

15394

884606

Loan and Lease Distribution

dollars in thousands As of December 31

Agricultural

Commercial and Industrial

Real Estate

Secured by Commercial/Professional Office

Properties including construction and development

Secured by Residential Properties 189849

Secured by Farmland 57808

Held for Sale 552

Total Real Estate 705141

Small Business Administration loans 19463

Consumer Loans 65755

Direct FinancingLeases 19883

Total Loans and Leases 946640

Percentage of Total Loans and Leases

Agricultural 2.25% 1.67% 1.12% 1.42% 1.42%

CommØrcialandlndustrial 13.10% 11.77% 13.21% 12.97% 12.67%

Real Estate

Secured by Commercial/Professional Office

Properties including construction and development 43.35% 44.75% 47.60% 48.27% 49.45%

Secured byResidentia1 Properties 24.78% 24.85% 1.34% 20.06% 20.26%

Secured by Farmland 7.92% 7.61% 6.40% 6.11% 5.58%

Held for Sale 0.18% 0.11% 0.04% 0.06% 0.00%

Total Real Estate 76.23% 77.32% 75.38% 74.50% 75.29%

Small Business Administration loans 2.77% 2.3 1% 2.11% 2.06% 2.20%

Consumer Loans 4.76% 5.66% 6.44% 6.95% 5.92%

Direct Financing Leases 0.89% 1.27% 1.74% 2.10% 2.50%

100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%
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Loan and Lease Distribution

dollars in thousands

Real Estate

1-4 family residential construction

Other Construction/Land

1-4 family closed-end

Equity Lines

Multi-family residential

Commercial RE- owner occupied

Commercial RE- non-owner occupied

Farmland

Total Real Estate

Agricultural products

Commercial and industrial

Small Business Administration Loans

Direct finance leases

Consumer loans

Total Loans and Leases

Percentage of Total Loans and Leases

Real Estate

1-4 family residential construction

Other Construction/land

1-4 family closed-end

Equity Lines

Multi-family residential

Commercial RE- owner occupied

Commercial RE- non-owner occupied

Farmland

Total Real Estate

Agricultural products

Commercial and Industrial

Small Business Administration Loans

Direct fmance leases

Consumer loans

8488

40060

106307

66497

8179

183070

105843

60142

578586

17078

99408

21006

6743

36124

758945

1.12%

5.28%

14.01%

8.76%

1.08%

24.12%

13.94%

7.92%

76.23%

2.25%

13.10%

2.77%

0.89%

4.76%

100.00%

13866

52047

105459

70783

10962

187970

120500

61293

622880

13457

94768

18616

10234

45585

805540

1.72%

6.46%

13.09%

8.79%

1.36%

23.33%

14.96%

7.61%

77.32%

1.67%

11.77%

2.31%

1.27%

5.66%

100.00%

The Companys gross
loans and leases totaled $759 million at the end of December 2011 drop of $47 million or

6% since December 31 2010 Loan balances have been declining because of runoff in the normal course of business

including prepayments transfers to OREO and charge-offs Furthermore loan origination activity in our branches

has been light due to weak demand from creditworthy borrowers tightened credit criteria for real estate loans

heightened competition and increased attention devoted to monitoring and managing current loan relationships

Management has made selective personnel changes and established branch objectives weighted toward high-quality

loan growth with particular focus on commercial loans md agricultural loans and we have seen recent increase

in the volume of potential loan deals reviewed However no assurance can be provided that loan balances will not

continue to decline especially in the near term

Despite commercial loan charge-offs of over $3 million in 2011 commercial loans increased by about $5 million or

5% due to higher outstanding balances on mortgage warehouse lines and SBA loan balances increased by dyer $2

million or 13% Agricultural production loans also show an increase of close to $4 million or 27% relative to their

As of December 31

2011 2010
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year-end 2010 balance due to increased activity in the ag lending area Total real estate loan balances however
declined by $44 million or 7% in 2011 The largest drop within the real estate category was $15 million decline in

non-owner occupied commercial real estate loans due in part to an $8.4 million non-accruing note that was written

down to $7 million and then sold in the second quarter of 2011 We also experienced decline of $12 million in

other construction/land loans and sizeable reductions in 1-4 family residential construction loans owner-

occupied commercial real estate loans equity lines and multi-family residential loans Loans secured by fannland

declined slightly but would have increased if not for the payoff of $9 million loan that occurred when the borrower

sold the underlying collateral The net decline in real estate loan balances in 2011 includes charge-offs of about $11

million and close to $7 million in balances transferred to OREO We also experienced declines about $3 million or

34% in direct finance leases and $9 million or 21% in consumer loans Charge-offs account for about $3 million

of the decline in consumer loans With regard to loan composition commercial loans SBA loans and ag production

loans increased slightly as percentage of total loans in 2011 while real estate loans declined as percentage of total

loans in slight reversal of trends experienced in the previous few years Consumer loans continued on their same

trajectory dropping once again as percentage of total loans in 2011

Although not reflected in the loan totals above the Company occasionally originates and sells or participates out

portions of certain commercial real estate loans agricultural or residential mortgage loans and other loans to non-

affiliated investors and we currently provide servicing for some of those loans including small number of SBA
loans The balance of loans serviced for others fell to less than $1 million at December 31 2011 from $5 million at

December 31 2010 due primarily to our foreclosure on real estate loan for which we had sold participating

interest

Loan and Lease Maturities

The following table shows the maturity distribution for total loans and leases outstanding as of December 31 2011
including non-accruing loans grouped by remaining scheduled principal payments

Loans and Lease Maturity

Dollars in thousands

As of Decenter 312011
Three Floating

Three months to rate due Fixed rate

months or twelve One to five Over five after one due after

less months years years Total year one year

Agricultural 2637 9486 3595 1360 17078 2862 2093

Corrrrrcial and lndustrial 13154 25436 60728 21096 120414 46639 35185
Real tate 26829 23023 127533 401201 578586 205789 322944

Consumer Loans 3025 3781 10221 19091 36124 2612 26707
Direct Financing Leases 714 651 2788 2590 6743 5378

Total 46359 62377 204865 445344 758945 257902 392307

Includes Small Business and Adninistrªtion Loans

For comprehensive discussion of the Companys liquidity position re-pricing characteristics of the balance sheet

and sensitivity to changes in interest rates see the Liquidity and Market Risk section

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

In the normal course of business the Company makes commitments to extend credit to its customers as long as there

are no violations of conditions established in contractual arrangements Total unused commitments to extend credit

were $154 million at December 31 2011 as compared to $142 million at December 3l 2010 These numbers

include $31 million in home equity lines of credit at December 31 2011 and $33 million at December 31 2010
Unused commitments represented 20% of gross loans and leases outstanding at December 31 2011 and 18% at

December 31 2010 The Compaiys undrawn letters of credit totaled $20 million at December 31 2011 and $17

million at December 31 2010. The effect on the Companys revenues expenses cash flows and liquidity from the

unused portion of the commitments to provide credit cannot be reasonably predicted because there is no certainty
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that lines of credit will ever be fully utilized However these off-balance sheet obligations represent potential credit

risk to the Company and $160000 reserve for unfunded commitments is reflected as liability in our consolidated

balance sheet at December 31 2011 For more information regarding the Companys off-balance sheet

arrangements see Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements in Item herein

Contractual Obligations

At the end of 2011 the Company had contractual obligations for the following payments by type and period due

Contractual Obligations

Dollars in thousands

Payments Due by Period

Less Than More Than

Total Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years Years

Long-term debt obligations 45928 10000 5000 30928

Operating lease obligations 926 1068 2010 1602 4946

Other long-term obligations 353 142 211

Total 55907 11210 7010 1602 36085

Nonperforming Assets

Nonperforming assets are comprised of loans for which the Company is no longer accruing interest and foreclosed

assets including mobile homes and other real estate owned OREO consists of properties acquired by foreclosure or

similar means which the Company is offering or will offer for sale Nonperforming loans and leases result when

reasonable doubt exists with regard to the ability of the Company to collect all principal and interest on loan or

lease At that point we stop accruing interest on the loan or lease in question and reverse any previously-recognized

interest to the extent that it is uncollected or associated with interest-reserve loans Any asset for which principal or

interest has been in default for period of 90 days or more is also placed on non-accrual status even if interest is still

being received unless the asset is both well secured and in the process of collection If the Bank grants concession

to borrower in financial difficulty the loan falls into the category of troubled debt restructuring TDR TDRs

may be classified as either nonperforming or performing loans depending on their accrual status The tables that

follow present comparative data for the Companys nonperforming assets and performing TDRs The first table

provides those numbers for the past five years with level of detail consistent with 10-K disclosures in previous

years The second table provides nonperforming assets as of the two most recent year-ends using the loan categories

that have been disclosed in our recent quarterly reports which include greater level of detail for nonperforming real

estate loans than is available for the five-year disclosure
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Foreclosed assets 556

Total nonperforming assets 9608

Performing loans classified as

troubled debt restructurings TDRs2
Nonperforming loans and leases as

of total gross loans and leases

Nonperforming assets as a% of total gross

loans and leases and other real estate owned

The gross interest income that would have been recorded in the period ending December 31 2011 if all non-accrual loans had been

paying pursuant to their original terms was $4353000 which included $1328000 that was recorded and included

in net income for the period

Performing TDRs are not included in noterfonning loans above not are they included in the numerators used to calculate the

rat ips disclosed in this table
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2011 2010 2009 2008

Nonperforming Assets and Performing TDRS

dollars in thousands

NON-ACCRUAL LOANS

Agricultural

Commercial and Industrial

Real Estate

Secured by Commercial/Professional Office

Properties including construction and development

Secured by Residential Properties

Secured by Farmland

Subtotal Real Estate

Small Business Administration Loans

Consumer Loans

Direct Financing Leases

TOTAL NONPERFORMING LOANS

2007

771 753778

21044

18182

6919

46145

3452

2144

591

56110

2005

32222

6270

404

38896

3440

1112

501

45954

3559

31842

5652

429

37923

3683

756

1053

46974

24432

2918

42

27392

862

392

369

29786

6976

666

7642

1174

161

9052

15364 20691 25654 7127

71474 66645 72628 36913

36058 12465 28024

7.39% 5.70% .31% 3.15%

9.23% 8.07% 7.98% 3.87%

0.98%

1.04%



Nonperforming Assets and Performing TDRS
dollars in thousands

NON-ACCRUAL LOANS
Real Estate

1-4 family residential construction

Other Construction/Land

1-4 family closed-end

Equity Lines

Multi-family residential

Commercial RE- owner occupied

Commercial RE- non-owner occupied

Farmland

Subtotal Real Estate

Agricultural products

Commercial and Industrial

Small Business Administration Loans

Direct fmance leases

Consumer loans

TOTAL NONPERFORMING LOANS

Performing loans classified as

troubled debt restructurings TDRs
Nonperforming loans and leases as

of total gross loans and leases

Nonperforming assets as of total gross

loans and leases and other real estate owned

As of December31

2011 2010

2244

4083

7605

1309

2941

7087 7412

13958 14704

6919 405

46146 38896

591 501

2144 1112

56111 45954

Performing TDRs are not included in nonperforming loans above nor are they included

in the numerators used to calculate the ratios disclosed in this table

Nonperforming assets comprised only 1% of total loans and leases plus foreclosed assets at the end of 2007 but have

escalated since then due to deterioration in economic conditions and the associated negative impact on our borrowers

After experiencing year-over-year decline in 2010 total nonperforming assets increased by $4.8 million or 7% in

2011 increasing to 9.23% of
gross

loans and leases plus foreclosed assets at December 31 2011 relative to 8.07% at

December 31 2010 Total nonperforming loans were up by $10.2 million or 22% in 2011 but foreclosed assets

declined by $5.3 million or 26% The balance of nonperforming loans at December 31 2011 includes $20.3 million

in TDRs and other loans that were paying as agreed under modified terms or forbearance agreements but were still

classified as nonperforming As shown in the table we also had $36.1 million in loans classified as performing

TDRs for which we were still accruing interest at December 31 2011 relative to balance of $12.5 million at

December 31 2010 The $23.6 million increase in performing TDRs is the result of elevated efforts to help ensure

the ability of our borrowers to continue to service their debt At the end of June 2011 the Company early-adopted

ASU 2011-02 Receivables Topic 310 Creditors Determination of Whether Restructuring is Troubled Debt

Restructuring which added only $552000 to performing TDRs at the time of adoption Notes and in the Notes

to Consolidated Financial Statements provide more comprehensive disclosure of TDR balances and TDR activity

within recent periods

Non-accruing loan balances secured by real estate comprised $46.1 million of total nonperforming loans at December

31 2011 and reflect net increase of $7.2 million or 19% during the year due to three large additions during the

fourth quarter $6.4 million dairy loan secured by farmland real estate relationship with $8.2 million in well-

secured loans and $1.6 million loan on well-located rental properties that are generating cash flows and which we

have subsequently acquired into OREO Gross additions to nonperforming real estate loans totaled $43.2 million for

4057

6185

4894

1239

3778

3452

2005

3440

Foreclosed assets

Total nonperforming assets

15364

71475

36058

7.39%

9.23%

20691

66645

12465

5.70%

8.07%
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2011 with the largest additions coming in loans secured by commercial real estate and farmland Partially offsetting

the increase created by additional real estate loans being placed on non-accrual status during 2011 were net pay-

downs on nonperforming real estate loans of $14.7 million charge-offs totaling $10.7 million $6.5 million in

transfers to OREO and the return to accrual status of $4.1 million in balances

Nonperforming commercial and SBA loans increased by combined $1.8 million or 33% during 2011 ending the

period at $7.2 million Gross additions to nonperforming commercial and SBA loans totaled $7.6 million for 2011

but this was partly offset by net pay-downs of $1.8 million the return to accrual status of $1.3 million in balances

and the charge-off of $2.7 million in nonperforming commercial loans Nonperforming consumer loans which are

largely unsecured increased by $1.0 million or 93% to total of $2.1 million

As noted above foreclosed assets declined by $5.3 million or 26% during 2011 The balance of foreclosed assets at

December 31 2011 had an aggregate carrying value of $15.4 million and was comprised of 66 properties classified

as OREO and mobile homes Much of our OREO consists of vacant lots or land but there are also 11 residential

properties totaling $1.4 million and four commercial buildings with combined book balance of $1.9 million At the

end of 2010 foreclosed assets totaled $20.7 million comprised of 79 properties in OREO and 17 mobile homes All

foreclosed assets are periodically evaluated and written down to their fair value less expected disposition costs if

lower than the then-current carrying value

While we anticipate relatively slow progress with regard to the resolution of nonperforming assets an action plan is

in place for each of our non-accruing loans and foreclosed assets and they are all being actively managed Collection

efforts are continuously pursued for all nonperforming loans but we cannot provide assurance that all will be

resolved in timely manner or that nonperforming balances will not increase further

Allowance for Loan and Lease Losses

The allowance for loan and lease losses contra-asset account is established tlough periodic charges to earnings

which are reflected in the income statement as the provision for loan and lease losses in manner consistent with

FASBs guidance on loss contingencies and impaired loans and consistent with the guidance outlined in the 2006

Interagency Policy Statement on the Allowance for Loan and Lease Losses Specifically identifiable and quantifiable

loan losses ar immediately charged off against the allowance while recoveries are generally recorded only when

cash payments are received subsequent the charge off The Companys allowance for loan and lease losses is

maintained at level that is adequate to absorb specifically identified probable losses on impaired loans and probable

incurred losses inherent in the remaining ioan portfolio after factoring in charge-offs taken against the allowance and

recoveries credited back to the allowance Fluctuations in credit quality changes in economic conditions or other

factors could induce us to augment the allowance in the future however and no assurance can be given that the

Company will not experience substantial tosses relative to the size of the allowance Note in the Notes to Consoli

dated Financial Statements provides more comprehensive discussion of the accounting guidance we conform to and

the methodology we use to determine an appropriate allowance for loan and leas losses At December 31 2011 our

allowance for loan and lease losses was $17 million or 28% of gross loans and leases an 18% decline from the

$21 million allowance at December 31 2010 which was 62% of gross loans and leases The Companys total

allowance was 30 80% of nonperforming loans at December 31 2011 relative to 46 00% at December 31 2010 An

allowance for
potential

losses inherent in unused commitments totaling $160000 at December 31 2011 is included

in other liabilities

The table that follows summarizes the activity in the allowance for loan and lease losses for the periods indicated
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RATIOS

Net Loan and Lease Charge-offs to Average Loans and Leases

Allowance for Loan and Lease Losses to

Gross Loans and Leases at End of Period

Allowance for Loan Losses to

Non-Performing Loans

Net Loan and Lease Charge-offs to Allowance

for Loan Losses at End of Period

Net Loan Charge-offs to

Provision for Loan and Lease Losses

As of and for the years ended December 31

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

767901 851292 926326 931382 903046

758945 805540 884606 946640 924633

21138 23715 15094 12276 11579

12000 16680 21574 19456 3252

Allowance for Loan and lease Losses

Dollars in thousands

Balances

Average gross loans and leases outstanding during period

Gross loans and leases net of deferred fees and costs

Allowance for Loan and Lease Losses

Balance at beginning ofperiod

Provision charged to expense

Charge-offs

Real Estate

1-4 family residential construction

Other Construction/Land

1-4 Family closed-end

Equity Lines

Multi-family residential

Commercial RE- owner occupied

Commercial RE non-owner occupied

Farmland

TOTAL REAL ES TATE

Agricultural products

Commercial and Industrial

Small Business Administration Loans

Direct Finance Leases

Consumer Loans

Consumer Credit Cards

Total

Recoveries

Real Estate

1-4 family residential construction

Other Construction/Land

1-4 Family closed-end

Equity Lines

Multi-family residential

Commercial RE- owner occupied

Commercial RE non-owner occupied

Farmland

TOTAL REAL ES TATE

Agricultural products

Commercial and Industrial

Small Business Administration Loans

Direct Finance Leases

Consumer Loans

Consumer Credit Cards

Total

Net loan charge offs recoveries

Balance

1389 1706 536 1375

1807 4579 2599 7453

795 1400 1649 459

1776 596 695 608

97

1306 946 26 66

3027 1358

496 27 60

10596 10709 5505 10021

524

3407 4998 3508 2438

148 293 143 558

82 646 97 255

2754 3691 4622 3936

17

16987 20337 14404 17225

32

148

202

17

357

724

15

632

34

2134

139

3678

133 25 270

38 13 242

23 41 10

41

71

28

49

120 524 35 77

148

418

323 462 474

71 63 75

57 159 103

263 274 262

13

1132 1080

15855 19257 12953

17283 21138 23715

2.06% 2.26%

2.28% 2.62%

30.80% 46.00%

91.74% 91.10%

132.13% 115.45%

82

154

38

255

23

587

16638

15094

1.79%

1.59%

826

36

134

50

1123

2555

12276

0.28%

1.33%

1.40%

2.68%

50.49%

54.62% 110.23%

60.04% 85.52%

50.67% 135.62%

20.81%

78.57%
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As noted above the Companys allowance for loan and lease losses declined by close to $4 million or 18% in 2011

On the surface this would appear to be directionally inconsistent with the increase of $10 million or 22% in nonper

forming loans However specific reserves on nonperforming loans actually increased by about $1 million or 16%
while our allowance allocated for losses on performing loans and leases declined by close to $5 million or 35% The

increase in the allowance for losses on nonperforming loans is primarily due to specific reserves required for loans

placed on non-accrual status during the period and enhanced reserves on certain other nonperforming loans net of

charge-offs or write-downs It should be noted that reserves required for loans placed on non-accrual status during

2011 were not as high as might be expected because some of those loans did not require any loss reserve based on an

analysis of expected cash flows or the underlying collateral values In fact as of December 31 2011 approximately

40% of our total nonperforming loans did not require loss reserve The allowance for losses on performing loans

increased primarily for the following reasons Qualitative adjustments made to our historical loss factors for per

forming loan categories were adjusted to reflect stabilized economic environment and the expectation that loan

charge-offs should continue to decline the outstanding balance of loans graded pass declined by $36 million or

7% which also impacted the loss allowance needed for that loan category and the allowance for performing loan

and lease losses was disproportionately impacted by declines in the outstanding balances of special mention loans

and non-impaired classified loans which fell by $32 million or 34% and $8 million or 24% respectively since

both of these categories generally have much higher historical loss rates and proportionally higher loss reserve levels

than pass loans The decline in special mention and non-impaired classified loan balances was due in large part to

migration into impaired loans which as noted previously are specifically analyzed and often do not require any

reserves at all

As shown in the table above the Companys provision for loan and lease losses was reduced by $4.680 million or

28% for 2011 relative to the 2010 while net loans charged off declined by only $3.402 million or 18% Many of

the charge-offs were against pre-established specific reserves on impaired assets and did not necessarily lead to the

need for reserve replenishment thus net charge-offs exceeded the provision by $3.855 million in 2011 and the allow

ance for loan and lease losses declined Real estate loan charge-offs declined slightly in 2011 over 2010 but were

still relatively high in both 2011 and 2010 primarily because of write-downs taken on certain impaired loans subse

quent to the determination that the full principal balance would not be collectible Including write-downs taken in

2011 we have taken cumulative total of $6.03 million in write-downs on collateral-dependent loans still on our

books at December 31 2011 most of which were on construction loans Charge-offs were down for all other loan

categories including declines of $1.591 million or 32% in commercial loans $145000 or 49% in SBA loans

$564000 or 87% in direct finance leases and $937000 or 25% in consumer loans The level of principal recove

ries in 2011 did not change materially from recoveries in 2010 Since our allowance for loan and lease losses is

maintained at level to cover probable losses on specifically identified loans as well as probable incurred losses in

the remaining loan portfolio any shortfall in the allowance created by loan charge-offs is typically covered by

month-end and always by quarter-end Additional details on our provision for loan and lease losses and its relation

ship to actual charge-offs is contained above in the Provision for Loan and Lease Losses section

Provided below is summary of the allocation of the allowance for loan and lease losses for specific loan categories

at the dates indicated The allocation presented should not be viewed as an indication that charges to the allowance

will be incurred in these amounts or proportions or that the portion of the allowance allocated to each loan category

represents the total amounts available for charge-offs that may occur within those categories
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Allocation of Loan and Lease Loss Mlonce

dollars
in thousands

AsofDecember3l

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

%Total %Total %Total %Total %Total

Amount Loans Amount Loans Amount Loans Amount Loans Amount Loans

19 2.25% 62 1.67% 10 112% 17 1.42% 911 1.42%

6085 15.87% 7653 14.08% 7006 15.32% 4922 15.03% 1808 14.88%

8260 76.23% 10143 77.32% 12348 75.38% 6839 74.50% 8294 75.29%

2608 4.76% 2996 5.66% 3752 6.44% 3129 6.95% 1018 5.92%

311 0.89% 284 1.27% 599 1.74% 187 2.10% 245 2.50%

17283 100.00% 21138 100.00% 23715 100.00% 15094 100.00% 12276 100.00%

Represents percenta of loans in catery to total loans

Includes Small Business Administration loans

The Companys investments consist of debt and marketable equity securities together the investment portfolio

investments in the time deposits of other banks surplus interest-earning balances in our Federal Reserve Bank

FRB account and overnight fed funds sold Surplus FRB balances and fed funds sold to correspondent banks

represent the investment of temporary excess liquidity The Companys investments serve several purposes they

provide liquidity to even out cash flows from the oa and deposit activities of customers they provide source of

pledged assets for securing public deposits bankruptcy deposits and certain borrowed funds which require collateral

they constitute large base of assets with maturity and interest rate charactristics that can be changed more

readily than the loan portfolio to better match changes in the deposit base and other funding sources of the

Company they are an alternative interest-earning use of funds when loan demand is light and they can provide

partially tax exempt income Aggregate investments were 32% of total assets at December 31 2011 and 26% at

December 31 2010

We had no fed funds sold at December 31 2011 relative to $210000 at December 31 2010 Our balance of interest-

bearing deposits at other banks was over $20 million at December 31 2011 however up from only $325000 at the

end of 2010 primarily because excess balance sheet liquidity was placed in our Federal Reserve Bank account at

higher yields than could be realized by selling fed funds Surplus liquidity which was generated during the year

from growth in deposits and loan runoff was also deployed into longer-term .higher-yielding agency-issued

mortgage-backed securities This led to an increase of $75 million or 23% in the book balance of the Companys

investment portfolio which ended the year at $406 million Although the Company currently has the intent and the

ability to hold the securities in its investment portfolio to maturity the securities are all marketable and are classified

as available for sale to allow maximum flexibility with regard to interest rate risk and liquidity management

Pursuant to FASBs guidance on accounting for debt and equity securities available for sale securities are carried on

the Companys financial statements at their estimated fair market value with monthly tax-effected mark-to-market

adjustments made vis-à-vis accumulated other comprehensive income in shareholders equity The following

Investment Portfolio table reflects the amortized cost and fair market values for the total portfolio for each primary

category of investments for the past three years

Agricultural

Commercial and Industrial

Real Estate

Consumer Loans

Direct Financing Leases

Total

Investments
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Investment Portfolio-Awilable for Sale

Dollars in thousands

As of December31

2111 2010 2009

Amortized Fair Market Amortized Fair Market Amortized Fair Market

Cost Value Cost Value Cost Value

US Government Ancies and Corporations 2008 2026 4954 5062 6728 6861

Mort-backed securities 328751 331758 252320 255143 201534 206801

State and political subdivisions 67851 71340 70201 70102 62506 63138

Equity securities 1336 1347 2705 1423 2705 1368

Total investment securities 399946 406471 330180 331730 273473 278168

As noted above the Company sold $43 million in mortgage-backed securities in the fourth quarter of 2011 realizing

$1.7 million in gains Despite that sale and fairly high level of prepayments mortgage-backed securities increased

by $77 million or 30% during the year due to the investment of excess liquidity The balance of municipal bonds

increased by $1 million or 2% as the Company has also taken advantage of relative value in that sector in 2011 It

should be noted that all newly purchased municipal bonds have strong underlying ratings US Government Agency
securities fell by $3 million because maturing balances were not replaced While no equity securities were bought or

sold during 2011 the market value of those securities declined slightly Furthermore as noted above we recorded

$1 million other-than-temporary impairment charge through our mcome statement on certam equity investment

securities in the fourth quarter of 2011 due to the length of time those investments had been carried in an unrealized

loss position and because of increasing uncertainty with regard to the timing of price recovery The impairment

charge did not impact the carrying value of those sçcurities however smce they were already being marked to

market via accumulated other comprehensive income in shareholders equity

Investment portfolio securities that were pledged as collateral for FHLB borrowmgs repurchase agreements public

deposits and for other purposes as required or permitted by law totaled $208 million at December 31 2011 and $146

million at December 31 2010 leaving $198 million in unpledged debt securities at December 31 2011 and $186

million at December 31 2010 Securities pledged in excess of actual pledging needs and thus available for liquidity

purposes if needed totaled $112 million at December 31 2011 and $103 million at December 31 2010 The rela

tively large increase in pledged securities in 2011 resulted when we reduced our FHLB letter of credit and substituted

previously unpledged investment securities to satisf certain pledging needs

The investment maturities table below suminanzes contractual matuntiçs for the Companys investment secunties

and their weighted average yields at December 31 2011 The actual timing of principal payments may differ from

remaining contractual maturities bepause obligors may have the right to repay certain obligations
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Maturity and Yield of Available for Sale Investment Portfolio

dollars in thousands

December 31 2011

After One But Within After Five Years

Within One Year Five Years But Within Ten After Ten Years Total

Amount Yield Amount Yield Amount Yield Amount Yield Amount Yield

US Government ancies 2026 2.15% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 2026 2.15%

Mort-backed securities 6859 0.79% 308626 2.60% 15805 3.01% 468 3.00% 331758 2.58%

Stateandpoliticalsubdivisions 1198 6.35% 12002 5.73% 41482 5.90% 16658 5.68% 71340 5.83%

Other equity securities 1347 1.57% 1347 1.57%

Total Investment Securities 10083 320628 $57287 $18473 $406471

Cash and Due from Banks

Cash on hand and non-interest bearing balances due from correspondent banks totaled $43 million at the end of 2011

and $42 million at the end of 2010 comprising 3% of total assets at December 31 201 and 2010 Since the actual

balance of cash and due from banks depends on the timing of collection of outstanding cash items it is subject to

significant fluctuation in the normal course of business While cash flows are normally predictable within limits

those limits are fairly broad and the Company manages its short-term cash position through the utilization of over

night loans to and borrowings from correspondent banks including the Federal Reserve Bank and the Federal Home
Loan Bank Should large short overnight position persist for any length of time the Company typically raises

money through focused retail deposit gathering efforts or by adding brokered time deposits If long position is

prevalent the Company will let brokered deposits orother wholesale borrowings roll off as they mature or might

jnvest excess liquidity in higher-yielding longer-term bonds

Because of frequent balance fluctuations more accurate gauge of cash management efficiency is the average bal

ance for the period The $35 million average of non-earning cash and due from banks for 2011 was slightly higher

than the $33 million average for 2010 due to higher level of cash activity in our branches which has required the

maintenance of higher levels of vault cash Our average cash balance is expected to continue to increase as we add

more branches in the future

Premises and Equipment

Premises and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization Depreciation is charged

to income over the estimated useful lives of the assets and leasehold improvements are amortized over the term of

the related lease or the estimated useful life of the improvements whichever is shorter Depreciation and amortiza

tion included in occupancy and equipment expense was $2.5 million for the year ended December 31 2011 as com

pared to $2.5 million in 2010 and $2.7 million in 2009 Depreciation on equipment leased to others is reflected in

other operating costs The following premises and equipment table reflects the balances of fixed assets by major

category

53



Premises and Eiipment

dollars
in thousands

AsofDecember3l

2011 2010 2009

Accumulated Accumulated Accumulatea

Depreciation Depreciation Depreciation

and Net Book and Net Book and Net Book

Cost Ammorlization Value Cost Ammortization Value Cost Ammortization Value

Land 2607 2607 2549 2549 2549 2549

Bui1din 16662 6843 9819 12322 5548 6774 11720 5111 6609

Leasehold improvements 8723 3066 5657 9880 3389 6491 9871 2851 7020

Constructioninprogress 12 12 1033 1033 84 84

Furniture and equipment 22092 19466 2626 21378 18035 3343 22902 19095 3807

Total $50096 29375 $20721 $47162 26972 $20190 $47126 27057 $20069

Net premises and equipment increased by $531000 or 3% during 2011 due primarily to additions related to

improvements on our new Selma branch that were partially offset by the increase in accumulated depreciation on

other buildings and equipment The net book value of the Companys aggregate premises and equipment was 1.6%

of total assets atDecember 31 2011 and 2010

Other Assets

The Companys goodwill shown as separate line item on the balance sheet totaled $5.5 million at December 31
2011 and 2010 It consists solely of goodwill that was generated in connection with our acquisition of Sierra

National Bank in 2000 and is analyzed annually for potential impairment The Companys fair value was evaluated

as of December 31 2011 and because the estimated fair value of the Company exceeded its book value including

goodwill as of the measurement date and no impairment was indicated no further testing was deemed
necessary

and

it was determined that no goodwill impairment exists

The line item for other assets on the Companys balance sheet totaled almost $82 million at December 31 2011 an

increase of only about $1 million or 2% relative to year-end 2010 At year-end 2011 its largest components include

$37.7 million in bank-owned life insurance see discussion of BOLl in Non-Interest Revenue and Operating

Expense section above $9.4 million investment in low-income housing tax credit funds $7.0 million invest

ment in restricted stock net deferred tax asset of $11.7 million current prepaid income taxes totaling $2.3 million

accrued interest receivable totaling $5.4 million and prepaid FDIC assessment of $2.7 million Restricted stock is

comprised primarily of Federal Home Loan Bank of San Franciscti FHLB stock that typically experiences bal

ance fluctuations in conjunction with our level of FHLB borrowings However the FHLB suspended stock repur

chases for period of time and only recently started to repurchase stock at minimal levels thus our restricted stock

investment is not expected to drop significantly even though our borrowings have declined This stock is not deemed

to be marketable or liquid and is thus not grouped with the Companys investments described above Management
has evaluated all deferred tax assets as of every reporting date pursuant to FASB guidance and concluded that

neither the quality of the deferred tax assets nor the Companys future taxable income potential would preclude full

realization of all amounts in future years

Deposits

Another key balance sheet component impacting the Companys net interest margin is our deposit base Deposits

provide liquidity to fund growth in earning assets and the Companys net interest margin is improved to the extent

that growth in deposits is concentrated in less volatile and typically less costly core deposits which include non-

interest bearing demand deposit accounts interest-bearing transaction accounts including demand deposits and

NOW accounts savings accounts money market demand accounts MMDAs arid non-brokered time deposits

under $100000 Information concerning average balances and rates paid on deposits by deposit type for the past
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three fiscal
years is contained in the Distribution Rate and Yield table located in the previous section under Results

of OperationsNet Interest Income and Net Interest Margin comparative distribution of the Companys deposits at

December 31st for each year from 2007 through 2011 by outstanding balance as well as by percentage of total

deposits is presented in the following table

Deposit Distribution

dollars in thousands As of December 31

Furthermore the scheduled maturity distribution of the Companys time deposits at the end of 2011 was as follows

Deposit Maturity Distribution

Dollars in thousands As of December31 2011

Three months Three to six Six to twelve One to three Over three

or less months months years years Total

CDARs 13090 1541 3431 18062

Time Certificates of Deposit $100000 63482 19747 19220 18336 825 121610

Other Time Deposits $100000 170583 24706 25258 2300 222847

Total 247155 45994 47909 20636 825 $362519

Total deposit balances increased by $34 million or 3% during 2011 Our deposit mix improved during that period

since all of the growth came in core non-maturity deposits which were up by $57 million or 8% The growth in

non-maturity deposits is due in part to our ongoing deposit acquisition programs including our highly successful

direct mail initiatives that contributed to increases in non-interest bearing demand deposits which rose by $48

million or 19% and savings deposits which were up $17 million or 22% There were additional factors at play

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

68777

300045 251908 233204 232168 243764

187155 184360 151821 100949 86936

91376 74682 62279 55373 51442

76396 156170 165097 146896 126347

943 1614 12937 49296 9159

17119 31652 129194 63364

106610 164223 147390 115303 128933

222847 187665 195510 182649 148566

15000 28000 115500 55000

1086268 1052274 1125432 1061498 850147

Interest Bearing Demand Deposits

Non-interest Bearing Demand Deposits

NOW

Savings

Money Market

CDARs $100000

CDARs $100000

Customer Time deposit $ltlO000

CustomerTime deposits $100000

Brokered Deposits

Total Deposits

Percentage of Total Deposits

Interest Bearing Demand Deposits

Non-interest Bearing Demand Deposits

NOW
Savings

Money Market

CDARs $100000

CDARs $100000

Customer Time deposit $100000

Customer Time deposits $100000

Brokered Deposits

Total

6.33%

27.62%

17.23%

8.41%

7.03%

0.09%

1.58%

9.81%

20.52%

1.38%

100.00%

0.00%

23.94%

17.52%

7.10%

14.84%

0.15%

3.01%

15.61%

17.83%

0.00%

100.00%

0.00%

20.72%

13.49%

5.53%

14.67%

1.15%

11.48%

13.10%

17.37%

2.49%

100.00%

0.00%

21.87%

9.51%

5.22%

13.84%

4.64%

5.97%

10.86%

17.21%

10.88%

100.00%

0.00%

28.67%

10.22%

6.05%

14.86%

1.08%

0.00%

15.17%

17.48%

6.47%

100.00%
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with regard to NOW accounts interest-bearing demand deposits and money market deposits We had strong organic

growth In NOW deposits in our branches but that growth was largely offset by runoff of $13million in online-only

accounts subsequent to interest rate adjustments made on our online reward checking product so NOW deposits

reflect net increase of only $3 million or 2% for 2011 Interest-bearing demand deposits new business product

that was introduced in August 2011 increased by $69 million up from zero at yçar-end 2010 due to the influx of

deposits from money market deposit sweep accounts The new account serves the same purpose as the money market

deposit sweep program but does not require third-party facilitation and is thus less costly to administer Money

market deposits declined by $80 million or 51% due mainly to the aforementioned migration of money market

accounts into the new interest-bearing demand deposit product as well as customers one-time transfer of cash

from money market deposits into collateralized repo sweep account which is non-deposit liability of the Bank

Customer time deposits under $100000 were down $58 million or 35% and declined to 10% of total deposits at

December 31 2011 from 16% at the end of 2010 since we have let deposits that are under the management of our

Treasury Department roll off as they mature Customer-sourced time deposits over $100000 on the other hand

increased by $35 million or 19% climbing to 21% of total deposits from 18% during the course of the year due in

part to migration from CDARs accounts CDARs deposits which are also time deposits that are primarily sourced

from customers in our market areas declined by combined total of $15 million or 46% In addition to our

customer deposit activity during 2011 we added $15 million in wholesale-sourced brokered deposits with maturities

in the two to four year range for interest rate risk management purposes

Despite the addition of brokered deposits in 2011 management recognizes that maintaining high level of core

customer deposits is one of the keys to sustaining strong net interest margin and as noted we continue to focus

energy in that direction Our deposit-centric marketing efforts appear to be having positive impact with an inflow

of deposit dollars from current customers who are placing higher value on the safety and security Of insured deposits

as well as from new customers who have sought more stable and secure option for their money However no

assurance can be provided that these favorable trends will continue

Other Borrowings

The Companys non-deposit borrowings include overnight borrowings from other banks fed funds purchased

overnight and term advances from the Federal Home Loan Bank securities sold under agreement to repurchase and

junior subordinated debentures that consist entirely of long-term borrowings from trust subsidiaries formed specifi

cally to issue trust preferred securities Longer-term FHLB advances having remaining maturity of one year or

more totaled $15 million at both December 31 2011 and December 31 2010 -The Company also had $31 million in

junior -subordinated debentures at December 31 2011 and December 31 2010 The details of the Companys short-

term borrowings for the years 2011 2010 and 2009k are presented below
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Short-term Borrowings

Dollars in thousands

2011 2010 2009

Repurchase Aeements

Balance at December31 3037

Average amount outstanding 2371 14909

Maximum amount outstanding at any month end 5789 27315

Average interest rate for the year 0.67% 0.00% 0.23%

Fed fund purchased

Balance at December 31

Average amount outstanding 295

Maximum amount outstanding at any month end 35 35

Average interest rate for the year 0.19% 0.32% 0.34%

FHLB advances

Balance at December31 17120 14650 10000

Average amount outstanding 5637 16044 20127

Maximum amount outstanding at any month end 33000 44900 48800

Average interest rate for the year 0.69% 1.18% 1.93%

Fed Discount Window

Balance at December 31

Average amount outstanding 13

Maximum amount outstanding at any month end

Average interest rate for the year 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

The Company uses overnight and short-term FHLB advances and fed funds purchased on uncommitted lines from

correspondent banks to support liquidity needs created by seasonal deposit flows to temporarily satisfS funding

needs from increased loan demand and for other short-term purposes The FHLB line is committed but the amount

of available credit is dependent on the level of pledged collateral We had no overnight fed funds purchased on our

books at December 31 2011 or December 31 2010 however repurchase agreement balances totaled approximately

$3 million at the end of 2011 up from zero at the end of 2010 due to customers transfer from money market

deposit account as noted in the previous section Repurchase agreements represent customer sweep accounts where

deposit balances above specified threshold are transferred at the close of every business day into non-deposit

accounts secured by investment securities Our short-term FHLB advances are comprised of $17 million in overnight

borrowings at December 31 2011 and $10 million in overnight borrowings plus $5 million in other short-term

FHLB advances maturing in less than one year at December 31 2010

Capital Resources

At December 31 2011 the Company had total shareholders equity of $168.6 million comprised of $64.3 million in

common stock $2.2 million in additional paid-in capital $98.2 million in retained earnings and $3.9 million in

accumulated other comprehensive income Total shareholders equity at the end of 2010 was $159.6 million The

$9.0 million increase in shareholders equity during 2011 was due in large part to net earnings of $7.8 million less

$3.4 million in dividends paid plus $3.0 million increase in accumulated other comprehensive income due to the

rising market values of our investment securities Total capital was also supplemented by increases related to the

exercise of stock options and our accounting for unvested stock options which added combined total of $1.4 mil

lion in 2011

The Company uses variety of measures to evaluate its capital adequacy including risk-based capital and leverage

ratios that are calculated separately for theCompany and the Bank Management reviews these capital measurements

on quarterly basis and takes appropriate action to ensure that they meet or surpass established internal and external

guidelines At December 31 2011 the Company had total capital to risk-weighted assets ratio of 21.72% Tier
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risk based capital ratio of 20.46% and leverage ratio of 14.1 1% Because of growth in capital plus drop in risk-

adjusted assets year-end 2011 capital ratios increased relative to year-end 2010 levels which were 20.3 3% for total

capital to risk-weighted assets 19.06% for Tier capital to risk-weighted assets and 13.84% for the leverage ratio

Note 13 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements provides additional information concerning the

Companys capital amounts and ratios At December 31 2011 on stand-alone basis the Bank had total risk-

based capital ratio of 20.89% Tier risk-based capital ratio of 19.63% and leverage ratio of 13.53%

As of the end of 2011 the Company and the Bank were both classified as well capitalized the highest rating of the

categories defined under the Bank Holding Company Act and the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation Improve

ment Act FDICIA of 1991 We do not foresee any circumstances that would cause the Company or the Bank to be

less than well capitalized although no assurance can be given that this will not occur For additional details on

risk-based and leverage capital guidelines requirements and calculations see Item Business Supervision and

Regulation Capital Adequacy Requirements and Item Business Supervision and Regulation Prompt Cor

rective Action Provisions herein

LiQuidity and Market Risk Management

Liquidity

Liquidity refers to the Companys ability to maintain cash flows that are adequate to fund operations and meet other

obligations and commitments in timely and cost-effective maimer Detailed cash flow projections are prepared on

monthly basis with various scenarios applied to simulate our ability to meet liquidity needs under adverse conditions

and liquidity ratios are also calculated and reviewed on regular basis While these ratios are merely indicators and

are not measures of actual liquidity they are monitored closely and we are focused on maintaining adequate liquidity

resources to draw upon should unexpected liquidity needs arise

The Company on occasion experiences short-term cash needs as the result of loan growth or deposit outflows or

asset purchases or liability repayments To meet short-term needs the Company can borrow overnight funds from

other financial institutions or solicit brokered deposits if deposits are not immediately obtainable from local sources

Availability on lines of credit from correspondent banks including the Federal Home Loan Bank totaled $188 mil

lion at December 31 2011 An additional $160 million in credit is available from the Federal Home Loan Bank if

the Company pledges sufficient additional collateral and maintains the required amount of FHLB stock The Com
pany is also eligible to borrow approximately $58 million at the Federal Reserve Discount Window if necessary

based on pledged assets at December 31 201 1. Furthermere funds can be obtained by drawing down the Companys

correspondent bank deposit accounts or by liquidating unpledged investments or other readily saleable assets In

addition the Company can raise immediate cash for temporary needs.by selling under agreement to repurchase those

investments in its portfolio which are not pledged as collateral As of December 31 2011 unpledged debt securities

plus pledged securities in excess of current pledging requirements comprised $310 million of the Companys
investment portfolio balances Other forms of balance sheet liquidity include but are not necessarily limited to fed

funds sold vault cash and balances due from banks The Company experienced significant shift from contingent

liquidity to actual balance sheet liquidity in 2010 due to the arrangement of letter of credit from the FHLB for cer

tain pledging requirements in place of investment securities The FHLB letter of credit was reduced in 2011 but still

totaled $79 million at December 31 2011 Management is of the opinion that its investments and other potentially

liquid assets along with other standby funding sources it has arranged are more than sufficient to meet the Com
panys current and anticipated short-term liquidity needs

The .Companys primary liquidity and average loans to assets ratios were 37% and 56% respectively at December

31 2011 as compared to internal policy guidelines of greater than 8% and less than 78% The liquidity ratio is

calculated with the balance of cash and due from banks plus available investment securities and committed

available-for-sale loans as the numerator and non-collateralized deposits and short-term liabilities as the

denominator Other liquidity ratios reviewed by management and the Board include average net loans to core

deposits net non-core funding dependence and reliance on wholesale funding all of which were well within policy

guidelines at December 31 2011 Strong growth in core deposits combined with loan runoff and growth in invest

ments has had positive impact on our liquidity position in recent periods although no assurance can be provided

that this will continue to be the case
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Interest Rate Risk Management

Market risk arises from changes in interest rates exchange rates commodity prices and equity prices The Company
does not engage in the trading of financial instruments nor does it have exposure to currency exchange rates Our

market risk exposure is primarily that of interest rate risk and we have established policies and procedures to monitor

and limit our earnings and balance sheet exposure to changes in interest rates The principal objective of interest rate

risk management sometimes referred to as assetlliability management is to manage the financial components of

the Companys balance sheet in manner that will optimize the risk/reward equation for earnings and capital under

variety of interest rate scenarios To identif areas of potential exposure to rate changes the Company performs an

earnings simulation analysis and market value of portfolio equity calculation on monthly basis

The Company uses Sendero modeling software for asset/liability management in order to simulate the effects of

potential interest rate changes on the Companys net interest income and to calculate the estimated fair values of the

Companys financial instruments under different interest rate scenarios The program imports balances interest rates

maturity dates and re-pricing information for individual financial instruments and incorporates assumptions on the

characteristics of embedded options along with pricing and duration for .new volumes to calculate the expected effect

of given interest rate change on the Companys projected interest income and interest expense Rate scenarios con

sisting of key rate and yield curve projections are run against the Companys investments loans deposits and bor

rowed funds These rate projections can be shocked an immediate and parallel change in all base rates up or down
ramped an incremental increase cr decrease in rates over specified time period economic based on current trends

and econometric models or stable unchanged from current actual levels

The Company uses seven standard interest rate scenarios in conducting its simulations stable upward shocks of

100 200 and 300 basis points and downward shocks of 100 200 and 300 basis points Our policy is to limit any

projected decline in net interest income relative to the stable rate scenario for the next 12 months to less than 5% for

100 basis point b.p shock 10% for 200 b.p shock and 15% for 300 b.p shock in interest rates Per regula

tory guidance we also apply an upward shock of 400 b.p for net interest income simulations As of December 31
2011 the Company had the following estimated net interest income sensitiyity profile without factoring in any

potential negative impact on spreads resulting from competitive pressures

Immediate Change in Rate

-300 b.p -200 b.p -100 b.p 100 b.p 200 b.p 300 b.p 400 b.p

Change in Net mt Inc in $000s -$7726 -$5888 -$3329 $2199 $491 $5349 $6883

Change -15.86% -12.09% -6.84% 4.52% 7.17% 10.98% 14.13%

Our current net interest income simulations indicate that the Company has an asset-sensitive profile meaning that net

interest income increases in rising interest rate scenarios but drop in interest rates could have negative impact We
have seen this profile steepen over the past couple of years as we have benefited from an increasing proportion of

lower-cost non-maturity deposits If there were an immediate and sustained downward adjustment of 100 basis

points in interest rates all else being equal net interest income over the next twelve months would likely be around

$3.329 million lower than in stable interest rate scenario drop of 6.84% The unfavorable variance increases

when rates drop 200 or 300 basis points due to the fact that certain deposit rates are already relatively low on NOW
accounts and savings accounts for example and will hit natural floor of close to zero while variable-rate loan

yields continue to drop This effect is exacerbated by the fact that prepayments on fixed-rate loans and mortgage-

backed securities tend to increase as rates decline although rate floors on some of our variable-rate loans partially

offset other negative pressures While we view declining interest rates as highly unlikely the potential reduction in

net interest income in declining rate scenarios exceeds our internal policy guidelines and we will continue to monitor

our interest rate risk profile and take corrective action as appropriate

If interest rates were to increase by 100 basis points net interest income would likely improve by around $2 199

million or 4.52% relative to stable interest rate scenario Since many of our variable-rate loans are currently at

rate floors the initial gain in net interest income in rising rates is of lower magnitude than the drop under declining

rates because of the re-pricing lag that occurs while variable rates are increasing to floored levels The larger the

increase in interest rates however the more our net interest margin benefits
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The economic or fair value of fmancial instruments on the Companys balance sheet will also vary under The

interest rate scenarios previously discussed This variance is essentially gauge of longer-term exposure to interest

rate risk It is measured by simulating changes in the Companys economic value of equity EVE which is calcu

lated by subtracting the fair value of liabilities from the fair value of assets Fair values for financial instruments are

estimated by discounting projected cash flows principal and interest at current replacement interest rates for each

account type while the fair value of non-financial accounts is assumed to equal their book value for all rate

scenarios An economic value simulation is static measure for balance sheet accounts at given point in time and

this measurement can change substantially over time as the characteristics of the Companys balance sheet evolve

and as interest rate and yield curve assumptions are updated

The amount of change in economic value under different interest rate scenarios depends on the characteristics of each

class of financial instrwnent including the stated interest rate or spread relative to current market rates or spreads the

likelihood of prepayment whether the rate is fixed or floating and thematurity date of the instrument As general

rule fixed-rate financial assets become more valuable in declining rate scenarios and less valuable in rising rate

scenarios while fixed-rate financial liabilities gain in value as interest rates rise and lose value as interest rates

decline. The longer the duration of the financial instrument the greater the impact rate change will have on its

value In our economic value simulations estimated prepayments are factored in for financial instruments with stated

maturity dates and decay rates for non-maturity deposits are projected based on historical patterns and managements

best estimates We have found that model results are highly sensitive to changes in the assumed decay rate for non-

maturity deposits in particular The table below shows estimated changes in the Companys EVE as of December

31 2011 under different interest rate scenarios relative to base case of current interest rates

Immediate Change in Rate

-300 b.p -200 b.p -100 b.p 100 b.p 200 b.p 300 b.p

Change inEVE in $000s -$23038 -$47287 -$26170 $23806 $30614 $41577

Change -7.37% -15.12% -8.37% 7.61% 9.79% 13.30%

The table shows that our EVE will generally deteriorate in declining rate scenarits but will benefit from rising rates

The changes in EVE are not symmetrical however due to the optinality inherent in certain financial insthjments

Our EVE profile has changed substantially in recent periods moving from unfavorable exposure to benefit under

rising rates due in part to growth in non-maturity deposits and adjustments applied to deposit decay rates and loan

prepayment rates in order to better reflect historical patterns Effectively lower deposit decay rates mean that we

have longer period to benefit from low-cost deposits which are even more valuable when the cost of replacing

them becomes greater as would be the case in rising rate environment However the same changes that have

improved our profile in rising rate scenarios have created somewhat greater exposure to declining rates That nega
tive impact was exacerbated by the acceleration of loan prepayment rates in declining rate scenarios While still

negative we see favorable swing in EVE as interest rates drop from 200 basis points to 300 basis points This is

due to the longer duration of our fixed-rate assets relative to our fixed-rate liabilities and the resulting impact of

significant rate decline .on financial instrument fair values As noted previously however management is of the

opinion that the probability of significant rate decline is extremely low

ITEM 7A QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The information concerning quantitative and qualitative disclosures of market risk called for by Item 305 of Regula

tion S-K is included as part of Item above See Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition

and Results of Operations Liquidity andMarket Risk Management
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Board of Directors

Sierra Bancorp and Subsidiary

Porterville California

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Sierra Bancorp and Subsidiary the Company
as of December 31 2011 and 2010 and the related consolidated statements of income changes in shareholders

equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2011 These consolidated finan

cial statements are the responsibility of the Companys management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on

these consolidated financial statements based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about

whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement An audit includes examining on test basis

evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements An audit also includes assessing the

accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management as well as evaluating the overall financial

statement presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects the

fmancial position of Sierra Bancorp and Subsidiary as of December 31 2011 and 2010 and the results of its

operations changes in its shareholders equity and its cash flows for each of the years in the three year period ended

December 31 2011 in conformity with U.S generally accepted accounting principles

We have also audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United
States the Companys internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2011 based on criteria estab

lished in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the

Treadway Commission and our report dated March 12 2012 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon

Is Vavrinek Trine Day Co LLP

Rancho Cucamonga California

Marchl22012

62



SIERRA BANCORP AND SUBSIDIARY

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31 2011 and 2010

Dollars in thousands

2011 2010

ASSETS
Cash and duefrom banks 42805 42110

Interest-bearing deposits in banks 20231 325

Federal funds sold 210

Cash and cash equivalents 63036 42645

lnvastment securities availablefor-sale 406471 331730

Loans held-for-sale 1354 914

Loans and leases net of allowance for loan and lease losses of

$17283 in 2011 and $21138 in 2010 740929 783601

Premises and equipment net 20721 20190

Operating leases net 384 904

Foreclosed assets 15364 20691

Goodwill 5544 5544

Other assets 81602 80352
Total Assets $1335405 $1286571

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY

Deposits

Non-interest bearing 300045 251908

Interest bearing 786223 800366

Total Deposits 1086268 1052274

Federal funds purchased and repurchase agreements 3037

Short-term borrowings 17120 14650

Long-term borrowings 15000 15000

Subordinated debentures 30928 30928

Other liabilities 14488 14122

Total liabilities 1166841 1126974

Commitments and contingencies Note 11

Shareholders equity

Serial Preferred stock no par value 10000000 shares

authorized none issued

Common stock no par value 24000000 shares authorized

14101609 and 13976741 shares issued and outstanding

in 2011 and 2010 resecti\ely 64321 63477

Additional paid in capital 2221 1652

Retained earnings 98174 93570

Accumulated other comprehensiva income net of taxes of

$2676 in 2011 and $650 in 2010 3848 898

Total shareholders equity 168564 159597

Total liabilities and shareholders equity $1335405 $1286571

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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SIERRA BANCORP AND SUBSIDIARY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

For the Years Ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009

Dollars in thousands except per share data

Interest income

Interest and fees on loans and leases

Interest on inestment sØcunties

Taxable

Exempt from federal tax

Interest on Federal funds sold and interest-beanng deposits
___________ ___________

Total interest income
___________ ___________

Interest expense

Interest on deposits

Interest on short-term borrowings

Interest on long-term borrowings

Interest on subordinated debentures

Total interest expense
___________ ___________

Net Interest Income

Provision fo loan and lease losses

Net Interest Income after Provision for Loan

and lease losses

Non-interest reenue

Service charges on deposit accounts

Gain on sale of loans

Credit card fees

Checkcard fees

Gains on sales and calls of investment securities

aeilable-for-sale

Other-than-temporary impairment losses on equity securities

Increase in-cash surrender eIue of life insurance

Loss on sale of foreclosed assets

Other income

Total non-interest income

Other operating expense

Salaries and employee benefits

Occupancy and equipment expense

Other
___________ ___________

Total non-interest expense ___________ ___________

Income before income taxes

Provision for income taxes

Net Income

Earnings per share

Basic

Diluted

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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2011 2010 2009

46959 53057 59284

8753 8025 8300

2834 2709 2476

68 40 86

58614 63831 70146

4305

55

569

728

5657

52957

6121

190

604

734

7649

56182

10040

425

798

914

12177

57
12000 16680 21574

40957 39502 36395

9543

139

411

2519

1660

1370
934

451
1261

14646

20669

6758

19832

4725g

8344

564

7780

0.55

0.55

11212

105

391

2261

2643

1382

1535
1402

17861

20869

7040

22325

50234

7129

234

1363

0.61

0.60

11552

81

417

1782

1099

1561

204
991

17279

18963

6949

18226

44138

9536

608

8928

0.86

0.86



SIERA BANCORP AND SLSlDlARY

CONSOLIDATB STATi OF CHANGES IN SHARBIOLDES EQUITY

For Three Years Ended December 31 2011

Dollars in thousands except share data

Accumulated Other

Retained Comprehensive

Earnings Income

Balance January 2009 9673291 20891 998 83932 979 106800

Con-prehensive Income

Net Income

Net change in unrealized gain on

investment securities available-

for-sale net of tax

Corrprehensive income

Issuance of Coniixn stock 1935000

Exercise of stock options and related

tax benefit

Stock corrpensation costs

Cash dividends $40 per share

Other net

Balance Decen-ber 31 2009

Conrehensive income

Net Income

Net change in unrealized gain on

investment securities available-

for-sale net of tax

Comçrehensive income

Issuance of Coniron stock

Exercise of stock options and related

tax benefit

Stock corrpensation costs

Cash dividends $.24 per share

Balance Decenter 31 2010

CorTprehensive income

Net Income

Net change in unrealized gain on

investment securities available-

for-sale net of tax

Conprehensive income

Reversal of Cuniilative effect of change

in accounting principle EITF 06-4

Expense related to issuance of cormon stock

Exercise of stock options and related

tax benefit

Stock conpensation costs

Cash dividends $.24 per share
____________

Balance Decenter 31 2011

2935

93570

1740 1740

10668

20375

105

250

4067

______
349

134480

1821 1821

5542

21864

261

385

2935
898 159597

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

Common Stock

Shares Amount

Additional

Paid In

Capital

Shareholders

Eiuitv

8928 8928

12200

20375

105

250

4067
349

11620491 41371 1248 89142 2719

7363

2325000 21864

31250 242 19

385

7363

13976741 63477

23

124868 867

14101609 64321

1652

109

460

7780

191

2950

7780

2950

10730

191

23

976

460

3367

168564

3367

2221 98174 3848

65



SIERRA BANCORP AND SUBSIDIARY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the Years Ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009

Dollars in thousands

2011 2010 2009

Cash flows from operating actMties

Net income 7780 7363 8928

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash

provided by operating activities

Gain on irnestment of securities 1660 2643 1099
Other-than-temporary impairment loss 1370

Gain on sales of loans 139 105 81
Loss on disposal of lixed assets 25 243 52

Loss on sale on foreclosed assets 451 1536 204

Wntedown on foreclosed assets 4184 5045 1265

Share-based compensation expense 460 385 250

ProAsion forloan losses 12000 16680 21574

Depreciation and amortization 2695 2890 3103

Net amortization on securities premiums and discounts 5874 3469 548

Increase in unearned net loan fees 509 752 726
Increase in cash surrender Iue of life insurance policies 934 1522 1561
Proceeds from sales of loans 7210 2705 7393

Originations of Loans Held For Sale 7511 3138 7488
Decrease Increase in interest receivable and other assets 2354 2365 1506
Increase Decrease in other liabilities 666 568 1572

Net Decrease in FHLB and CEDLI stock at cost 1321 1000

Deferred income tax benefit 881 2919 8745
Excess tax benefit from equity based compensation 109 19 11

Net cash provided by operating actMties 34647 32015 23672

Cash flows from invasting activities

Maturities of securities available for sale 7107 6787 8737

Proceeds from sales/calls of securities available for sale 46872 75319 30197
Purchases of securities available for sale 205500 208477 120268
Principal paydowns on securities available for sale 76171 68838 50133
Decrease in loans receivable net 24661 48930 27659

Purchases of premises and equipment net 2734 2481 3437
Proceeds from sales of foreclosed assets 7212 9798 1603

Purchase of bank owned life insurance 5132

Net cash used in investing activities 51343 1286 5376

Continued
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SIERRA BANCORP AND SUBSIDIARY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Continued

For the Years Ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009

Dollars in thousands

Cash flows from financing activities 2011 2010 2009

Increase Decrease in deposits 33994 73158 63934
Increase Decrease in borrowed funds 2470 350 59500
Increase Decrease in Repurchase Agreements 3037 24419
Cash diAdends paid 3367 2935 4067
Expense Proceeds from issuance of Common Stock 23 21864 20375

Stock options exercised 867 242 94

Excess tax provision from equity based compensation 109 19 11

Net cash provided by used in financing activities 37087 54318 3572

Increase Decrease in cash and due from banks 20391 23589 14724

Cash and cash equivalents beginning of year 42645 66234 51510

Cash and cash equivalents end of year 63036 42645 66234

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information

Cash paid dunng the year for

Interest 5492 8155 12512

Income taxes 1643 5360 4830

Non-cash invasting activities

Real estate acquired through foreclosure 6520 15993 24653

Change in unrealized net gains on

lnvastment securities available-for-sale 4975 3145 3002

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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SIERRA BANORP AND SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

THE BUSINESS OF SIERRA BANCORP

Sierra Bancorp the Company is California corporation registered as bank holding company
under the Bank Holding Company Act of 1956 as amended and is headquartered in Porterville

California The Company was incorporated in November 2000 and acquired all of the outstanding

shares of Bank of the Sierra the Bank in August 2001 The Companys principal subsidiary is the

Bank and the Company exists primarily for the purpose of holding the stock of the Bank and of such

other subsidiaries it may acquire or establish The Qompnys only other direct subsidiaries are Sierra

Statutory Trust II which was formed in March 2004 solely to facilitate the issuance of capital trust

pass-through securities and Sierra Capital Trust III which was formed in June 2006 also for the

purpose of issuing capital trust pass-through eci1nties

The Bank operates twenty-five full service branch offices one online virtual branch and two credit

centers The Banks deposits are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation FDIC up to

applicable legal limits The Bank maintains diversified loan portfolio comprised of agricultural

commercial consumer real estate construction and mortgage loans Loans are made primarily within

the market area of the South Central San Joaquin Valley of California specifically Tulare Fresno

Kern Kings and Madera counties These areas have diverse economies with principal industries

being agriculture real estate and light manufacturing

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Consolidation and Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and the consolidated

accounts of its wholly-owned subsidiary Bank of the Sierra All significant intercompany balances and

transactions have been eliminated Certain reclassifications have been made to prior years balances

to conform to classifications used in 2011 The accounting and reporting policies of the Company
conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America US GAAP and

prevailing practices within the banking industry

In accordance with U.S GAAP the Companys investments in Sierra Statutory Trust II and Sierra

Capital Trust Ill are not consolidated and are accounted for under the equity method and included in

other assets on the consolidated balance sheet The subordinated debentures issued and guaranteed

by the Company and held by the trusts are reflected on the Companys consolidated balance sheet

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S GAAP requires

management to make estimates and assumptions These estimates and assumptions affect the

reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the

reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period Actual results could differ

from these estimates

Material estimates that are particularly susceptible to significant changes in the near-term relate to the

determination of the allowance for loan and lease losses and the valuation of real estate acquired in

connection with foreclosures or in satisfaction of loans In connection with the determination of the

allowances for loan and lease losses and other real estate management obtains independent

appraisals for significant properties evaluates the overall loan portfolio characteristics and

delinquencies and monitors economic conditions

Cash Equivalents

For purposes of reporting cash flows cash and cash equivalents include cash and balances due from

banks federal funds sold and interest bearing deposits in banks
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SIERRA BANCORP AND SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Continued

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Continued

Investment Securities

Investments are classified into the following categories

Securities available-for-sale reported at fair value with unrealized gains and losses

excluded from earnings and reflected net of tax as separate component of

shareholders equity in accumulated other comprehensive income

Securities held-to-maturity which the Company has the intent and has the ability to hold

to maturity are carried at cost adjusted for amortization of premiums and the accretion

of discounts

Management determines the appropriate classification of its investments at the time of purchase and

may only change the classification in certain limited circumstances All transfers between categories

are accounted for at fair value

Management evaluates securities for other-than-temporary impairment OTTI on at least

quarterly basis and more frequently when economic or market conditions warrant such an evaluation

For securities in an unrealized loss position management considers the extent and duration of the

unrealized loss and the financial condition and near-term prospects of the issuer Management also

assesses whether it intends to sell or it is more likely than not that it will be required to sell security

in an unrealized loss position before recovery of its amortized cost basis If either of the criteria

regarding intent or requirement to sell is met the entire difference between amortized cost and fair

value is recognized as impairment through earnings For debt securities that do not meet the

aforementioned criteria the amount of impairment is split into two components as follows OTTI

related to credit loss which must be recognized in the income statement and other-than-temporary

impairment OTT1 related to other factors which is recognized in other comprehensive income The

credit loss is defined as the difference between the present value of cash flows expected to be

collected and the amortized cost basis For equity securities the entire amount of impairment is

recognized through earnings

Loans and Leases Financing Receivables

Our credit quality classifications of Loans and Leases include Pass Special Mention Substandard

and Impaired These classifications are defined in Note Loans and Leases to our consolidated

financial statements

Loans and leases are reported at the principal amounts outstanding adjusted for unearned income

deferred loan origination fees and costs purchase premiums and discounts write-downs and the

allowance for loan and lease losses Loan and lease origination fees net of certain deferred

origination costs and purchase premiums and thscounts are recognized as an adjustment to yield of

the related loans and leases over the contractual life of the loan using both the effective interest and

straight line methods

Interest income for all performing loans regardless of classification Pass Special Mention

Substandard and Impaired is recognized on an accrual basis with interest accrued daily Costs

associated with successful loan originations are netted from loan origination fees with the net amount

net deferred loan fees amortized over the contractual life of the loan in interest income If loan has

scheduled periodic payments the amortization of the net deferred loan fee is calculated using the

effective interest method over the contractual life of the loan If the loan does not have scheduled

payments such as line of credit the net deferred loan fee is recognized as interest income on

straight line basis over the contractual life of the loan Fees received for loan commitments are

recognized as interest income over the term of the commitment When loans are repaid any

remaining unamortized balances of deferred fees and costs are accounted for through interest

income
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Generally the Company places loans and leases regardless of class on nonaccrual status and

ceases recognizing interest income when the loan has become delinquent more than 90 days and/or

when Management determines that the repayment of principal and collection of interest is unlikely

The Company may decide that it is appropriate to continue to accrue interest on certain loans more

than 90 days delinquent if they are well-secured by collateral and collection is in process When
loan is placed on nonaccrual status any accrued but uncollected interest for the loan is reversed out

of interest income in the period in which the loans status changed Subsequent payments received

from the customer are applied to principal and no further interest income is recognized until the

principal has been paid in full or until circumstances have changed such that payments are again

consistently received as contractually required

Impaired loans are classified as either nonaccrual or accrual depending on individual circumstances

regarding the collectability of interest and principal according to the contractual terms For performing

impaired loans and leases interest income is accrued and recognized on daily basis and applied to

current income For nonaccrual impaired loans and leases all unpaid accrued interest is reversed

against current income unless the loan or lease is well secured and in the process of collection

Interest received on nonaccrual impaired loans and leases is generally applied to principal or reported

as interest income according to managements judgment as to the collectability of principal The

accrual of interest on loans and leases is discontinued when in the opinion of management there is

an indication that the borrower may be unable to meet payments as they become due

For loans with an interest reserve i.e where loan proceeds are advanced to the borrower to make
interest payments all interest recognized from the inception of the loan is reversed when the loan is

placed on non-accrual

Generally loans and leases are restored to accrual status when the obligation is brought current and

has performed in accordance with the contractual terms for reasonable period of time and the

ultimate collectability of the total contractual principal and interest is no longer in doubt Direct

financing leases are carried net of unearned income Income from leases is recognized by method

that approximates level yield on the outstanding net investment in the lease

Loans Modified in Troubled Debt Restructuring

Loans are considered to have been modified in troubled debt restructuring TDR when due to

borrowers financial difficulties the Company makes certain concessions to the borrower that it would

not otherwise consider Modifications may include interest rate reductions principal or interest

forgiveness forbearance and other actions intended to minimize economic loss and to avoid

foreclosure or repossession of collateral Generally non-accrual loan that has been modified in

TDR remains on non-accrual status for period of six months to demonstrate that the borrower is

able to meet the terms of the modified loan However performance prior to the modification or

significant events that coincide with the modification are included in assessing whether the borrower

can meet the new terms and may result in the loar being returned to accrual status at the time of loan

modification or after shorter performance period If the borrowers ability to meet the revised

payment schedule is uncertain the loan remains on non-accrual status TDRs may be removed from

TDR designation in the calendar year following the restructuring if the loan is in compliance with all

modified terms and is yielding market rate of interest

TDR is generally considered to be in default when it appears likely that the customer will not be

able to repay all principal and interest pursuant to the terms of the restructured agreement

70



SIERRA BANCORP AND SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Continued

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Continued

Allowance for Loan and Lease Losses

The allowance for loan and lease losses is maintained at level which in managements judgment is

adequate to absorb loan and lease losses inherent in the loan and lease portfolio The allowance for

loan and lease losses is increased by provision for loan and lease losses which is charged to

expense and reduced by charge-offs net of recoveries The amount of the allowance is based on

managements evaluation of the collectability of the loan and lease portfolio changes in its risk profile

credit concentrations historical trends and economic conditions This evaluation also considers the

balance of impaired loans and leases loan or lease is impaired when it is probable that the Bank

will be unable to collect all contractual principal and interest payments due in accordance with the

terms of the loan or lease agreement Losses on individually identified loans or leases are measured

based on the present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest

rate of the loan or lease with any changes over time recognized as bad debt expense in our provision

for loan losses As practical expedient impairment may be measured based on the loans or leases

observable market price or the fair value of the collateral if the loan or lease is collateral dependent

The amount of impairment if any is recorded through the provision for loan and lease losses and is

added to the allowance for loan and lease losses One-to-four family residential mortgages and

consumer installment loans are subjected to collective evaluation for impairment considering

delinquency and repossession statistics historical loss experience and other factors

General reserves cover non-impaired loans and are based on historical migration net loss rates for

each portfolio segment by call report code adjusted for the effects of qualitative or environmental

factors that are likely to cause estimated credit losses as of the evaluation date to differ from the

portfolio segments historical loss experience Qualitative factors include consideration of the

following changes in lending policies and procedures changes in international national regional

and local economic and business conditions and developments changes in nature and volume of the

portfolio changes in the experience ability and depth of lending management and other relevant

staff changes in the volume and severity of past due nonaccrual and other adversely graded loans

changes in quality of the loan review system changes in the value of the underlying collateral for

collateral-dependent loans concentrations of credit and the effect of the other external factors such

as competition and legal and regulatory requirements

Most of the Companys business activity is with customers located within the Central Valley of

California primarily Fresno Kings Tulare and Kern Counties Therefore the Companys exposure to

credit risk is significantly affected by changes in the economy in these counties The Company
considers this concentration of credit risk when assessing and assigning qualitative factors in the

allowance for loan losses Portfolio segments identified by the Company include Direct Financing

leases Agricultural Commercial and Industrial Real Estate Small Business Administration and

Consumer loans Relevant risk characteristics for these portfolio segments generally include debt

service coverage loan-to-value ratios and financial performance on non-consumer related loans and

credit scores debt-to-income ratios collateral type and loan-to-value ratios for consumer related

loans

Though management believes the allowance fQr loan and lease losses to be adequate ultimate

losses may vary from their estimates However estimates are reviewed periodically and as

adjustments become necessary they are reported in earnings during periods they become known In

addition the FDIC and the California Department of Financial Institutions as an integral part of their

examination process review the allowance for loan and lease losses These agencies may require

additions to the allowance for loan and lease losses based on their judgment about information

available at the time of their examinations
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Reserve for Off-Balance Sheet Commitments

In addition to the exposure to credit loss from outstanding loans the Company is also exposed to

credit loss from certain off-balance sheet commitments such as unused commitments from revolving

lines of credit mortgage warehouse lines of credit unused commitments on construction loans and

commercial and standby letters of credit Because the available funds have not yet been disbursed

on these commitments the estimated losses are not included in the calculation of ALLL The reserve

for off-balance sheet commitments is an estimated loss contingency which is included in other

liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets The adjustments to the reserve for off-balance sheet

commitments are reported as noninterest expense This reserve is for estimated losses that could

occur when the Company is contractually obligated to make payment under these instruments and

must seek repayment from party that may not be as financially sound in the current period as it was
when the commitment was originally made

Sale and Servicing of Loans

The Company periodically originates loans intended to be sold on the secondary market These

loans are recorded as held for sale and reported at the lower of cost or fair value in the Consolidated

Balance Sheets The loans cost basis includes unearned deferred fees and costs and premiums and

discounts These loans are generally heldbetween 30 to 90 days from their origination date Loans

held for sale by the Company are residential real estate loans Loans classified as held for sale are

disclosed in Note uLoans of these Consolidated Financial Statements

Gains and losses on sales of loans are recognized at the time of sale and are calculated based on
the difference between the selling price and the allocated book value of loans sold Book value

allocations are determined in accordance with US GAAP Any inherent risk of loss on loans sold is

transferred to the buyer at the date of sale

The Company has issued various representations and warranties associated With the sale of loans

These representations and warranties may require the Company to repurctiase loans with

underwriting deficiencies as defined per the applicable sales agreements and certain past due loans

within 90 days of the sale The Company did not experience losses during the years ended

December 31 2011 2010 or 2009 regarding these representations and warranties

Premises and Eguiment

Premises and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation Depreciation is computed

using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets The useful lives of

premises are estimated to be thirty years The useful lives of furniture fixtures and equipment are

estimated to be three to twenty years Leasehold imprOvements are amortized over the life of the

asset or the term of the related lease whichever is shorter When assets are sold or otherwise

disposed of the cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and any

resulting gain or loss is recognized in income for the period The cost of maintenance and repairs is

charged to expense as incurred

Impairment of long-lived assets is evaluated by management based upon an event or changes in

circumstances surrounding the underlying assets which indicate long-lived assets may be impaired
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Foreclosed Assets

Foreclosed assets include real estate and other property acquired in full or partial settlement of loan

obligations When property is acquired any excess of the recorded investment in the loan balance

and accrued interest income over the appraised fair market value of the property net of estimated

selling costs is charged against the allowance for loan and lease losses valuation allowance for

losses on foreclosed assets is maintained to provide for temporary declines in value The allowance

is established through provision for losses on foreclosed assets which is included in other non-

interest expense Subsequent gains or losses on sales or write-downs resulting from permanent

impairments are recorded in other non-interest income or expense as incurred

Goodwill

The Company acquired Sierra National Bank in 2000 and the acquisition was accounted for using

the purchase method of accounting The goodwill resulting from this transaction represents the

amount by which the purchase price exceeded the fair value of the net assets In accordance with

U.S GAAP the Company evaluates goodwill periodically for impairment There was no impairment

recognized forthe years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009

Income Taxes

The Company files its income taxes on consolidated basis with its subsidiary The allocation of

income tax expense represents each entitys proportionate share of the consolidated provision for

income taxes

Income taxes are accounted for using the asset and liability method Under the asset and liability

method deferred taxes are recognized for the tax consequences of temporary differences by

applying enacted statutory tax rates applicable to future years to differences between the financial

statement carrying amounts and the tax bases of existing assets and liabilities The effect on

deferred taxes of change in tax rates would be recognized in income in the period that includes the

enactment date valuation allowance if needed reduces deferred tax assets to the amount

expected to be realized

The Company adopted guidance issued by the FASB accounting for income taxes effective January

2007 which clarifies the accounting and disclosure for uncertainty in tax positions as defined This

guidance seeks to reduce the diversity in practice associated with certain aspects of the recognition

and measurement related to accounting for income taxes tax position is recognized as benefit

only if it is more likely than not that the tax position would be sustained in tax examination with

tax examination being presumed to occur The amount recognized is the largest amount of tax

benefit that is greater than 50% likely to be realized on examination For tax positions not meeting

the umore likely than not test no tax benefit is recorded We have determined that as of December

31 2011 all tax positions taken to date are highly certain and accordingly no accounting adjustment

has been made to the financial statements

The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions as part of income

tax expense

Salary Continuation Acireements and Directors Retirement Plan

The Company has entered into agreements to provide members of the Board of Directors and certain

key executives or their designated beneficiaries with annual benefits for up to fifteen years after

retirement or death The Company accrues for these future benefits from the effective date of the

plan until the directors or executives expected retirement date in systematic and rational manner

At the consolidated balance sheet date the amount of accrued benefits equals the then present value

of the benefits expected to be provided to the director or employee any beneficiaries and covered

dependents in exchange for the directors or employees services to that date
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Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income consists of net income and the net change in unrealized gains on securities

available-for-sale net of an adjustment for the effects of realized gains and lossesand any applicable

tax Comprehensive income is more inclusive financial reporting methodology that includes

disclosure of other comprehensive income that historically has not been recognized in the calculation

of net income Unrealized gains and losses on the Companys available-for-sale investment

securities are included in other comprehensive income after the adjustment for the effects of realized

gains and losses Total comprehensive income and the components of accumulated other

comprehensive income loss are presented in the consolidated statement of changes in

shareholders equity

Stock-Based Compensation

At December 31 2011 the Company had one stock-based compensation plan the Sierra Bancorp
2007 Stock Incentive Plan the 2007 Plan which was adopted by the Companys Board of

Directors on March 15 2007 and approved by the Companys shareholders on May 23 2007 The
2007 Plan is for 1500000 shares of the Companys authorized but unissued common stock subject

to adjustment for stock splits and dividends and provides for the issuance of both incentive and

nonqualified stock options to salaried officers and employees and of nonqualified stock options to

non-employee directors The 2007 Plan also provides for the issuance of restricted stock awards to

these same classes of eligible participants We have not issued nor do we currently have plans to

issue restricted stock awards The 2007 plan supersedes the Companys 1998 Stock Option plan

1998 Plan which was terminated The outstanding options issued under the .1998 Plan were not

affected by this termination

The Company is using the Black-Scholes model to value stock options The multiple option

approach is used to allocate the resulting valuation to actual expense for current period Expected

volatility is based on historical volatility of the Companys common stock The Company uses

historical data to estimate option exercise and post-vesting termination behavior The expected term

of options granted is based on historical data and represents the period of time that options granted

are expected to be outstanding which takes into account that the options are not transferable The
risk-free interest rate for the expected term of the option is based on the U.S Treasury yield curve in

effect at the time of the grant The fair value of each option is estimated on the date of grant using the

following assumptions

2011 2010 2009

DiAdend yield 2.27% 2.24% 4.54%

Expected Volatility 52.92% 54.22% 52.17%

Risk-free interest rate 1.06% 1.18% 2.33%

Expected option life 6.8 years 5.8 years 5.8 years
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2011 the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB issued Accounting

Standards Update ASU 2011-08 IntangiblesGoodwill and Other Topic 350 Testing Goodwill

for Impairment The objective of ASU 2011-08 is to simplify how entities test goodwill for impairment

Topic 350 requires an entity to test goodwill for impairment on at least an annual basis by comparing

the fair value of reporting unit with its carrying amount including goodwill step one If the fair

value of reporting unit is less than its carrying amount then the second step of the test must be

performed to measure the amount of the impairment loss if any Pursuant to ASU 2011-08 an entity

will not be required to calculate the fair value of reporting unit and perform step one unless after

assessing qualitative factors the entity determines that it is more likely than not that its fair value is

less than its carrying amount The more-likely-than-not threshold is defined as having likelihood of

more than 50 percent This update is effective for annual and interim goodwill impairment tests

performed for fiscal years beginning after December 15 2011 Early adoption is permitted including

for annual and interim goodwill impairment tests performed as of date before September 15 2011

if an entitys financial statements for the most recent annual or interim period have not yet been

issued Management expects that the adoption of ASU 2011-08 will not have an impact on the

Companys financial statements as the Company has not yet been required to perform the second

step of the goodwill impairment test since the first step has thus far always determined that the fair

value of the reporting unit Bank of the Sierra is greater than its carrying amount

In June 2011 the Financial FASB issued ASU 2011-05 Comprehensive Income Topic 220
Presentation of Comprehensive Income Current U.S generally accepted accounting principles allow

reporting entities several alternatives for displaying other comprehensive income and its components

in financial statements and ASU 2011-05 is intended to improve the consistency of this reporting

issue The amendments in thisASU require all non-owner changes in stockholders equity to be

presented either in single continuous statement of comprehensive income or in two separate but

consecutive statements In single continuous statement the entity is required to present the

components of net income and total net income the components of other comprehensive income and

total for other comprehensive income along with the total of comprehensive income in that

statement In the two-statement.approach an entity is required to present components of net income

and total net income in the statement of net income The statement of other comprehensive income

should immediately follow the statement of net income and include the components of other

comprehensive income and total for other comprehensive income along with total for

comprehensive income Furthermore the entity is required to present on the face of the financial

statements adjustments for items that are reclassified from other comprehensive income to net

income in the statements where the components of net income and the components of other

comprehensive income are presented The amendments in the ASU do not change the following

items that must be reported in other comprehensive income when an item of other comprehensive

income must be reclassified to net income the option to present components of other

comprehensive income either net of related tax effects or before related tax effects or how

earnings per share is calculated or presented The amendments in ASU 2011-05 should be applied

retrospectively For public entities such as the Company the amendments are effective for fiscal

years and interim periods within those years beginning after December 15 2011 Early adoption is

permitted The Companys adoption of this ASU will impact our presentation of comprehensive

income but not the calculation of such
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In May 2011 the FASB issued ASU No 2011-04 Fair Value Measurement Topic 820 Amendments

to Achieve Common Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in U.S GAAP and

IFRSs to substantially converge the fair value measurement and disclosure guidance in U.S GAAP
with International Financial Reporting Standards IFRS The amended guidance changes several

aspects of current fair value measurement guidance including the following provisions the

application of the concepts of highest and best use and valuation premise the introduction of an

option to measure groups of offsetting assets and liabilities on net basis the incorporation of

certain premiums and discounts in fair value measurements and the measurement of the fair

value of certain instruments classified in shareholders equity In addition the amended guidance

includes several new fair value disclosure requirements including among other things information

about valuation techniques and unobservable inputs used in Level fair value measurements and

narrative description of Level measurements sensitivity to changes in unobservable inputs For

public entities such as the Company the provisions of ASU 2011-04 are effective for interim and

annual periods beginning after December 15 2011 and are to be applied prospectively The

implementation of ASU 2011-04 is not expected to change fair value measurements for any of the

Companys assets or liabilities carried at fair value and thus should not impact the Companys
statements of income and condition

In April 2011 the FASB issued ASU No 2011-02 Receivables Topic 310 Creditors

Determination of Whether Restructuring is Troubled Debt Restructuring in an effort to improve

financial reporting by creating greater consistency in the way GAAP is applied for various types of

debt restructurings ASU 2011-02 is intended to assist creditors in determining whether

modification of the terms of loan meets the criteria to be considered troubled debt restructuring

TDR both for purposes of recording an impairment loss and for disclosure of TDRs In evaluating

whether restructuring constitutes TDR creditor must separately conclude that both of the

following exist the restructuring constitutes concession and the debtor is experiencing

financial difficulties The amendments to Topic 310 clarify the guidance on creditors evaluation of

whether it has granted concession and likewise clarify the guidance on creditors evaluation of

whether debtor is experiencing financial difficulties In addition the amendments to Topic 310

preclude creditors from using the effective interest rate test in the debtors guidance on restructuring

of payables paragraph 470-60-55-10 when evaluating whether restructuring constitutes TDR

For public companies such as Sierra Bancorp the new guidance is effective for interim and annual

periods beginning on or after June 15 2011 and applies retrospectively to restructurings occurring on

or after the beginning of the fiscal year of adoption Early adoption is permitted and the Company

adopted the provisions of ASU 2011-02 for the reporting period ended June 30 2011 There was

total of $552000 in loan balances that were added to performing TDRs at June 30 2011 as direct

result of the Companys adoption of ASU 2011-02 with only negligible impact on our allowance for

loan and lease losses
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In July 2010 the FASB updated disclosure requirements with respect to the credit quality of financing

receivables and the allowance for credit losses According to the guidance there are two levels of

detail at which credit information must be presented the portfolio segment level and class level The

portfolio segment level is defined as the level where financing receivables are aggregated in

developing companys systematic method for calculating its allowance for credit losses The class

level is the second level at which credit information will be presented and represents the

categorization of financing receivables at slightly less aggregated level than the portfolio segment

level Companies are required to provide the following disclosures as result of this update roll-

forward of the allowance for credit losses at the portfolio segment level with the ending balances

further categorized according to impairment method along with the balance reported in the related

financing receivables at period-end additional disclosures of nonaccrual and impaired financing

receivables by class as of period-end credit quality and past due/aging information by class as of

period-end information surrounding the nature and extent of loan modifications and troubled-debt

restructurings and their effect on the allowance for credit losses during the period and details on any

significant purchases or sales of financing receivables during the period The increased period-end

disclosure requirements became effective for periods ending on or after December 15 2010 with the

exception of the additional periodend disclosures surrounding troubled-debt restructurings which

were deferred in December 2010 and became effective for annual and interim reporting periods

ending on or after June 15 2011 The increased disclosures for activity within reporting period

become effective for periods beginning on or after June 15 2011 with retrospective application to

January 2011 The provisions of this FASB update expanded the Companys current disclosures

with respect to our allowance for loan and lease losses and the credit quality of our financing

receivables

In January 2010 the FASB issued ASU No 2010-06 Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures

Topic 820 Improving Disclosures about Fair Value Measurements This update added disclosure

requirements for significant transfers into and out of Levels and clarified existing fair value

disclosure requirements about the appropriate level of disaggregation and clarified that description

of the valuation techniques was required for recurring and nonrecurring Level and fair value

measurements The Company adopted these provisions of the ASU in preparing the Consolidated

Financial Statements for the period ended March 31 2010 The adoption of these provisions only

affected the disclosure requirements for fair value measurements and as result had no impact on

the Companys statements of income and condition An additional requirement of this ASU is that

activity within Level including purchases sales issuances and settlements be presented on

gross basis rather than as net number as currently permitted This provision of the ASU is effective

for the Companys reporting period ending March 31 2011 As this provision amends only the

disclosure requirements for fair value measurements the adoption will have no impact on the

Companys statements of income and condition
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The amortized cost and estimated fair value of investment securities available-for-sale are as follows

dollars in thousands
December 31 2011

Gross Gross

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated

Cost Gains Losses Fair Value

U.S Goernment agencies 2008 18 2026

Obligations of state and

political subdiisions 67851 3634 145 71340

U.S Goemment agencies

collateralized by mortgage

obligations 328751 4467 1460 331758

Equity Securities 1336 11 1347

399946 8130 1605 406471

December31 2010

Gross Gross

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated

Cost Gains Losses Fair Value

U.S Goemment agencies 4954 108 5062

Obligations of state and

political subdivisions 70201 1069 1168 70102

U.S Goemment agencies

collateralized by mortgage

obligations 252320 3853 1030 255143

Equity Securities 2705 79 1361 1423

330180 5109 3559 331730

For the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 proceeds from sales of securities

available-for-sale were $45.7 million $69.0 and $30.2 respectively Gains and losses on the sale of

investment securities are recorded on the trade date and are determined using the specific

identification method

Gross gains and losses from the sales and calls of investment securities for the years ended were as

follows dollars in thousands
2011 2010 2009

Gross Gains on Sales and Calls of

lnestment Securities 1666 2643 1099

Gross Losses on Sales and Calls of

ln.estment Securities

Net Gains on Sales and Calls of

lnestment Securities 1660 2643 1099
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At December 31 2011 and 2010 the Company had 80 and 141 securities with unrealized gross

losses respectively Information pertaining to these securities aggregated by investment category

and length of time that individual securities have been in continuous loss position follows dollars in

thousands

December 31 2011

Less Than Twehe Months Oer Twel Months

Gross Gross

Unrealized Unrealized

Losses Fair Value Losses Fair Value

Obligations of state and

political subdivisions 26 1735 119 1978

U.S Goemment agencies

collateralized by mortgage

obligations 1433 144953 28 949

Other Securities

Total 1459 146688 147 2927

December 31 2010

Less Than Tweh.e Months OerThMonths
Gross Gross

Unrealized Unrealized

Losses Fair Value Losses Fair Value

Obligations of state and

political subdiAsions 884 24728 283 2478

U.S Go.emment agencies

collateralized by mortgage

obligations 1009 108203 21 558

Other Securities 1292 1408

Total 1893 132931 1596 4444

The Company has reviewed all sectors and securities in the investment portfolio for impairment

During the year ended December 31 2011 the Company realized loss through earnings on five

equity securities for $1370000 The referenced securities were previously carried on the Companys

books at their fair market values with mark to market adjustments applied directly to equity Since the

securities were in continuous loss position since mid-2008 and the near-term prospect of price

recovery was increasingly uncertain the Company recognized the loss through earnings

The Company has concluded as of December 31 2011 that all remaining securities other than those

previously mentioned above currently in an unrealized loss position are not other-than-temporarily-

impaired This assessment was based on the following factors the Company has the ability to hold

the security the Company does not intend to sell the security the Company does not anticipate

it will be required to sell the security before recovery and the Company expects to eventually

recover the entire amortized cost basis of the security
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The amortized cost and estimated fair value of investment securities available-for-sale at

December 31 2011 by contractual maturity are shown below Expected maturities will differ from

contractual maturities because the issuers of the securities may have the right to call or prepay

obligations with or without penalties

Amortized

Cost Fair Value

Dollars in thousands

Maturing within one year 3767 3813

Maturing after one year through fie years 212603 216416

Maturing after fie years through ten years 54831 57287

Maturing afterten years 16380 17126

ln.estment securities not due at single maturity date

U.S Goemment agencies collateralized by

mortgage obligations 111029 110482

Other securities 1336 1347

399946 406471

Investment securities available-for-sale with amortized costs totaling $203494000 and estimated fair

values totaling $207940000 were pledged to secure other contractual obligations and short-term

borrowing arrangements at December 31 2011 see Note

Investment securities available-for-sale with amortized costs totaling $142700000 and estimated fair

values totaling $145837000 were pledged to secure public deposits other contractual obligations

and short-term borrowing arrangements at December 31 2010 see Note
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The composition of the loan and lease portfolio is as follows dollars in thousands

December 31

2011 2010

Real estate

Secured by residential commercial and professional

office properties including construction and

de.eIopment 328972 360517

Secured by residential properties 188117 200156

Secured byfarm land 60143 61293

Total Real Estate Loans 577232 621966

Commercial and industrial 99408 94768

Agricultural 17078 13457

Small Business Administration loans 21006 18616

Consumer 36124 45585

Direct Financing leases 6743 10234

Total Loans 757591 804626

Deferred loan and lease origination cost net 621 113

Allowance for loan and lease losses 17283 21138

Loans net 740929 783601

The Company monitors the credit quality of loans on continuous basis using the regulatory and

accounting classifications of pass special mention substandard and impaired to characterize and

qualify the associated credit risk Loans classified as loss are immediately charged-off The

Company uses the following definitions of risk classifications

Pass Loans listed as pass include larger non-homogeneous loans not meeting the risk rating

definitions below and smaller homogeneous loans not assessed on an individual basis

Special Mention Loans classified as special mention have the potential weakness that

deserves managements close attention If left uncorrected these potential weaknesses may result in

deterioration of the repayment prospects for the loan or of the institutions credit position and some

future date

Substandard Loans classified as substandard are those loans with clear and at well-defined

weaknesses such as highly leveraged position unfavorable financial operating results and/or

trends uncertain repayment sources or poor financial condition which may jeopardize ultimate

recoverability of the debt

Impaired loan is considered impaired when based on current information and events it is

probable that the Company will be unable to collect all amounts due according to the contractual

terms of the loan agreement Additionally all loans classified as troubled debt restructurings are

considered impaired
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Credit quality classifications as of December 31 2011 were as follows dollars in thousands

Special

Pass Mention Substandard Impaired Total

Real Estate

1-4 family

residential construction 4240 2004 2244 8488

Other Construction/Land 18185 8873 1015 11987 40060

1-4 family closed-end 75765 7574 1354 20260 104953

Equity Lines 62867 456 1795 1379 66497

Multi-family residential 4620 618 2941 8179

Commercial real estate

owner occupied 141245 23289 8878 9658 183070

Commercial real estate

Non-owner occupied 64746 7463 4514 29120 105843

Farmland 47719 1878 3626 6919 60142

Total Real Estate 419387 52155 21182 84508 577232

Agricultural 15477 1574 27 17078
Commercial and Industrial 83780 7529 3078 5021 99408

Small Business

Administration loans 16251 852 3903 21006

Direct finance leases 6089 63 591 6743
Consumer loans 30004 1006 808 4306 36124

Total Gross Loans and Leases 570988 62327 25947 98329 757591
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LOANS AND LEASES Continued

Credit quality classifications as of December 31 2010 were as follows dollars in thousands

Special

Pass Mention Substandard Impaired Total

Real Estate

1-4 family

residential construction 4309 5500 4057 13866

Other Construction/Land 24988 17979 1411 7669 52047

1-4 family closed-end 83543 6345 2326 12331 104545

Equity Lines 66560 1426 1558 1239 70783

Multi-family residential 4930 3076 2956 10962

Commercial real estate

owneroccupied 149451 18892 11936 7691 187970

Commercial real estate

Non-owner occupied 79842 7498 6051 27109 120500

Farmland 35949 21091 3848 405 61293

Total Real Estate 449572 81807 27130 63457 621966

Agricultural 11547 1673 237 13457

Commercial and Industrial 79083 8156 5425 2104 94768

Small Business

Administration loans 13219 1335 621 3441 18616

Direct finance leases 9604 129 501 10234

Consumer loans 42436 830 775 1544 45585

Total Gross Loans and Leases 605461 93930 34188 71047 804626
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LOANS AND LEASES Continued

summary of the transactions in the allowance for loan and lease losses follows dollars in

thousands

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

Balance beginning of year 21138 23715 15094
Provision for loan and lease losses 12000 16680 21574

Losses charged to allowance 16.987 20337 14404
Recoeiies 1132 1080 1451

Balance endofyear 17283 21138 23715

Loans may or may not be collateralized and collection efforts are continuously pursued Loans or

leases may be restructured by management when borrower has experienced some change in

financial status causing an inability to meet the original repayment term and where the Company
believes the borrower will eventually overcome those circumstances and make full restitution Loans

and leases arecharged offwhen they are deemed to be uncollectible while recoveries are generally

recorded only when cash payments are received subsequent to the charge-off

The following table presents the activity in the allowance for loan losses for the year 2011 and the

recorded investment in loans and impairment method as of December 31 2011 by portfolio segment

dollars in thousands

Commercial Small Direct

Agricultural and Business Finance

Real Estate Products Industrial Administration Leases Consumer Total

Allowance for credit losses

Beginning of year 10143 62 6379 1274 284 2996 21138

Charge-ofi 10596 3407 148 82 2754 16987
Recoveries 418 323 71 57 263 1132
Provision 8295 43 1343 250 52 2103 12000

End of year 8260 19 4638 1447 311 2608 17283

Reseres

Specific 5229 1481 1212 291 541 8754
General 3031 19 3157 235 20 2067 8529

8260 19 4638 1447 311 2608 17283

Loans e.eluated for impairment

Individually 84508 5021 3903 591 4306 98329

Collectily 492724 17078 94387 17103 6152 31818 659262

577232 17078 99408 21006 6743 36124 757591
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The following table presents the activity in the allowance for loan losses for the year 2010 and the

recorded investment in loans and impairment method as of December 31 2010 by portfolio segment

dollars in thousands

Commercial Small Direct

Agricultural and Business Finance

Real Estate Products Industrial Administration Leases Consumer Tptal

Allowance for credit losses

Beginning of year 12348 10 5996 1010 599 3752 23715

Charge-ofl 10709 4998 293 646 3691 20337

Recoeries 120 462 63 159 276 1080

Provision 8384 52 4919 494 172 2659 12000

End of year 10143 62 6379 1274 284 2996 21138

Resen.es

Specific 5230 1021 1091 123 564 8029

General 4913 62 5358 183 161 2432 13109

10143 62 6379 1274 284 2996 21138

Loans evaluated for impairment

lndiAdually 63457 2104 3441 501 1544 71047

ColIecti.eIy 558509 13457 92664 15175 9733 44041 733579

621966 13457 94768 18616 10234 45585 804626
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Past due and nonaccrual loans as of December 31 2011 were as follows dollars in thousands

30-59 Days 60-89 Days 90 Days Or tbre Total Financing Non-Accrual

Past tie Past lie Past je2 Total Past t.ie Current Receivables Loans

Real Estate

1-4 fanily residential

construction 8488 8488 2244

Other Construction/Land 1354 1417 2771 37289 40060 4083

1-4fanily closed-end 1777 1835 1661 5273 99680 104953 7605

Equity Lines 253 511 640 1404 65093 66497 1309

Pvtiltu-fanily residential 2941 2941 5238 8179 2941

Conirercial real estate

owner occupied 3070 1038 5581 9689 173381 183070 7086

Cormercial real estate

Non-owner occupied 1031 577 7128 8736 97107 105843 1395
Farnland 6436- 188 6624 53518 60142 6919

Total Real Estate Loans 13921 3961 19556 37438 539794 577232 46145

Agricultural 17078 17078

Coniiercial and hdustrial 701 386 3160 4247 95161 99408 3778

Srmll Business

Adrinistration Loans 828 917 2715 4480 16546 21006 3452

trect finance leases 63 591 654 6089 6743 591

Consurrer loans 520 619 838 1977 34147 36124 2144

TotalGross Loans and Leases 16033 5883 26860 48776 708815 757591 56110
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Past due and nonaccrual loans as of December 31 2010 were as follows dollars in thousands

30-59 Days 60-89 Days 90 Days Or Fvbre Total Financing
Non-Accrual

Fast Due Past Due Past Due Total Past Due Current Receivables Loans

Real Estate

1-4 fanily residential

construction 4075 4075 9791 13866 4057

Other Construction/Land 9662 1385 7563 18610 33437 52047 6185

1-4 fanily -closed-end 5902 80 2210 8192 96353 104545 4894

Euity Lines 758 110 1130 1998 68785 70783 1239

Pifti-farriIy residential 2634 2834 8328 10962

Cormiercial real estate

owner occupied 1141 1255 6788 9184 178786 187970 7412

Connwcial real estate

Non-owner occupied 9881 918 4654 15453 105047 120500 14704

Farniand 214 214 61079 61293 405

Total Real Estate Loans 34053 3748 22559 60360 561 J6 621966 38896

Agricultural 13457 13457

Con-rrrcial and hdustrial 1977 669 1281 3927 90841 94768 2005

Snll Business

Adrrinistration Loans 19 2927 2946 15670 18618 3440

Direct finance leases 129 501 630 9604 10234 501

Consurrer loans 954 319 850 2123 43462 45585 1112

Total Gross Loans and Leases 37132 4736 28118 69986 734640 804626 45954

Generally the Company places loans and leases regardless of class on nonaccrual status and

ceases recognizing interest income when the loan has become delinquent more than 90 days and/or

when Management determines that the repayment of principal and collection of interest is unlikely

The Company may decide that it is appropriate to continue to accrue interest on certain loans more

than 90 days delinquent if they are well-secured by collateral and collection is in process When

loan is placed on nonaccrual status any accrued but uncollected interest for the loan is reversed out

of interest income in the period in which the loans status changed Subsequent payments received

from the customer are applied to principal and no further interest income is recognized until the

principal has been paid in full or until circumstances have changed such that payments are again

consistently received as contractually required
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The following is summary of information pertaining to impaired and non-accrual loans dollars in thousands

December 31

2011 2010

Impaired loans without eluation allowance 49625 32035

Impaired loans with .eluation allowance 48704 39012
Total impaired loans 98329 71047

Valuation allowance related to impaired loans 8754 8029
Total non-accrual loans 56110 45954
Total loans past-due ninety days or more and still accruing 48

Pnncipal balance only

Individually impaired loans as of December 31 2011 were as follows dollars in thousands

Unpaid Merage Interest

Principal Recorded Related Recorded Income

Balance In.estment Allowance lnestment Recognized

With an Allowance Recorded

Real Estate

COnstruction and

land deeIopment 3665 3094 748 3113 89

1-4 Family residential 9158 9129 1064 9140 222

Multifamily residential 2941 2941 850 2950
Commercial real estate

and other 21082 21082 2567 21487 298

Commercialandlndustnal 8628 8600 2984 8691 26

Consumer and Other 3896 3858 541 3920 56

49370 48704 8754 49301 691

With no Related Allowance

Recorded

Real Estate

COnstruction and

land deelopment 16524 11137 11395 193

1-4 Family residential 12774 12510 12568 101

Multifamily residential

Commercial real estate

and other 25335 24614 25125 207

Commercial and Industrial 916 916 965 11

Consumer and Other 448 448 462 11

55997 49625 50515 523

Total 105367 98329 8754 99816 1214

Contractual principal balance due from customer

Principal balance on Banks books less any direct charge otis

Interest income is recognized on performing balances on regular accrual basis
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Individually impaired loans as of December 31 2010 were as follows dollars in thousands

Unpaid Average Interest

Principal Recorded Related Recorded Income

Balance lnestment Allowance lm.estment Recognized

With an Allowance Recorded

Real Estate

Construction and

land deelopment 6493 5078 1544 9278 43

1-4 Family residential 8047 8020 1068 8031 181

Multifamily residential 2956 2956 37 2959 212

Commercial real estate

and other 15749 15749 2580 17001 155

Commercial and Industrial 6065 6039 2235 6493

Consumer and Other 1170 1170 565 1185 18

40480 39012 8029 44947 610

With no Related Allowance

Recorded

Real Estate

Construction and

land delopment 10264 6648 6887 129

1-4 Family residential 5782 5551 5558 99

Multifamily residential

Commercial real estate

and other 19456 19456 19518 736

Commercial and Industrial

Consumer and Other 374 374 376

35882 32035 32347 965

Total 76362 71047 8029 77294 1575

Contractual principal balance due from customer

Principal balance on Banks books less any direct charge offs

Interest income is recognized on performing balances on regular accrual basis

December 31

2011 2010 2009

Merage Investment in Impaired Loans 99816 77294 62101

Interest Income Recognized on Impaired Loans 1214 1575 1325

Interest Income Recognized on cash basis on impaired loans
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Included in loans above are troubled debt restructurings that were classified as impaired The

Company had $2647000 and $24000 in commercial loan balances $55177000 and $33112000
in real estate secured loans and $3220000 and $548000 in consumer loan balances which were

modified in troubled debt restructurings and impaired at December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively

Additional commitments to existing customers with restructured loans totaled $13929000 and

$221000 with $13723000 and $102000 in balances outstanding at December 31 2011 and 2010

respectively

The following is summary of interest income from non-accrual loans in the portfolio at year-end that

was not recognized dollars in thousands

December 31

2011 2010 2009

Interest that would hae been recorded under

the loans original terms $4353 $3.929 3485
Less gross interest recorded 1328 1219 1191

Foregone interest $3025 $2710 2294

Certain loans have been pledged to secure short-term borrowing arrangements see Note These

loans totaled $338868000 and $368139000 at December31 2011 and 2010 respectively

Salaries and employee benefits totaling $2586000 $2376000 and $2554000 have been deferred

as loan and lease origination costs to be amortized over the estimated lives of the related loans and

leases for the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively
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During the period ended December 31 2011 the terms of certain loans were modified as troubled

debt restructurings Types of modifications applied to these loans include reduction of the stated

interest rate modification of term an agreement to collect only interest rather than principal and

interest for specified period or any combination thereof

The following table presents troubled debt restructurings by type of modification during the period

ending December 31 2011 dollars in thousands

Rate Term Rate Term

Interest Rate Interest Interest Interest

Rate Term Only Term Only Only Only

Modification Modification Modilication Modification Modification Modification Modification Total

Trouble Debt Restructungs

Real Estate

Other Construction/Land 555 754 6188 7497

1-4 family closed-end 6419 151 561 48 421 7600

Equity Lines 71 426 78 575

Commercial real estate

owner occupied 1893 1231 297 542 3963

Commercial real estate

Non-owner occupied 7400 1069 6420 14889

Total Real Estate Loans 7400 8938 1657 2271 7601 6236 421 34524

Agricultural products
12 12

Commercial and Industrial 19 342 23 1188 384 1956

Consumer Loans 278 495 2069 282 85 3209

Small Business

Administration loans 621 106 46 773

7697 10396 1786 5574 7883 6620 518 40474
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The following table presents loans by class modified as troubled debt restructurings including any

subsequent defaults during the period ending December 31 2011 dollars in thousands

Pre- Post- Subsequent Default

Outstanding Outstanding

Number of Recorded Recorded Resen.e Number of Recorded

Loans lnestment In.estment Difference1 Loans ln.estment

Real Estate

Other Construction/Land 21 7497 7497

1-4 family closed-end 12 7600 7600 109

Equity Lines 575 575 33 215

Commercial real estate

owner occupied 3963 3963 23 2315

Commercial real estate

Non-owner occupied 15235 14889 375

Total Real Estate Loans 34870 34524 258 2530

Agricultural products 12 12

Commercial and Industrial 21 1956 1956 68
Consumer Loans 57 3209 3209 130 298

Small Business

Administration loans 775 773 136

40822 40474 320 2828

1This represents the change in the ALL resere for these credits measured as the difference between the specific

post-modification impairment resen.e and the pre-modification resere calculated under our general allowance

for loan loss methodology

In the table above the TDRs that subsequently defaulted increased our allowance for loan and lease

losses by $240000 for the year ended December 31 2011 and one of the TDR defaults resulted in

charge off of $248000 The total allowance for loan and lease losses specifically allocated to the

balances that were classified as TDRs during the year ended December 31 2011 is $2199000

Interest income for all performing loans regardless of class Pass Special Mention Substandard and

Impaired is recognized on an accrual basis with interest accrued daily Costs associated with

successful loan originations are netted from loan origination fees with the net amount net deferred

loan fees amortized over the contractual life of the loan in interest income If loan has scheduled

periodic payments the amortization of the net deferred loan fee is calculated using the effective

interest method over the contractual life of the loan If the loan does not have scheduled payments
such as line of credit the net deferred loan fee is recognized as interest income on straight line

basis over the contractual life of the loan Fees received for loan commitments are recognized as

interest income over the term of the commitment When loans are repaid any remaining unamortized

balances of deferred fees and costs are accounted for through interest income

Loan Servicing

The Bank originates mortgage loans for sale to investors During the years ended December 31
2011 2010 and 2009 all mortgage loans that were sold by the Bank were sold without retention of

related servicing The Banks servicing portfolio at December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 totaled

$506000 $4778000 and $8132000 respectively At December 31 2011 loans were principally

serviced for one investor
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PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT

Premises and equipment at cost consisted of the following dollars in thousands
December 31

Land

Buildings and irnproements

Furniture fixtures and equipment

Leasehold improments

2011

2607

16662

22092

8723

50084

2010

2549

12322

21378

9880

46129
Less accumulated depreciation

and amortization 29375 26972

Construction in progress 12

20721

1033

20190

Depreciation and amortization included in occupancy and equipment expense totaled $2505000

$2496000 and $2668000 for the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively

OTHER ASSETS

Other assets consisted of the following dollars in thousands
December 31

Accrued interest receivable

Deferred tax assets

Prepaid taxes

lrn.estment in limited partnerships

Federal Home Loan Bank stock at cost

Cash surrender Iue of officer life insurance

policies

Other

2011

5368
11726

2261

9927

6689

37657

7974
81602

2010

5673
12871

1274
10899

7985

31591

10059

80352

The Company has invested in limited partnerships that operate qualified affordable housing projects

to receive tax benefits in the form of tax deductions from operating losses and tax credits The

Company accounts for these investments under the cost method and management analyzes these

investments annually for potential impairment The Company has remaining capital commitments to

these partnerships at December 31 2011 in the amount of approximately $142000 Such amounts

are included in other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet

The Company holds certain equity investments that are not readily marketable securities and thus are

classified as other assets on the Companys balance sheet These include investments in Pacific

Coast Bankers Bancshares California Economic Development Lending Initiative and the Federal

Home Loan Bank FHLB

The largest of these is the Companys $6689000 investment in FHLB stock The FHLB requires an

equity investment in an amount that is based on percentage of the Companys borrowing activity at

the FHLB The balance normally fluctuates with the Companys level of borrowing however the

FHLB had temporarily suspended their normal repurchase activities in 2010 with limited repurchase

activity resuming in the second quarter of 2010 The FHLB is monitoring its overall financial

performance and level of capital to determine the status of capital stock repurchases in future

quarters
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Interest-bearing deposits consisted of the following dollars in thousands

Interest Bearing Demand Deposits

NOW
SaAngs

Money Market

CDARs Under $100000

CDARs $100000 or more

Time Under $100000

Time $100000 or more

Brokered Deposits

December 31

Aggregate annual maturities of time deposits are as follows dollars in thousands

Year Ending

December 31

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

Thereafter

$341058

7997

6148

6491

231

594

$362519

Interest expense recognized on interest-bearing deposits consisted of the following dollars in

thousands

Year Ended December 31

Interest Bearing Demand Deposits

NOW
Savings

Money Market

CDARs Under $100000

CDARs $100000 or more

Time Under $100000

Time $100000 or more

Brokered Deposits

194

1001

1223

176

2011 2010

68777

187155

91376

76396

943

17119

106610

222847

15000

786223

184360

74682

156170

1614

31652

164223

187665

800366

2011 2010 2009

137

860

203

506

1682

174

914

48

573

1283

1237
210

6121

568

167

1886

363

1841

1844

2136

1235

100404305
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OTHER BORROWING ARRANGEMENTS

Short-term borrowings consisted of the following dollars in thousands

2011 2010

Fixed Fixed

Amount Rate Amount Rate

As of December 31

Repurchase agreements 3037 .60%

O.emight Federal Home Loan

Bank adnces 17120 .05% 9650 .07%

Federal Home Loan Bank athances 5000 3.36%

20157 14650

The Company had fixed-rate long-term debt of $15000000 with the Federal Home Loan Bank at

December 31 2011 which matures through 2013 The cohtractual maturities of long-term debt are as

follows dollars in thousands

Year Ending Weighted
December 31 Amount A.erage Rate

2012 10000 3.65%

2013 5000 3.93%

The Company had unsecured lines of credit with its correspondent banks which in the aggregate
amounted to $55000000 and $45000000 at December 31 2011 and 2010 at interest rates which

vary with market conditions There was $0 outstanding under these lines of credit at December 31
2011 and December 31 2010 respectively

At December 31 2011 the Company had remaining borrowing capacity with the Federal Home Loan

Bank of $116052000 secured by government agencies and whole loan collateral
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INCOME TAXES

The provision for income taxes follows dollars in thousands

Year Bided Decenter 31

2011 2010 2009

Federal

current 627 1354 6922

Deferred 706 1974 6620
79 620 302

State

current 818 1331 2431

Deferred 175 945 2125
643 386 306

564 234 608

The components of the net deferred tax asset included in other assess are asfollowsdollars in

thousands

December 31

2011 2010

Deferred tax assets

Allownace for loan loses 7856 9476

Foreclosed Assets 3935 2790

Deferred compensation 3373 3231

Accrued resen.es 1129 392

Non Accrual Loans 929 969

Other than temporary impairment charge 576

Other 540 682

Total deferred tax assets 18338 17540

Deferred tax assets

Premises and equipment 718 934
Deferred loan costs 2118 2128
Unrealised gain on securities available-for-sale 2676 650
Other 1095 957

Total deferred tax liabilities 6607 4669

Netdeferredtaxassets 11731 12871
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The expense for income taxes differs from amounts computed by applying the statutory Federal

income tax rates to income before income taxes The significant items comprising these differences

consisted of the following dollars in thousands

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

Income tax expense at Federal

statutory rate 2837 .2779 3338

Increase decrease resulting from

State franchise tax expense net of

Federal tax efiºct 540 282 505

Tax exempt income 1330 923 1376
Affordable housing tax credits 1605 1642 1674
Other 122 730 185

564 234 608

Effective tax rate 6.8% 3.3% 6.4%

The Company is subject to federal income tax and income tax of the state of California Our federal

income tax returns for the years ended December 31 2008 2009 and 2010 are open to audit by the

federal authorities and our California state tax returns for the years ended December 31 2007 2008

2009 and 2010 are open to audit by the state authorities

There were no recorded interest or penalties related to uncertain tax positions as part of income tax

for the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively We do not expect the total

amount of unrecognized tax benefits to significantly increase or decrease within the next twelve

months

10 SUBORDINATED DEBENTURES

Sierra Statutory Trust II Trust II and Sierra Capital Trust Ill Trust Ill collectively the Trusts

were formed by the Company for the sole purpose of issuing trust preferred securities fully and

unconditionally guaranteed by the Company For financial reporting purposes the Trusts are not

consolidated and the Floating Rate Junior Subordinated Deferrable Interest Debentures the

Subordinated Debentures held by the Trusts and issued and guaranteed by the Company are

reflected in the Companys consolidated balance sheet in accordance with provisions of FIN 46

Under applicable regulatory guidance the amount of trust preferred securities that is eligible as Tier

capital is limited to twenty-five percent of the companys Tier capital on pro forma basis At

December 31 2011 $30000000 of trust preferred securities qualified as Tier capital

During the first quarter of 2004 Sierra Statutory Trust II issued 15000 Floating Rate Capital Trust

Pass-Through Securities TRUPS II with liquidation value of $1000 per security for gross

proceeds of $15000000 The entire proceeds of the issuance were invested by Trust II in

$15464000 of Subordinated Debentures issued by the Company with identical maturity re-pricing

and payment terms as the TRUPS II The Subordinated Debentures purchased by Trust II

represent the sole assets of the Trust II Those Subordinated Debentures mature on March 17 2034

bear current interest rate of 3.05% based on 3-month LIBOR plus 2.75% with re-pricing and

payments due quarterly
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10 SUBORDINATED DEBENTURES Continued

Those Subordinated Debentures are currently redeemable by the Company subject to receipt by the

Company of prior approval from the Federal Reserve Bank on any March 17th June 17th September

17th and December 7th The redemption price is par plus accrued and unpaid interest except in the

case of redemption under special event which is defined in the debenture

The TRUPS II are subject to mandatory redemption to the extent of any early redemption of the

related Subordinated DebentUres and upon maturity of the Subordinated Debentures on March 17

2034

The Trust II has the option to defer payment of the distributions for period of up to five years as

long as the Company is not in default on the payment of interest on the Subordinated Debentures

The TRUPS II issued in the offering were sold in private transactions pursuant to an exemption from

registration under the Securities Act of 1933 as amended The Company has guaranteed on

subordinated basis distributions and other payments due on the TRUPS II

During the second quarter of 2006 Sierra Capital Trust Ill issued 15000.Floating Rate Capital Trust

Pass-Through Securities TRUPS Ill with liquidation value of $1000 per security for gross

proceeds of $15000000 The entire proceeds of the issuance were invested by Trust Ill in

$15464000 of Subordinated Debentures issued by the Company with identical maturity repricing

and payment terms as the TRUPS Ill The Subordinated Debentures purchased by Trust III

represent the sole assets of the Trust Ill Those Subordinated Debentures mature on September 23
2036 bear current interest rate of 1.70% based on 3-month LIBOR plus 1.40% with repricing and

payments due quarterly

Those Subordinated Debentures are redeemable by the Company subject to receipt by the Company
of prior approval from the Federal Reserve Bank on any March 23 June 23w September 23w and

December 23 after September 23 2011 The redemption price is par plus accrued and unpaid

interest except in the case of redemption under special event which is defined in the debenture

The TRUPS Ill are subject to mandatory redemption to the extent of any early redemption of the

related Subordinated Debentures and upon maturity of the Subordinated Debentures on September

23 2036

The Trust Ill has the option to defer payment of the distributions for period of up to five years as

long as the Company is not in default on the payment of interest on the Subordinated Debentures

The TRUPS Ill issued in the offering were sold in private transactions pursuant to an exemption from

registration under the Securities Act of 1933 as amended The Company has guaranteed on

subordinated basis distributions and other payments due on the TRUPS Ill
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Leases

The Company leases certain of its branch facilities and administrative offices under non-cancelable

operating leases Rental expense included in occupancy and equipment and other expense totaled

$1167000 $1343000 and $1322000 for the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009

respectively

Future minimum lease payments on non-cancelable operating leases are as follows

Year Ending

December 31

2012 $1068000
2013 1024000

2014 986000

2015 893000

2016 709000

Thereafter 4946000

$9626000

The Company has options to renew its branch facilities and administrative office after the initial leases

expire The renewal options range from one to ten years and are not included in the payments

reflected above

Letter of Credit

The Company holds letter of credit with the Federal Home Loan Bank of San Francisco totaling

$70000000.The letter of credit is pledged to secure public deposits at December 31 2011

Federal Reserve Requirements

Banks are required to maintain reserves with the Federal Reserve Bank equal to specified

percentage of their reservable deposits less vault cash The reserve balances maintained at the

Federal Reserve Bank at December31 2011 and 2010 were $38041000 and $33152000

respectively

Financial Instruments with Off-Balance-Sheet Risk

The Company is party to financial instruments with off-balance-sheet risk in the normal course of

business These financial instruments consist of commitments to extend credit and standby letters of

credit These instruments involve to varying degrees elements of credit and interest rate risk in

excess of the amount recognized in the consolidated balance sheet

The Companys exposure to credit loss in the event of nonperformance by the other party for

commitments to extend credit and letters of credit is represented by the contractual amount of those

instruments The Bank uses the same credit policies in making commitments and letters of credit as

it does for loans included on the balance sheet
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The following financial instruments represent off-balance-sheet credit risk dollars in thousands

December31

2011 2010

Commitments to extend credit 154323 142309

Standby letters of credit 11113 7761

Commercial and similar letter of credit 8991 9435

Commitments to extend credit consist primarily of unfunded single-family residential and commercial

real estate construction loans and commercial revolving lines of credit Construction loans are

established under standard underwriting guidelines and policies and are secured by deeds of trust

with disbursements made over the course of construction CommerOial revolving lines of credit have

high degree of industry diversification Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates or other

termination clauses and may require payment of fee Since many of the commitments are expected

to expire without being drawn upon the total commitment amounts do not necessarily represent

future cash requirements Commitments to extend credit are made at both fixed and variable rates of

interest At December 31 2011 the Company had $10150000 in fixed rate commitments and

$144173000 in variable rate commitments Standby letters of credit are issued by the Company to

guarantee the performance of customer to third party and are made at variable rates of interest

The credit risk involved in issuing letters of credit is essentially the same as that involved in extending

loans to customers

Concentration in Real Estate Lending

At December 31 2011 in managements judgment concentration of loans existed in real estate

related loans At that date approximately 76% of the Companys loans were real estate related

Balances secured by commercial buildings and construction and development loans represented

50% of all real estate loans while loans secured by non-construction residential properties accounted

for 40% and loans secured by farmland were 10% of real estate loans Although management
believes the loans within these concentrations have no more than the normal risk of collectability

substantial decline in the performance of the economy in general or decline in real estate values in

the Companys primary market areas in particular could have an adverse impact on collectability

Concentration by Geograhic Location

The Company grants commercial real estate mortgage real estate construction and consumer loans

to customers primarily in the South Central San Joaquin Valley of California specifically Tulare

Fresno Kern Kings and Madera counties The ability of substantial portion of the Banks

customers to honor their contracts is dependent on the economy in these areas Although the Banks

loan portfolio is diversified there is relationship in this region between the local agricultural

economy and the economic performance of loans made to non-agricultural customers

Contingencies

The Company is subject to legal proceedings and claims which arise in the ordinary course of

business In the opinion of management the amount of ultimate liability with respect to such actions

will not materially affect the consolidated financial position or results of operations of the COmpany
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Share Repurchase Plan

At December 31 2011 the Company had stock repurchase plan which was effective July 2003

and has no expiration date The repurchase program initially provided that up to 250000 shares of

Sierra Bancorps common stock could be repurchased by the Company from time to time That

amount was supplemented by 250000 on May 19 2005 another 250000 shares on March 16

2006 and an additional 500000 shares on April 19 2007

During the year ended December 31 2011 the Company did not repurchase any shares leaving

100669 shares available for repurchase Repurchases are generally made in the open market at

market prices

Earnings Per Share

reconciliation of the numerators and denominators of the basic and diluted earnings per share

computations is as follows

For the Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

Basic Earnings Per Share

Net income doflars in thousands 7780 7363 8928

Weighted average shares outstanding 14036667 12109717 10343502

Basic earnings per share 0.55 0.61 0.86

Diluted Earnings Per Share

Net income dollars in thousands 7780 7363 8928

Weighted a.erage shares outstanding 14036667 12109717 10343502

Effect of dilutie stock options 48534 82628 71582

Weighted arage shares outstanding 14085201 12192345 10415084

Diluted earnings per share 0.55 0.60 0.86

Stock Options

In June 1998 Bank of the Sierra adopted the 1998 Stock Option Plan the 1998 Plan for which

shares were reserved for issuance to employees and directors under incentive and non-statutory

agreements The 1998 Plan was assumed by the Company effective August 10 2001 Effective May

23 2007 the 1998 Plan was terminated and no further options may be granted there under but the

190650 options granted under the 1998 Plan which were still outstanding at December 31 2011

remain unaffected by that termination

On March 15 2007 the Board of Directors approved and adopted the Companys 2007 Stock

Incentive Plan the 2007 Plan which was approved by the Companys shareholders on May 23

2007 The 2007 Plan provides for the issuance of both incentive and nonqualified stock options to

officers and employees and of nonqualified stock options to non-employee directors of the

Company and its subsidiaries The 2007 Plan also provides for the issuance of restricted stock

awards to these same classes of eligible participants which awards may be granted on such terms

and conditions as are established by the Board of Directors or the Compensation Committee in its

discretion We have not issued nor do we currently have plans to issue restricted stock awards
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The maximum number of shares to be issued under the 2007 Plan is 1500000 shares of the

Companys authorized but unissued common stock subject to adjustment for stock splits and

dividends This maximum number covers both restricted stock awards and Stock options to be

granted under the 2007 Plan and is in addition to options covering 190650 shares outstanding under

the 1998 Plan at December 31 2011

All options under the 2007 Plan must be granted at an exercise price of not less than 100% of the fair

market value of the stock on the date of grant and will be exercisable in installments as provided in

individual stock option agreements In the event of Change in Control as defined in the 2007

Plan all outstanding options there under shall become exercisable in full subject to certain

notification requirements and shall terminate if not exercised within specified period of time unless

such options are assumed by the successor corporation or substitute options are granted Options

will terminate in the event an optionee ceases to be employed by or to serve as director of the

Company or its subsidiaries and the vested portion thereof must be exercised within 30 days after

such cessation of employment or service

summary of the Companys stock option activity including options from the 1998 Plan follows

shares in thousands except exercise price

2011 2010 2009

Weighted Weighted Weighted

A.erage Aggregate A.erage Merage

Exercise lntnnsic
Exercise Exercise

Shares Price Value Shares Price Shares Price

Outstanding

beginning of year 835 14.24 757 15.11 592 17.11

Exercised 125 6.72 31 7.69 12 7.69

Granted 186 10.58 180 10.73 194 8.80

Canceled 86 10.43 71 17.48 17 18.21

Outstanding

end of year 810 14.97 835 14.24 757 15.11

Exercisable

end of year 504 17.15 553 14.97 492 14.84

1The aggregate intrinsic aIue of stock option in the table above represents the total pre-tax intrinsic elue

the amount by which the current market value of the underlying stock exceeds the exercise price of the option

that would hate been receied by the option holders had all option holders exercised their options on

December 31 2011 This amount changes based on changes in the market elue of the Companys stock

2The weighted aerage remaining contractual Ii of stock options outstanding and exercisable on

December 31 2011 was 7.89 years and 6.3 years respectiely

Information related to stock options during each year follows

2011 2010 2009

Weighted-average grant-date fair velue per share 3.79 4.21 2.10

Total intrinsic velue of stock options exercised 465000 118000 55000

Total fair velue of stock options vested 839000 216000

Cash received from the exercise of 124868 shares was $839000 for the period ended December 31
2011 with related tax benefit of $108000
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The Company is using the Black-Scholes model to value stock options According to U.S GAAP

charge of $459000 $385000 and $250000 is reflected in the Companys income statements at

December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively as pre-tax compensation and directors expense

related to outstanding and vested stock options The related tax benefit of these options is $189000

$159000 and $105000 for the years ended December31 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively

Unamortized compensation and directors expense on unvested stock options outstanding at

December 31 2011 was $575000 and will be recognized in future periods over 4.3 yeats

13 REGULATORY MATTERS

The Company and the Bank are subject to certain regulatory requirements administered by the Board

of Governors of the Federal Reserve System and the FDIC Failure to meet these minimum capital

requirements can initiate certain mandatory and possibly additional discretionary actions by

regulators that if undertaken could have direct material effect on the Companys consolidated

financial statements Under capital adequacy guidelines and the regulatory framework for prompt

corrective action the Bank must meet specific capital guidelines that involve quantitative measures of

the Banks assets liabilities and certain off-balance-sheet items as calculated under regulatory

accounting practices The Companys and the Banks capital amounts and classification are also

subject to qualitative judgments by the regulators about components risk weightings and other

factors

Quantitative measures established by regulation to ensure capital adequacy require the Company
and the Bank to maintain minimum amounts and ratios of total and Tier capital to risk-weighted

assets and of Tier capital to average assets Each of these components is defined in the

regulations Management believes that the Company and the Bank meet all their capital adequacy

requirements as of December 31 2011 and 2010 In addition as of December 31 2011 and 2010
notification from the FDIC categorized the Bank as well capitalized under the regulatory framework for

prompt corrective action There are no conditions or events since that nbtification that management
believes have changed the Banks category To be categorized as well capitalized the Bank must

maintain minimum total risk-based Tier risk-based and leverage capital ratios as set forth below

dollars in thousands

2011 2010

Capital CapitØl

Amount Ratio Amount Ratio

Leerage Ratio

Sierra Bancorp and subsidiary $187137 14.11% $179771 13.84%

Minimum requirement for Well-Capitalized institutions 66293 5.0% 64939 5.0%

Minimum regulatory requirement 53035 4.0% 51951 4.0%

Bank of the Sierra $178918 13.53% $169484 13.07%

Minimum requirement for Well-Capitalized institutions 66122 5.0% 64821 5.0%

Minimum regulatory requirement 52897 4.0% 51857 4.0%
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2011 2010

Capital Capital

Amount Ratio Amount Ratio

Tier Risk-Based Capital Ratio

Sierra Bancorp and subsidiary $187137 20.46% $179771 19.06%

Minimum requirement for Well-Capitalized institutions 54885 6.0% 56581 6.0%

Minimum regulatory requirement 36590 4.0% 37720 4.0%

Bank of the Sierra $178918 19.63% $169484 18.04%

Minimum requirement for Well-Capitalized institutions 54697 6.0% 56363 6.0%

Minimum regulatory requirement 36465 4.0% 35575 4.0%

Total Risic-Based Capital Ratio

Sierra Bancorp and subsidiary $198651 21 .72% $191676 20.33%

Minimum requirement for WellCapitalized institutions 91476 10.0% 94301 10.0%

Minimum regulatory requirement 73180 8.05o 75441 8.0%

Bank of the Sierra $190393 20.89% $181348 19.31%

Minimum requirement for Well-Capitalized institutions 91161 10.0% 93938 10.0%

Minimum regulatory requirement 72929 8.0% 75150 8.0%

In March 2005 the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System issued final rule allowing

bank holding companies to continue to include trust preferred securities in their Tier capital for

regulatorycapital purposes The amount that can be included is limited to 25% of all core capital

elements net of goodwill less any associated deferred tax liability Amounts of restricted core capital

elemŁnts in excess of these limits generally may be included in tier capital Since the Company had

less than $15 billion in assets at December 31 2011 under the Dodd-Frank Act the Company will be

able to continue to include its existing trust preferred securities in Tier Capital to the extent

permitted by FRB guidelines There can be no assurance that the Federal Reserve will not impose

further restrictions in the future on the inclusion of trust preferred securities in Tier capital for

regulatory capital purposes

Dividend Restrictions

The Companys ability to pay cash dividends is dependent on dividends paid to it by the Bank and is

also limited by state corporation law The California General Corporation Law alloWs California

corporation to pay dividends if the Companys retained earnings equal at least the amount of the

proposed dividend If the Company does not have sufficient retained earnings available for the

proposed dividend it may still pay dividend to its shareholders if immediateiy after giving effect to

the dividend the sum of the companys assets exclusive of goodwill and deferred charges would be

at least equal to 125% of its liabilities not including deferred taxes deferred income and other

deferred liabilities and the current assets of the company would be at least equal to its current

liabilities or if the average of its earnings before taxes on income and before interest expense for the

two preceding fiscal years was less than the average of its interest expense for the two preceding

fiscal years at least equal to 125% of its current liabilities

Dividends from the Bank to the Company are restricted under California law to the lesser of the

Banks retained earnings or the Banks net income for the latest three fiscal years less dividends

previously declared during that period or with the approval of the Department of Financial

Institutions to the greater of the retained earnings of the Bank the net income of the Bank for its last

fiscal year or the net income of the Bank for its current fiscal year As of December 31 2011 the

maximum amount available for dividend distribution under this restriction was approximately

$26674000
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Salary Continuation Agreements Directors Retirement and Officer SuDolemental Life Insurance

Plans

The Company has entered into salary continuation agreements with its executive officers and has

established retirement plans for qualifying members of the Board of Directors The plans provide for

annual benefits for up to fifteen years after retirement or death The benefit obligation under these

plans totaled $4538000 and $4218000 and was fully accrued for the years ended December 31
2011 and 2010 respectively The expense recognized under these arrangements totaled $403000

$510000 and $514000 for the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively

There were no Death Benefits paid to Directors beneficiaries each of the years ended December 31
2011 and 2010 respectively Benefits paid to former directors or executives of the Company or their

beneficiaries totaled $83000 $83000 and $72000 for each of the years ended December 31 2011
2010 and 2009 The Company also provides benefits to former executives of Sierra National Bank

under salary continuation plans that were in effect at the time Sierra National Bank was merged into

Bank of the Sierra The benefit obligation under these plans totaled $197000 $245000 and

$288000 and was fully accrued for the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009

respectively Benefits paid to former executives of SNB under this plan totaled $67000 for each of

the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively Certain officers of the Company
have supplemental life insurance policies with death benefits available to the officers beneficiaries

In connection with these plans the Company purchased or acquired through the merger single

premium life insurance policies with cash surrender values totaling $34937000 and $28903000 at

December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively On the consolidated balance sheet the cash surrender

values are included in other assets

Officer and Director Deferred Comoensation Plan

The Company has established deferred compensation plan for certain members of the

management group and deferred fee plan for directors for the purpose of providing the opportunity

for participants to defer compensation The Company bears the costs for the plans administration

and the interest earned on participant deferrals The related administrative expense was not material

for the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 In connection with this plan life insurance

policies with cash surrender values totaling $2720000 and $2688000 at December 31 2011 and

2010 respectively are included on the consolidated balance sheet in other assets

401k Savings Plan

The 401k savings plan the Plan allows participants to defer on pre-tax basis up to 15% of

their salary subject to Internal Revenue Service limitations and accumulate tax-deferredeamings as

retirement fund The Bank may make discretionary contribution to match specified percentage

of the first 6% of the participants contributions annually The amount of the matching contribution

was 50% in 2011 50% in 2010 and 50% in 2009 respectively The matching contribution is

discretionary vests over period of five years from the participants hire date and is subject to the

approval of the Board of Directors The Company contributed $304000 $286000 and $304000 to

the Plan in 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively
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The major grouping of non interest revenue on the consolidated income statements includes several

specific items service charges on deposit accounts gain on sale of loans credit card fees check

card fees loss gain on sales and calls of investment securities available for sale and increase in

cash surrender value of life insurance

Non-interest revenue also includes one general category of other income of which the following are

major components dollars in thousands

Year Ended December 31

Included in other income

Loss on limited partnerships

DiAdends on Equity lnrnstments

Rental income on leases

Other ___________ ___________ ___________

Total other non-interest reenUe
___________

16 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSE

Other expense consisted of the following dollars in thousands

Year Ended December 31

Data processing

Ad.ertising and promotion

Deposit senAces

Stationery and supplies

Telephone and data communication

Loan and credit card processing

Foreclosed assets expense

Postage

Other

Total other non-interest expense

2011 2010 2009

885 808 1443
26 52 61

173 570 712

1947 1588 1661

1261 1402 991

Professional fees

2011 2010

3941 5018

1523 1737

2051 1979

2516 2708
705 715

1291

1082

4880
576

2009

6122

1406

1872

2188
675

1107

960

1827

501

1568

18226

1156
765

6168
558

1267 1521

19832 22325
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During the normal course of business the Bank enters into loans with related parties including

executive officers and directors These loans are made with substantially the same terms including

rates and collateral as loans to unrelated parties The following is summary of the aggregate

activity involving related party borrowers dollars in thousands

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

Balance beginning of year 3465 3104 3477

Disbursements 773 2343 4151

Amounts repaid 1767 1982 4127
Decreased 397

Balance end of year 2471 3465 3104

Undisbursed commitments to related parties 472 1433 1147

Deposits from related parties held by the Bank at December 31 2011 and 2010 amounted to

$6665000 and $2567000 respectively
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Other comprehensive income consisted of the following dollars in thousands

Tax Expense/
Before Tax Benefit After Tax

For The Year Ended December 31 2011

Other comprehenshe income

Unrealized holding gains 5266 2145 3121

Less reclassification adjustment for net

realized gains included in net income 1660 683 977

Plus reclassification adjustment for other-

than-temporary impairment losses

non-credit portion 1370 564 806

Total other comprehensive income 4976 2026 2950

For The Year Ended December 31 2010

Other comprehensh income

Unrealized holding losses 501 235 266
Less reclassification adjustment for net

realized gains included in net income 2643 1088 1555

Total other comprehensie expense 3144 1323 1821

For The Year Ended December 31 2009

Other comprehensi.e income

Unrealized holding gains 4104 1726 2378
Less reclassification adjustment for net

realized gains included in net income 1099 461 638

Total other comprehensi.e income 3005 1265 1740

19 FAIR VALUE

Fair value is defined by U.S GAAP as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid

to transfer liability an exit price in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or

liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date U.S GAAP
also establishes fair value hierarchy which requires an entity to maximize the use of observable

inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value The standard

describes three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value

Level Quoted prices unadjusted for identical assets or liabilities in active markets

that the entity has the ability to access as of the measurement date

Level Significant observable inputs other than Level prices such as quoted

prices for similarassets or liabilities quoted prices in markets that are not active

and other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market

data

Level Significant unobservable inputs that reflect companys own assumptions

about the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or

liability

108



SIERRA BANCORP AND SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Continued

19 FAIR VALUE Continued

The Company used the following methods and significant assumptions to estimate fair values for

each category of financial- asst noted below

Securities The fair values of securities available for sale are determined by obtaining

quoted prices on nationally recognized securities exchanges or matrix pricing which is

mathematical technique used widely in the industry to value debt securities without

relying exclusively on quoted prices for the specific securities but rather by relying on the

securities relationship to other benchmark quoted securities

Loans held for sale Since loans designated by the Company as available-for-sale are

typically sold shortly after making the decision to sell them realized gains or losses are

usually recognized within the same period and fluctuations in fair values are thus not

relevant for reporting purposes If available for sale loans exist on our books as of

reporting date the fair value of those loans is determined using quoted secondary-

market prices

Impaired loans specific loss allowance is created for impaired loans representing the

difference between the face value of the loan and either its current appraised value less

estimated disposition costs or its net present value as determined by discounted cash

flow analysis

Foreclosed assets Repossessed real estate OREO and other assets are acquired at

fair value which is the appraised value less expected selling costs for OREO and some

other assets such as mobile homes and estimated sales proceeds as determined by

using reasonably available sources for all other assets Foreclosed assets for which

appraisals can be feasibly obtained are periodically measured for impairment using

updated appraisals Foreclosed assets are periodically re-evaluated by adjusting

expected cash flows and timing of resolution again using reasonably available sources

If impairment is determined to exist the book value of foreclosed asset is immediately

written down to its estimated impaired value through the income statement thus the

carrying amount is equal to the fair value and there is no valuation allowance
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Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on recurring basis including financial liabilities for

which the Company has elected the fair value option are summarized below dollars in thousands

December31 2011

Lee1 Leel Level Total

lnestment Securities

U.S Goemment agencies 2026 2026

Obligations of states and

political subdiAsions 71340 71340

U.S Goemment agencies

collateralized by mortgage

obligations 331758 331758

Other Securities 1347 1347

Total aeilable-for-sale securities 1347 405124 406471

Loans Held for Sale 1354 1354

Total 2701 405124 407825

December31 2010

LeI Leel Level Total

lnestment Securities

U.S Goemment agencies 5062 5062

Obligations of states and

political subdivisions 70102 70102

U.S Goemment agencies

collateralized by mortgage

obligations 255143 255143

Other Securities 1423 1423

Total available-for-sale securities 1423 330307 331730

Loans Held for Sale 914 914

Total 2337 330307 332644
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Assets and liabilities measured at fair market value on non-recurring basis are summarized below

dollars in thousands
December 31 2011

Impaired Loans

Foreclosed Assets

Impaired Loans

Foreclosed Assets

LeeI Le.el Leel Total

29942 24334 54276

13497 1867 15364

December 31 2010

LeeI Le.el Leel Total

29482 6705 36187

3123 17568 20691

Impaired loans which are measured for impairment using the fair value of the collateral for collateral

dependent loans or discounted cash flows for non collateral dependent loans had carrying amount

of $63030000 and $44216000 valuation allowance of $8954000 and $8029000 resulting in

additional provision for loan losses of $7207000 and $6304000 for the periods ending December

31 2011 and 2010 respectively

20 DISCLOSURES ABOUT FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Disclosures include estimated fair values for financial instruments for which it is practicable to

estimate fair value These estimates are made at specific point in time based on relevant market

data and information about the financial instruments These estimates do not reflect any premium or

discount that could result from offering the Companys entire holdings of particular financial

instrument for sale at one time nor do they attempt to estimate the value of anticipated future

business related to the instruments In addition the tax ramifications related to the realization of

unrealized gains and losses can have significant effect on fair value estimates and have not been

considered in any of these estimates

Because no market exists for significant portion of the Companys financial instruments fair value

estimates are based on judgments regarding current economic conditions risk characteristics of

various financial instruments and other factors These estimates are subjective in nature and involve

uncertainties and matters of significant judgment and therefore cannot be determined with precision

Changes in assumptions could significantly affect the fair values presented

The following methods and assumptions were used by the Company to estimate the fair value of its

financial instruments at December 31 2011 and 2010

Cash and cash equivalents and short-term borrowings For cash and cash equivalents and short-

term borrowings the carrying amount is estimated to be fair value

Investment securities For investment securities fair values are based on quoted market prices

where available If quoted market prices are not available fair values are estimated using quoted

market prices for similarsecurities and indications of value provided by brokers

Loans and leases For variable-rate loans and leases that re-price frequently with no significant

change in credit risk or interest rate spread fair values are based on carrying values Fair values for

other loans and leases are estimated using discounted cash flow analyses using interest rates being

offered at each reporting date for loans and leases with similar terms to borrowers of comparable

creditworthiness Fair values of loans held for sale are estimated using quoted market prices for

similar loans or the amount the purchasers have committed to purchase the loan The carrying

amount of accrued interest receivable approximates its fair value
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Cash surrender value of life insurance policies The fair values are based on current cash surrender

values at each reporting date provided by the insurers

Investment in limited partnerships The fair values of the investments in WNC Institutional Tax Credit

Fund Limited Partnerships are estimated using quarterly indications of value provided by the general

partner

Other investments Included in other assets are certain long-term investments carried at cost which

approximates estimated fair value

Deposits The fair values for demand deposits and other non-maturity deposits are by definition

equal to the amount payable on demand at the reporting date represented by their carrying amount
Fair values for fixed-rate certificates of deposit are estimated using discounted cash flow analysis

using interest rates being offered at each reporting date by the Bank for certificates with similar

remaining maturities The carrying amount of accrued interest payable approximates its fair value

Short-term borrowings The carrying amounts of federal funds purchased overnight FHLB advances

borrowings under repurchase agreements and other short-term borrowings maturing within ninety

days approximate their fair values Fair values of other short-term borrowings are estimated using

discounted cash flow analyses based on the Companys current incremental borrowing rates for

similar types of borrowing arrangements

Long-term borrowings The fair values of the Companys long-term borrowings are estimated using

discounted cash flow analyses based on the Companys current incremental borrowing rates for

similar types of borrowing arrangements

Subordinated debentures The fair value of subordinated debentures was determined based on the

current market value for like kind instruments of similar maturity and structure

Limited partnership capital commitments The fair value of the capital commitments to the WNC
Institutional Tax Credit Fund Limited Partnerships are estimated using discounted cash flow

analysis using rates of return currently available for similar instruments

Commitments to extend credit and letters of credit Commitments to extend credit are primarily for

adjustable rate loans For these commitments there are no differences between the committed

amounts and their fair values Commitments to fund fixed rate loans and lettersof credit are at rates

which approximate fair value at each reporting date
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Continued

20 DISCLOSURES ABOUT FAIR VALUEOF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS Continued

Carrying amount and estimated fair values of fitnciaI instruments were as follows dollars in

thousands

As of December 31 2011 As of December 31 2010

Financial Assets Carrying Value Fair Value Carrying Value Fair Value

Cah and cash equivalents 63036 63036 42645 42645

lnvastment securities

available for sale 406471 406471 331730 331730

Loans and leases net 742283 783847 784515 816185

Cash surrender value of life

insurance policies 37657 37657 31591 31591

Other ln\.estments 7040 7040 8361 8361

lnvastment in Limited Partnership 9927 9927 10899 10899

Accrued Int Receivable 5368 5368 5673 5673

Financial Liabilities

Deposits 1086268 1002315 1052274 1052085

Repurchase Agreements 3037 3037

Short-term borrowings 17120 17120 14650 14650

Long-term borrowings 15000 15287 15000 15736

Subordinated debentures 30928 12262 30928 11610

Limited partnership capital

commitment 353 353 417 417

Accrued Interest Payable 514 514 678 678

Off-balance Sheet Notional Amount Notional Amount

Commitments to extend credit 154323 142309

Standby letters of credit 11113 7761

Commercial lines of credit 8991 9435
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SIERRA BANCORP AND SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Continued

21 PARENT ONLY CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BALANCE SHEETS

December 31 2011 and 2010

Dollars in thousands

ASSETS

Cash and due from banks

lnestments in bank subsidiary

lnestment in Trust subsidiaries

lnestment in other securities

Other assets

Total Assets

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY

Liabilities

Other liabilities

Subordinated debentures
________________

Total liabilities
__________________

Shareholders equity

Common stock

Retained Earnings

Accumulated other comprehensive

income net of taxes

Total shareholders equity ________________

Total liabilities and shareholders equity

2011

5395

191135

928

1330

847

2010

8238

178772

928

1408

1250

190596

70

30928

30998

63480

95220

898

159598

190596

199635

143

30928

31071

66542

98174

3848

168564

199635
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SIERRA BANCORP AND SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Continued

21 PARENT ONLY CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

STATEMENTS OF INCOME

For the Years Ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009

Dollars in thousands

2011 2010 2009

Income

Dividends declared by bank subsidiary

eliminated in consolidation 968

Other-than-temporary impairment

losses on equity securities 1370
Other operating income 21 61

Total Income 1349 1029

Expense

Interest on subordinated debentrues 915

Other expenses 1594 1496 775

Total expenses 1594 1496 1690

Loss before income taxes 2943 1496 661

Income tax benefit 1212 615 670

Loss/lncome before equity in undistnbuted

income of subsidiary 1731 881

Equity in undistnbuted income

of subsidiary 9511 8244 8919

Net income 7780 7363 8928
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SIERRA BANCORP AND SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Continued

21 PARENT ONLY CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Years Ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009

Dollars in thousands

2011 2010 2009

Cash flows from operating activities

Net Income 7780 7363 8928

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net

cash provided by operating activities

Undistnbuted net income of subsidiary 9511 8244 8919

Other-than-temporary impairment loss 1370

Increase in other assets 140 585 228

Increase/decrease in other liabilities 73 108 184

Tax benefit from equity based compensation 109 19 11

Net cash used in operating activities 319 1555 24

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for investments in and advances to

Subsidiaries 14000 20434

Net cash provided by/used in investing activities 14000 20434

Cash flows from financing activities

ExpenseIProceeds from the issuance of common stock 23 21864 20375

Stock options exercised 867 242 94

Dividends paid 3368 2935 4067

Net cash used inIprovided by financing activities 2524 19171 16402

Net decreaseIincrease in cash and cash equivalents 2843 3616 4056

Cash and cash equivalents beginning of year 8238 4622 8678

Cash and cash equivalents end of year 5395 8238 4622
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Continued

Interest income

Interest expense

Net interest income

ProAsion for loan and

lease losses

Non-interest income

Non-interest expense

Net income before

taxes

Provision for taxes

Net income

Diluted earnings per

share

Cash dimdend per

share

Interest income

Interest expense

Net interest income

ProAsion for loan and

lease losses

Non-interest income

Non-interest expense

Net income before

taxes

ProAsioh for taxes

Net income

Diluted earnings per

share

Cash dividend per

share

22 CONDENSED QUARTERLY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS UNAUDITED

The following table sets forth the Companys results of operations for the four quarters of 2011 and

2010 and is unaudited In managements opinion the results of operations reflect all adjustments

which include only recurring adjustments necessary to present fairly the condensed results for such

periods

2011 Quarter Ended

December 31 September 30 June 30 March 31

14304 14939 14949 14422

1367 1392 1452 1446

12937 13547 13497 12976

2400 3000 3000 3600

4228 3369 3473 3576

13434 10568 11555 11702

1331 3348 2415 1250

210 822 231 279

1541 2526 2184 1529

.10 .18 .16 .11

.06 .06 .06 .06

2010 Quarter Ended

December 31 September 30 June 30 March 31

15360 15908 16216 16347

1668 1886 2048 2047

13692 14022 14168 14300

3400 6380 3500 3400

2958 7053 3989 3861

11918 14595 11548 12173

1332 100 3109 2588

261 787 565 249

1593 887 2544 2339

.10 .08 .22 .20

.06 .06 .06 .06
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ITEM CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCO1JNTANTSON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Not applicable

ITEM 9A CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Companys Chief Executive Officer -and its Chief Financial Officer after evaluating the effectiveness of the

Companys disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a 5e as of the end of the

period covered by this report the Evaluation Date have concluded that as of the Evaluation Date the Companys
disclosure controls and procedures were adequate and effective to ensure that material information relating to the

Company and its consolidated subsidiaries would be made known to them by others within those entities particularly

during the period in which this annual report was being prepared

Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the

reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded processed summarized and reported within the

time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commissions rules and forms Disclosure cotro1s and proce
dures include without limitation controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be dis

closed by us in the reports that we file under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our

management including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer as appropriate to allow timely deci

sions regarding required disclosure

Managements Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management of the Company is responsible for the preparation integrity and reliability of the consolidated financial

statements and related financial information contained in this annual report The consolidated financial statements of

the Company have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of

America and as such include some amounts that are based on judgments and estimates ofmanagement

Management has established and is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting

The Companys internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that

pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions

and dispositions of the assets of the Company

ii provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial

statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts an4 expenditures

of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the

Company and

iii provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or

disposition of the Companys assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

There are inherent limitations in the effectiveness of any internal control including the possibility of human error and

the circumvention or overriding of controls Accordingly even effective internal control can provide only reasonable

assurance with respect to financial statement preparation Further because of changes in conditions the effective

ness of internal control may vary over time The system contains monitoring mechanisms and actions are taken to

correct deficiencies identified

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Companys internal control over financial reporting as of December

31 2011 This assessment was based on criteria for effective internal control over financial reporting described in

Internal Control Integrated Framework published by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations äf the Treadway
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Commission Based on this assessment management believes that the Company maintained effective internal control

over financial reporting as of December 31 2011

Management is responsible for compliance with the federal and state laws and regulations concerning dividend

restrictions and federal laws and regulations concerning loans to insiders designated by the FDIC as safety and

soundness laws and regulations Management assessed compliance by the Companys insured financial institution

Bank of the Sierra with the designated laws and regulations relating to safety and soundness Based on this

assessment management believes that Bank of the Sierra complied in all significant respects with the designated

laws and regulations related to safety and soundness for the year ended December 31 2011

Our assessment of the effectiveness of the Companys internal control over financial reporting as of December 31

2011 has been audited by Vavrinek Trine Day Co LLP an independent registered public accounting firm as

stated in their report appearing below

Changes in Internal Controls

There were no significant changes in the Companys internal controls over financial reporting or in other factors in

the fourth quarter of 2011 that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect the Companys

internal controls over financial reporting
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Report of Independent Registered Pnblic Accounting Firm

Board of Directors and Stockholders

Sierra Bancorp and Subsidiary

Porterville California

We have audited Sierra Bancorp and Subsidiarys the Companys internal control over financial reporting as of

December 31 201 based on criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Commit

tee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway CommissionCOSO The Companys management is responsible

for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of inter

nal control over financial reporting Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Com
panys internal control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about

whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects Our audit of inter

nal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over fmancial reporting

assessing the risk that material weakness exists and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of

internal control based on the assessed risk Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we consi

dered necessary in the circumstances We believe that our audit provides reasonable basis for our opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assurance regard

ing the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in confor

mity with U.S generally accepted accounting principles Because managements assessment and our audit were con

ducted to also meet the reporting requirements of Section 112 of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation

Improvement Act FDICIA managements assessment and our audit of the Companys internal control over finan

cial reporting included controls over the preparation of financial statements in accordance with instructions to the

Consolidated Financial Statements for Bank Holding Companies Form FR Y-9C companys internal control

over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that in

reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company pro
vide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in

accordance with U.S generally accepted accounting principles and the receipts and expenditures of the company are

being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company and provide

reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the

companys assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements

Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become

inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate

In our opinion the Company maintained in all material respects effective internal control over financial reporting as

of December 31 2011 based on criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Com
mittee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway CommissionCOSO

We have also audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board the

consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31 2011 and 2010 and the related consolidated state

ments of operations shareholders equity and comprehensive income and cash flows for each of the years in the three

year period ended December 31 2011 and our report dated March 12 2012 expressed an unqualified opinion on

those financial statements

Is Vavrinek Trine Day Co LLP

Rancho Cucamonga California

March 12 2012
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ITEM 9B OTHER INFORMATION

None

PART III

ITEM 10 DIRECTORS EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required to be furnished pursuant to this item with respect to Directors and Executive Officers of the

Company will be set forth under the caption Election of Directors in the Companys proxy statement for the 2012

Annual Meeting of Shareholders the Proxy Statement which the Company will file with the SEC within 120 days

after the close of the Companys 2011 fiscal year in accordance with SEC Regulation 14A under the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 Such information is hereby incorporated by reference

The information required to be furnished pursuant to this item with respect to compliance with Section 16a of the

Exchange Act will be set forth under the caption Section 16a Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance in the

Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference

The information required to be furnished pursuant to this item with respect to the Companys Code of Ethics and

corporate governance matters will be set forth under the caption Corporate Governance in the Proxy Statement and

is incorporated herein by refereOce

ITEM 11 EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required to be furnished pursuant to this item will be set forth under the captions Executive Officer

and Director Compensation and Compensation Discussion and Analysis in the Proxy Statement and is incorpo

rated herein by reference

ITEM 12 SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND

RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

The information required by Item 12 with respect to securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation

plans is set forth under Item Market for Registrants Common Equity and Issuer Repurchases of Equity Securi

ties above

Other Information Concerning Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

The remainder of the information required by Item 12 will be set forth under the captions Security Ownership of

Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Election of Directors in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated

herein by reference

ITEM 13 CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR

INDEPENDENCE

The informatioP required to be furnished pursuant to this item will be set forth under the captions Related Party

Transactions and Corporate Governance Director Independence in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated

herein by reference

ITEM 14 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required to be furnished pursuant to this item will be set forth under the caption Ratification of Ap

pointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Fees in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated

herein by reference
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PART IV

ITEM 15 EXHIBITS FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K

Exhibits

Exhibit Description

3.1 Restated Articles of Incorporation of Sierra Bancorp

3.2 Amended and Restated By-laws of Sierra Bancorp

10.1 1998 Stock Option Plan

10.2 Salary Continuation Agreement for Kenneth Taylor

10.3 Salary Continuation Agreement for James Holly

10.4 Salary Continuation Agreement and Split Dollar Agreement for James Gardunio

10.5 Split Dollar Agreement for Kenneth Taylor

10.6 Split Dollar Agreement and Amendment thereto for James Holly

10.7 Director Retirement Agreement and Split dollar Agreement for Vincent Jurkovich

10.8 Director Retirement Agreement and Split dollar Agreement for Robert Fields

10.9 Director Retirement Agreement and Split dollar Agreement for Gordon Woods

0.10 Director Retirement Agreement and Split dollar Agreement for Morris Tharp

0.1 Director Retirement Agreement and Split dollar Agreement for Albert Berra

0.12 401 Plus Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation Plan

10.13 Indenture dated as of March 17 2004 between U.S Bank N.A as Trustee and Sierra Bancorp as Jssuer

0.14 Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust of Sierra Statutory Trust II dated as of March 17 2004

0.15 Guarantee Agreement between Sierra Bancorp and U.S Bank National Association dated as of March 17 2004

0.16 Indenture dated as of June 15 2006 between Wilmington Trust Co as Trustee and Sierra Bancorp as Issuer

0.17 Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust of Sierra Capital Trust III dated as of June l5 2006

10.18 Guarantee Agreement between Sierra Bancorp and Wilmington Trust Company dated as of June 15 2006

10.19 2007 Stock Incentive Plan

10.20 Sample Retirement Agreement Entered into with Each Non-Employee Director Effective January 2007 10
10.21 Salary Continuation Agreement for Kevin McPhaill 10
10.22 First Amendment to the Salary Continuation Agreement for Kenneth Taylor 10

Statement of Computation of Per Share Earnings 11
21 Subsidiaries of Sierra Bancorp 12
23 Consent of Vavrinek Trine Day Co LLP

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Section 302 Certification

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Section 302 Certification

32 Certification of Periodic Financial Report Section 906 Certification

Filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Form l0-Q filed with the SEC on August 2009 and incorporated herein by reference

Filed as an Exhibit to the Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 21 2007 and incorporated herein by reference

Filed as an Exhibit to the Registration Statement of Sierra Bancorp on Form S-4 filed with the Securities and Exchange CommissionSEC
Registration No 333-53 178 on January 2001 and incorporated herein by reference

Filed as Exhibits 10.5 and 10.7 to the Form 0-Q filed with the SEC on May 15 2003 and incorporated herein by reference

Filed as an Exhibit to the Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 112005 and incorporated herein by reference

Filed as Exhibits 10.10 10.12 and 10.15 through 10.20 to the Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 15 2006 andincorporated herein by
reference

Filed as Exhibits 10.9 through 10.11 to the Form l0-Q filed with the SEC on May 14 2004 and incorporated herein by reference

Filed as Exhibits 10.26 through 10.28 to the Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on August 92006 and incorporated herein by reference

Filed as Exhibit 10.20 to the Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 15 2007 and incorporated herein by reference

Filed as an Exhibit to the Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 2007 and incorporated herein by reference

Computation of earnings per share is incorporated by reference to Note of the Financial Statements included herein

Filed as Exhibit 21 to the Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 15 2007 and incorporated herein by reference

10

11

12
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Financial Statement Schedules

Schedules to the financial statements are omitted because the required information is not applicable or because the

required information is presented in the Companys Consolidated Financial Statements or related notes
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 the

Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

Dated March 12 2012 SIERRA BANCORP
California corporation

By Is/James Holly

James Holly

President

Chief Executive Officer

Principal Executive Officer

By /s/ Kenneth Taylor

Kenneth Taylor

Executive Vice President

Chief Financial Officer

Principal Financial and Principal Accounting Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below by

the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated

Signature Title Date

/s/Albert Berra Director March 12 2012

Albert Berra

/s/ Robert Fields Director March 12 2012

Robert Fields

/s/James Holly President Chief Executive March 12 2012

James Holly Officer Director

Principal Executive Officer

Is Vincent Jurkovich Director March 12 2012

Vincent Jurkovich

/s/ Lynda Scearcy Director March 12 2012

Lynda Scearcy

/s/ Morris Than Chainnan of the Board March 122012
Morris Tharp

/5/ Gordon Woods Director March 12 2012

Gordon Woods

/s/ Kenneth Taylor Executive Vice President March 12 2012

Kenneth Taylor Chief Financial Officer

Principal Financial and

Principal Accounting Officer
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